

Prepared in cooperation with the State of Hawai'i Commission on Water Resource Management, State of Hawai'i Department of Hawaiian Home Lands, and Office of Hawaiian Affairs

Low-Flow Characteristics for Streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i, State of Hawai'i

Scientific Investigations Report 2016–5103

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey



000001

COVER PHOTOS (top to bottom)

Kaua'i—View of the mountains above river valleys of Hanalei and Wai'oli, Island of Kaua'i, Hawai'i. Photograph by Chui Ling Cheng, U.S. Geological Survey, 2012.

O'ahu—View of Maunalua Bay on the southeastern coast of O'ahu from a forested ridge on Hawai'iloa Valley, Island of O'ahu, Hawai'i. Photograph by Chui Ling Cheng, U.S. Geological Survey, 2014.

Moloka'i—Kalohi Channel between Moloka'i and Lāna'i from Kamakou Preserve access road near a Kawela Valley ridge, Island of Moloka'i, Hawai'i. Photograph by Sarah N. Rosa, U.S. Geological Survey, 2010.

Maui—View at the summit of Haleakalā, Island of Maui, Hawai'i. Photograph by Chui Ling Cheng, U.S. Geological Survey, 2013. Hawai'i—View of Mauna Kea from Waimea, Island of Hawai'i, Hawai'i. Photograph by Vaughn E. Kunishige, U.S. Geological Survey, 2011.

Low-Flow Characteristics for Streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i, State of Hawai'i

By Chui Ling Cheng

Prepared in cooperation with the State of Hawai'i Commission on Water Resource Management, State of Hawai'i Department of Hawaiian Home Lands, and Office of Hawaiian Affairs

Scientific Investigations Report 2016–5103

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

U.S. Department of the Interior

SALLY JEWELL, Secretary

U.S. Geological Survey

Suzette M. Kimball, Director

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2016

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment—visit http://www.usgs.gov/ or call 1–888–ASK–USGS (1–888–275–8747).

For an overview of USGS information products, including maps, imagery, and publications, visit http://store.usgs.gov.

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this information product, for the most part, is in the public domain, it also may contain copyrighted materials as noted in the text. Permission to reproduce copyrighted items must be secured from the copyright owner.

Suggested citation:

Cheng, C.L., 2016, Low-flow characteristics for streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i, State of Hawai'i: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2016-5103, 36 p., http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/ sir20165103.

ISSN 2328-0328 (online)

Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	1
Low-Flow Characteristics	2
Previous Low-Flow Investigations	3
Purpose and Scope	3
StreamStats	4
Description of the Study Area	4
Climate	4
Rainfall	4
Streams	5
Hydrogeology	5
Surface-Water Use	6
Data	7
Trends in Streamflow Characteristics	7
Types of Streamflow-Measurement Sites	7
Natural (Unregulated) Streamflow Data	7
Seepage Analyses	8
Methods	8
Flow-Duration Characteristics	8
Record-Augmentation Techniques	8
MOVE.1 Technique	11
Graphical-Correlation Technique	12
Index Stations and Selection of Base Period	12
Analysis of Low Flows at Different Types of Measurement Sites	13
Long-Term Continuous-Record Stations	13
Short-Term Continuous-Record Stations	13
Partial-Record Stations	14
Sites on Ephemeral Stream Reaches	15
Evaluation of Statistical and Graphical Models	15
Statistical Models	15
Graphical Models	15
Results and Discussion	15
Natural Low-Flow Characteristics	15
Kaua'i	16
Oʻahu	16
Moloka'i	16
Maui	17
Hawaiʻi	20
Limitations of Approach	20
Limited Index Stations	20
Strength of Correlations	23
Accuracy of Streamflow Record	23

Contents—Continued

Representation of Long-Term Flow Conditions	30
Additional Data Collection	30
Summary	30
References Cited	34
Appendix available online at http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20165103	
1 Station Numbers Names Station Type Period of Record and Record Length of Measu	irement

- Station Numbers, Names, Station Type, Period of Record, and Record Length of Measurement Sites Used in this Study, State of Hawai'i
- 2. Summary of Record-Augmentation Technique, Regression Equations, and Associated Select Regression Statistics for Natural Low-Flow Duration Estimates at Continuous-Record Streamflow-Gaging Stations and Partial-Record Stations on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i for Base Period 1984–2013

Figures

1.	Map showing general topography of the main Hawaiian Islands
2.	Map showing mean annual rainfall in the State of Hawai'i6
3.	Map showing U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) continuous-record and partial-record stations with streamflow data between water years 1944 and 2013, Island of Kaua'i
4.	Map showing U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) continuous-record and partial-record stations with streamflow data between water years 1944 and 2013, Island of Oʻahu21
5.	Map showing U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) continuous-record and partial-record stations with streamflow data between water years 1944 and 2013, Island of Moloka'i
6.	Map showing U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) continuous-record and partial-record stations with streamflow data between water years 1944 and 2013, Island of Maui27
7.	Map showing U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) continuous-record and partial-record stations with streamflow data between water years 1944 and 2013, Island of Hawai'i
Та	bles
1.	Summary of seepage analyses conducted for streams on the Islands of Kauaʻi, Oʻahu, Molokaʻi, Maui, and Hawaiʻi
2.	Performance rating for the Nash-Sutcliff coefficient of efficiency (NSE) modified from Moriasi and others (2007)
3.	Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging sta- tions and partial-record stations on the Island of Kaua'i for base period 1984–201317
4.	Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging sta- tions and partial-record stations on the Island of Oʻahu for base period 1984–201319
5.	Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations and partial-record stations on the Island of Moloka'i for base period 1984– 2013
6.	Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging sta- tions and partial-record stations on the Island of Maui for base period 1984–201325
7.	Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging sta- tions and partial-record stations on the Island of Hawai'i for base period 1984–201328
8.	Selected flow-duration discharges for selected periods at index stations, State of Hawai'i

iv

Acknowledgments

This study was conducted in cooperation with the State of Hawai'i Commission on Water Resource Management (CWRM), State of Hawai'i Department of Hawaiian Home Lands (DHHL), and Office of Hawaiian Affairs (OHA). The study was completed with the help of several U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) personnel. Julie E. Kiang provided valuable technical support throughout the study. Sarah N. Rosa and Heather A. Jeppesen compiled over 6,000 historical streamflow measurements and entered the measurements into the National Water Information System (NWIS) database.

Datum

Vertical coordinate information is referenced relative to local mean sea level. Horizontal coordinate information is referenced to the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83). Altitude, as used in this report, refers to distance above the vertical datum.

Conversion Factors

Inch/Pound to International System of Units

5							
Multiply	Ву	To obtain					
Length							
inch (in.)	25.4	millimeter (mm)					
foot (ft)	0.3048	meter (m)					
mile (mi)	1.609	kilometer (km)					
	Area						
acre	4,047	square meter (m ²)					
acre	0.004047	square kilometer (km ²)					
square mile (mi ²)	2.590	square kilometer (km ²)					
	Flow rate						
cubic foot per second (ft ³ /s)	0.64636	million gallons per day (Mgal/d)					
gallon per day (gal/d)	0.003785	cubic meter per day (m ³ /d)					
million gallons per day (Mgal/d)	0.04381	cubic meter per second (m ³ /s)					
inch per year (in/yr)	25.4	millimeter per year (mm/yr)					

Abbreviations

CWRM	State of Hawai'i Commission on Water Resource Management
DHHL	State of Hawaiʻi Department of Hawaiian Home Lands
GIS	geographic information system
OHA	Office of Hawaiian Affairs
MOVE.1	Maintenance of Variance Extension Type 1
NSE	Nash-Sutcliff coefficient of efficiency
NWIS	National Water Information System
SREF	Streamflow Record Extension Facilitator
TMDL	total maximum daily load
USGS	U.S. Geological Survey

Low-Flow Characteristics for Streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i, State of Hawai'i

By Chui Ling Cheng

Abstract

Statistical models were developed to estimate natural streamflow under low-flow conditions for streams with existing streamflow data at measurement sites on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i. Streamflow statistics used to describe the low-flow characteristics are flow-duration discharges that are equaled or exceeded between 50 and 95 percent of the time during the 30-year base period 1984–2013. Record-augmentation techniques were applied to develop statistical models relating concurrent streamflow data at the measurement sites and long-term data from nearby continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations that were in operation during the base period and were selected as index stations. Existing data and subsequent low-flow analyses of the available data help to identify streams in under-represented geographic areas and hydrogeologic settings where additional data collection is suggested.

Low-flow duration discharges were estimated for 107 measurement sites (including long-term and short-term continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations, and partial-record stations) and 27 index stations. The adequacy of statistical models was evaluated with correlation coefficients and modified Nash-Sutcliff coefficients of efficiency, and a majority of the low-flow duration-discharge estimates are satisfactory based on these regression statistics.

Moloka'i and Hawai'i have the fewest number of measurement sites (that are not located on ephemeral stream reaches) at which flow-duration discharges were estimated, which can be partially explained by the limited number of index stations available on these islands that could be used for record augmentation. At measurement sites on some tributary streams, low-flow duration discharges could not be estimated because no adequate correlations could be developed with the index stations. These measurement sites are located on streams where duration-discharge estimates are available at longterm stations at other locations on the main stream channel to provide at least some definition of low-flow characteristics on that stream. In terms of general natural streamflow data availability, data are scarce in the leeward areas for all five islands as many leeward streams are dry or have minimal flow. Other under-represented areas include central O'ahu, central Maui, and southeastern Maui

Introduction

Surface water in the State of Hawai'i (fig. 1) is valued for its economic, ecologic, cultural, and aesthetic importance. Flow in many streams in Hawai'i is currently diverted for agricultural, industrial, or municipal uses. An assessment of Hawaiian streams identified 376 perennial streams, of which 125 were diverted to some extent (Hawaii Cooperative Park Service Unit, 1990). Although streams supply only a small percentage of the drinking water statewide, surface water from streams is the main source of drinking water in some areas. Streams also provide riparian and instream habitats for many unique native species, and they support traditional and customary Hawaiian gathering rights and taro cultivation. Streams provide aesthetic enjoyment in the form of flowing water, waterfalls, and plunge pools, and they affect the physical and chemical quality of receiving waters such as estuaries, bays, and nearshore waters, which are critical to the tourism-based economy of the islands.

Allocation of the limited water resources for offstream and instream uses is a major challenge in the State of Hawai'i. The diversion of surface water for offstream uses reduces flow in the downstream reaches, which can adversely affect traditional Hawaiian practices, stream ecology, water quality, recreational activities, and aesthetics. The Commission on Water Resource Management (CWRM) established a statewide instream-use protection program (Chapter 174C-71, Hawaii Revised Statutes) for protecting these instream uses through the use of instream-flow standards. "Each instream flow standard shall describe the flows necessary to protect the public interest in the particular stream. Flows shall be expressed in terms of variable flows of water necessary to protect adequately fishery, wildlife, recreational, aesthetic, scenic, or other beneficial instream uses in the stream in light of existing and potential water developments including the economic impact of restriction of such use" (Chapter 174C-71, Hawaii Revised Statutes). Quantitative instream-flow standards have not yet been established for most streams in the State of Hawaiʻi.

Balancing between offstream and instream uses requires information on the current and future water demands, as well as the availability of water. Conflicts have led to costly litigation over rights to the water between those currently diverting

2 Low-Flow Characteristics for Streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i, State of Hawa'i

the water and those desiring sufficient flow in the stream for instream uses. On O'ahu, a contested-case hearing was initiated in 1995 to address competing uses of surface water and groundwater in the Waiāhole area of windward O'ahu (Miike, 2004). The Waiāhole Ditch diverted large amounts of dikeimpounded groundwater at high altitudes that previously fed Waiāhole (and its tributaries Waianu and Uwao), Waikāne, and Kahana Streams through seeps and springs, resulting in diminished base flows in these streams. In 2005, the Punalu'u Watershed Alliance was formed to address community issues and coordinate efforts to establish an instream-flow standard for Punalu'u Stream (State of Hawai'i, 2007). On Maui, the Native Hawaiian Legal Corporation filed a petition to CWRM in 2001 for flow to be restored to 27 streams in northeast Maui that were diverted mainly by the East Maui Irrigation Company for irrigating sugarcane cultivated in central Maui (State of Hawai'i, 2001). In 2004, Earthjustice filed a petition to amend instream-flow standards for the Nā Wai 'Ehā streams (Waihe'e and Wailuku1 Rivers, and Waiehu and Waikapū Streams) in the eastern part of west Maui (State of Hawai'i, 2004). For these cases, streamflow data under natural flow conditions for the streams involved were limited or unavailable at the time of the disputes. Consequently, the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), in cooperation with various agencies, provided the information necessary for planning and management of the water resource (see Gingerich, 2005; Oki and others, 2006; Yeung and Fontaine, 2007; Oki and others, 2010b).

Low-Flow Characteristics

During low-flow conditions, the amount of surface water available may become insufficient to meet all the competing demands. Inadequate streamflow poses a threat to the survival of native stream animals by reducing available instream habitats and, in some streams, by eliminating continuous flow to the ocean. Water quality also may become a concern during low-flow conditions, and streamflow information is needed to determine the total maximum daily load (TMDL) that will help characterize impaired waters statewide. Documentation of low-flow conditions is important for identifying critical areas that affect both mankind and aquatic species and for developing plans to mitigate further negative effects to the resource.

Streamflow measurements under low-flow conditions can also be used to identify areas of groundwater discharge and to assess the potential effect of groundwater withdrawal. Although the State of Hawai'i is mostly dependent on groundwater for municipal water supply, increasing groundwater withdrawals, which may result from increased urbanization, can affect streamflow in some places. The effect of groundwater withdrawal on streamflow depends on factors including the rate of withdrawal and the proximity of the pumped wells to the streams. To reduce the amount of potable groundwater used to meet nonpotable needs, alternative surface-water sources might be considered.

In the State of Hawai'i, management of the surface-water resources for many streams is problematic because of the lack of information on natural flow during low-flow conditions. As the population of the State of Hawai'i increases and development expands to new areas, effective management of water resources is critical to meet future needs. Surface-water resources in an area must be quantified as part of evaluating existing and potential uses. Ideally, accurate long-term streamflow data are used to provide information on the availability of streamflow. The USGS has operated hundreds of continuousrecord streamflow-gaging stations in the State of Hawai'i since the early 1900s, although information on natural (unregulated) flows for many streams is unavailable because many of the gaging stations were located downstream of surface-water diversions or were operated for only short periods (Fontaine, 1995). Reliable estimates of natural low-flow characteristics for ungaged streams represent basic information necessary for quantifying streamflow availability in the State of Hawai'i. Because the cost of maintaining continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations at all sites of interest on all streams is prohibitive, methods for estimating low-flow characteristics of ungaged streams are needed to fill an important information need. Methods for estimating peak flows in the State of Hawai'i currently exist (Oki and others, 2010a), although methods for estimating low-flow characteristics throughout the State of Hawai'i are limited.

At sites where streamflow data are unavailable, regionalscale regression analysis can provide estimates of low-flow duration discharges based on data collected from gaged streams in similar hydrologic settings (for example, drainage area, slope, soil types, and rainfall). Fontaine and others (1992) developed multiple-regression equations to estimate the median discharge (the discharge that is equaled or exceeded 50 percent of the time during a specified period, or Q_{50} discharge) for undiverted perennial streams in the State of Hawai'i. Gingerich (2005) developed regression equations to estimate the Q₅₀ and Q₉₅ discharges for total flow and base flow for undiverted sites in northeast Maui. (The Q₉₅ discharge is the discharge that is equaled or exceeded 95 percent of the time during a specified period.) Existing regression equations are useful for estimating limited flow-duration discharges for particular geographic areas. However, a method is needed to estimate low-flow duration discharges, from Q_{50} to Q_{95} discharges, for natural-flow conditions throughout the State of Hawai'i. These estimates will be useful for characterizing flow availability for streams where streamflow-gaging station data do not currently exist.

Not all streamflow data that USGS has gathered are easily accessible, particularly historic streamflow measurements made at locations that are not continuously gaged. As part of this study, data from continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations, partial-record stations, and miscellaneous dischargemeasurement sites (such as seepage-run sites) are compiled

¹The U.S. Board on Geographic Names approved the name change from ¹Iao Stream to Wailuku River on November 12, 2015.

from USGS files and published USGS reports and entered into the National Water Information System (NWIS) database, where the data are stored and easily accessible to anyone over the Internet. Partial-record stations offer a cost-effective way of expanding the geographic coverage of low-flow information (Curran and others, 2012) because they commonly are used to estimate low-flow characteristics at sites without a long-term continuous-record streamflow-gaging station. Partial-record stations are also useful because they provide additional data that can be used to develop regression models for estimating low-flow characteristics at ungaged sites, although the errors associated with the flow estimates are greater than those associated with continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations. Low-flow duration discharges are estimated using record-augmentation methods that relate discharge measurements at the partial-record stations and concurrent daily mean discharges at nearby continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations. Miscellaneous measurements, such as seepage-run discharge measurements, may also be available for other areas. Seepage runs are typically conducted to identify gaining and losing reaches of a stream.

Existing data and subsequent low-flow analyses of the available streamflow measurements establish the basis for identifying streams in under-represented geographic areas and hydrogeologic settings that can be considered for additional data collection. Existing measurement sites with limited numbers of discharge measurements are often ideal locations for collecting more data.

Previous Low-Flow Investigations

Previous low-flow investigations of Hawaiian streams have been largely conducted on a basin scale, with a focus on computing a selected range of low-flow duration statistics and examining the effects of surface-water diversions on low flows and habitat availability for native stream fauna. The application of record-augmentation methods for estimating low-flow characteristics at sites with either short-term record or partialrecord streamflow data is well documented. A majority of the previous low-flow studies have been conducted on Maui. Fontaine (2003) quantified base-flow availability and the effects of streamflow diversions and return flows on base-flow availability in Honokohau Stream, Maui. Gingerich (2005) assessed the effects of streamflow diversions on flow characteristics for perennial streams in northeast Maui. A subsequent study by Gingerich and Wolff (2005) examined the effects of streamflow diversions on instream temperatures and habitat availability for native stream fauna in the same study area, northeast Maui. Oki and others (2010b) assessed the effects of streamflow diversions on low flows, groundwater recharge, habitat for native stream fauna, and instream temperatures for streams in the eastern part of west Maui. Cheng (2014) characterized low-flow availability for the main streams in the western part of west Maui. A few of the previous low-flow studies have been conducted on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, and Hawai'i. Cheng and Wolff (2012) characterized availability

and distribution of low flow in Anahola Stream, Kaua'i, and assessed flow availability for agricultural use under a variety of potential instream-flow standards established for Anahola Stream. Oki and others (2006) characterized natural low-flow availability in Punalu'u Stream, O'ahu, and examined the effects of streamflow diversions on habitat availability for native stream fauna. Yeung and Fontaine (2007) described natural and regulated low flows for streams that were affected by the Waiāhole Ditch System in northeast O'ahu. Fontaine (2012) quantified natural and regulated low-flow characteristics for streams in Waipi'o Valley, Island of Hawai'i (herein referred to as Hawai'i), and evaluated implications of proposed streamflow diversion strategies on low flows. Strauch and others (2015) assessed the influence of changes in rainfall on streamflow on the northeastern part of Hawai'i. Documented efforts to understand low-flow characteristics on a statewide basis include, but are not limited to, studies by Yamanaga (1972) in analyzing peak-flow, mean-flow, and lowflow characteristics; Fontaine and others (1992) in estimating natural and regulated median streamflows; and Bassiouni and Oki (2013) in describing trends and shifts in streamflow and base flow.

Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this report is to present results of a study conducted in cooperation with the Commission on Water Resource Management (CWRM), Department of Hawaiian Home Lands (DHHL), and Office of Hawaiian Affairs (OHA) to aid in the proper planning and management of surface-water resources in the State of Hawai'i. The objectives of this study are to (1) provide estimates of selected natural low-flow duration discharges, between the 50 and 95 flow-duration percentiles, for streams with streamflow data at measurement sites and (2) identify streams in hydrologically under-represented geographic areas where additional streamflow data collection is needed. The scope of this investigation involves compiling and analyzing (1) historical and current streamflow data at continuous-record streamflow- and ditch-flow gaging stations and (2) discharge measurements at partial-record stations and miscellaneous discharge-measurement sites. Streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i are included in the analyses.

Results of this study can be used to coordinate regional data collection and to effectively apply regional-scale regression analysis to characterize low flows on ungaged streams. Scientific information generated from this study can be used to assist with (1) determining equitable, reasonable, and beneficial instream and offstream uses of surface-water resources throughout the State of Hawai'i; (2) documenting water rights and uses associated with the perennial streams in the State of Hawai'i; (3) assessing the effects of existing uses on these streams; (4) determining quantitative and technically defensible instream-flow standards for these streams; and (5) developing effective adaptive-management strategies that help to protect and enhance water resources in the State.

StreamStats

As part of this study, low-flow duration discharges estimated at existing measurement sites are incorporated into StreamStats. StreamStats (Ries and others, 2005) is an integrated geographic information system (GIS) Web application that makes the process of computing streamflow statistics much faster, more accurate, and more consistent than previous manual methods. StreamStats incorporates (1) a map-based user interface for site selection; (2) a database (StreamStatsDB) that provides streamflow statistics and other information for stream-gaging stations; (3) a GIS program that determines boundaries of drainage basins, measures physical characteristics of the drainage basins, and solves regression equations to estimate streamflow statistics for the sites; and (4) a GIS database needed to display maps and determine the physical characteristics of the drainage basins. StreamStats has been implemented in the State of Hawai'i for estimating the magnitude of peak discharges at ungaged sites in unregulated streams (Rosa and Oki, 2010) and is used in this study to facilitate the accessibility of selected low-flow duration discharges. Statistical models developed as part of this study will not be incorporated into StreamStats because the models are only applicable for estimating low-flow duration discharges at specific sites and the models will not be used to estimate duration discharges at other locations.

Description of the Study Area

The five main Hawaiian Islands—Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i (listed from northwest to southeast)-are situated between 19° and 22° north latitudes and between 155° and 160° west longitudes (fig. 1). The approximate sizes, in square miles, of each island are Kaua'i, 552; O'ahu, 597; Moloka'i, 260; Maui, 727; and Hawai'i, 4,028 (Juvik and Juvik, 1998). The highest altitude on Kaua'i is 5,226 feet (ft) above sea level at Kawaikini, the summit of the island's central shield volcano Mount Wai'ale'ale. O'ahu has two parallel mountainous ridges; the western mountainous ridge-Wai'anae Range-rises to the island's highest altitude at 4,025 ft above sea level at Mount Ka'ala, and O'ahu's eastern mountainous ridge-Ko'olau Range-rises to an altitude of 3,100 ft above sea level at Konahuanui. The highest peak on Moloka'i is 4,960 ft above sea level at Kamakou, part of the East Moloka'i volcano comprising the east side of the island. Maui consists of two major shield volcanoes, the older West Maui volcano (West Maui Mountain) that rises to an altitude of 5,788 ft at Pu'u Kukui and the younger East Maui volcano (Haleakalā) that rises to an altitude of 10,025 ft at Pu'u 'Ula'ula. Hawai'i has the highest altitude in the State at 13,796 ft above sea level at Mauna Kea. Geologically, the islands are oldest in the northwest (about 4.5 to 5.5 million years) and youngest in the southeast (about 1 to 2 million years) (Langenheim and Clague, 1987).

Climate

The climate of the Hawaiian Islands is primarily governed by the North Pacific subtropical anticyclone, an area of high atmospheric pressure located northeast of the islands. The topography of the islands and the position of the anticyclone relative to the islands produce an atmosphere characterized by mild and uniform temperatures, cool and persistent trade winds, and seasonal and geographic variability in rainfall (Blumenstock and Price, 1967; Schroeder, 1993). These factors define the primary physiographic zones, windward and leeward, for each island (fig. 2). Windward areas are generally cooler and wetter, whereas leeward areas are hotter and drier. The dry season of May through September is dominated by persistent northeasterly trade winds that blow 80-95 percent of the time. During the rainy season of October to April, other migratory weather systems that affect the Hawaiian Islands cause a reduction in trade-wind frequency to 50-80 percent of the time.

Rainfall

The distribution of rainfall in the Hawaiian Islands is highly influenced by the topography of each island. Rainfall is primarily generated from the orographic ascent and cooling of moisture-laden trade winds along the windward slopes of the islands. The mountainous areas receive the highest rainfall between altitudes of 2,000 and 6,000 ft above sea level. Between these altitudes, rainfall can also occur in the form of fog drip, which is moisture from clouds that is intercepted by vegetation and eventually falls to the ground. Above an altitude of 6,000 ft, temperatures increase with altitude, and climate is influenced by the moist air below and dry air above. Microclimate occurring above this temperature-inversion zone, at altitudes above 8,000 ft, is distinguished by drier air and clearer skies. Drier air descends the leeward slopes of the mountains, resulting in decreased rainfall in those areas, which is a phenomenon known as the rain-shadow effect (Giambelluca and others, 2013). Heavy and intense rainfall can be caused by low-pressure systems from the northwest and those accompanied with southerly winds (Kona storms), cold fronts associated with mid-latitude cyclones, and tropical cyclones from the eastern Pacific Ocean (Giambelluca and Schroeder, 1998). Dry coastal areas of the Hawaiian Islands can receive most of their annual rainfall amounts from these storms.

Mean annual rainfall exceeds 340 inches near the summit of Mount Wai'ale'ale on Kaua'i, 240 inches over the Ko'olau Range and 65 inches over the Wai'anae Range on O'ahu, 140 inches near the eastern part Moloka'i, 300 inches near Pu'u Kukui of the West Maui Mountain and 340 inches over the northern slopes of Haleakalā on Maui, and 280 inches on the northeastern part of Hawai'i (Giambelluca and others, 2013) (figs. 1 and 2). Most of the southwestern coastal areas on Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, and Maui receive less than 35 inches of rain annually. However, on Hawai'i, some high



Figure 1. Map showing general topography of the main Hawaiian Islands.

altitude areas that reach above the temperature-inversion zone and the northwestern coastal areas receive less than 15 inches of rainfall annually. Rainfall in the mountainous areas is often characterized by steep spatial gradients with increasing altitude. For example, within a horizontal distance of 1 mile from Pu'u Kukui on Maui towards the ocean, mean annual rainfall can vary by more than 140 inches.

Streams

Streams play a critical role in shaping the unique landscape of the Hawaiian Islands and in supporting the lives of the islands' inhabitants. Throughout the evolution of the islands, the erosive power of the water the streams convey carved deep amphitheater-headed valleys in the geologically older islands and transported and deposited soils to various parts of the valleys and offshore waters. Hawaiian streams typically originate from mountainous interior areas, where rainfall is more abundant, and terminate at the coast. The density of stream channels increases with altitude; therefore, stream capture of rainwater is more prominent in the mountainous areas. Flow in streams is highly variable in space and time (as discussed in the following section "Hydrogeology") and is mainly controlled by rainfall and geology. Hawaiian streams are referred to as flashy because they respond quickly to rainfall during intense rainfall periods; streams can transition from base flows to flood flows in less than an hour. Streams often flow perennially in the windward areas where flow is supported by persistent rainfall and groundwater discharge. In leeward areas, streams may run dry part of the year when rainfall is low. Ephemeral streams are dry most of the time and flow only in response to heavy rainfall.

Streams in the Hawaiian Islands provide a vital source of water for mankind. Many streams are diverted for traditional, agricultural, domestic, and municipal uses. As discussed in section "Surface-Water Use," changes in surface-water use in the last century may place further stress on the resource.

Hydrogeology

The geological setting near a stream is an important control on the natural low-flow characteristics of the stream because low flows are largely derived from groundwater sources. Volcanic dikes that occur mainly near the caldera and within the rift zones of the volcano are low-permeability tabular sheets of rock that act much like a leaky dam to impede the movement of groundwater, consequently elevating the water level inland of the dikes. These dikes can impound groundwater levels to as high as 3,000 ft above sea level (Stearns and Macdonald, 1942, p. 195). Dike-impounded groundwater



Figure 2. Map showing mean annual rainfall in the State of Hawai'i.

maintains perennial flow in some streams at the upper reaches where the streams intersect the dike-impounded water body. These stream reaches are referred to as gaining reaches because groundwater contributes to streamflow. In stream valleys where extensive erosion has exposed dike compartments, groundwater from these dike-impounded systems discharges directly to streams. Downstream from the area of dikeimpounded groundwater, the water table is typically below the streambed. In many of the streams, the lower altitude reaches are referred to as losing reaches because streamflow discharges to the groundwater body. Some streams may lose all flow to the groundwater body before reaching the ocean during low-flow conditions.

Surface-Water Use

Surface-water use over the 20th century in the State of Hawai'i has generally shifted from providing irrigation water for large-scale agricultural operations to supporting diversified agriculture, urban developments, and other uses. During the latter part of the 1800s, numerous large-scale sugar plantations became established in the State of Hawai'i, and many plantations continued to operate during much of the 1900s. By 1920, over 50 sugar plantations were established, and more than 800 million gallons per day of water were regularly diverted from Hawaiian streams (Wilcox, 1996). Large engineered diversion systems were built to support the irrigation-water demand of the sugar plantations. The diversion systems typically transported water within and across drainage basins, altering drainage patterns within them. Stream reaches downstream of the diversion intakes commonly were dry because the diversions captured all of the dry-weather flow of streams. Sugarcane acreage in the State of Hawai'i decreased from 188,396 to 43,821 acres from 1984 to 2000 (State of Hawai'i, 2000). Consequently, large amounts of prime agricultural lands became available for diversified agriculture, urban developments, and other uses. As of May 2016, the last remaining large-scale plantation is the Hawaiian Commercial and Sugar Company's plantation, located in central Maui.

While plantation agriculture decreased, the State's population has continued to increase. The resident population in the State of Hawai'i increased almost sevenfold from 154,001 in 1900 to 1,211,537 in 2000 (State of Hawai'i, 2014). The 2013 projections indicate O'ahu, with a population of over 980,000, is the most populated of the main Hawaiian Islands and has over 5 times the population on Hawai'i; over 6 times the population on Moloka'i, Lāna'i, and Maui combined; and over 14 times the population on Kaua'i (State of Hawai'i, 2014). Increased urbanization may place further stress on limited water resources. To sustainably manage the State of Hawai'i's water resources and to accommodate the needs of a growing population, surface-water resources in an area must be quantified. An assessment of the surface-water resources in the State of Hawai'i is among the goals for this study.

Data

The compilation of available streamflow data from USGS files and reports not stored in the NWIS database yielded over 6,000 additional streamflow measurements and over 1,000 additional measurement sites. Most of these streamflow data are instantaneous discharge measurements at partial-record stations and miscellaneous measurement sites. Although not all additional measurement sites had an adequate number of streamflow measurements to characterize low flows at the sites, these sites can be useful for low-flow analysis if additional measurements are made there. The compilation of data for this study has provided an updated and more complete representation of available USGS streamflow data in the State, and this is critical in identifying data needs for future research.

Trends in Streamflow Characteristics

Selection of a low-flow analysis period is constrained by the presence of trends found in streamflow and base flow for long-term continuous-record stations in the State of Hawai'i (Bassiouni and Oki, 2013). Significant downward trends in base flow and low-streamflow characteristics were found during 1913–2008; however, the downward trends detected during 1943–2008 generally were not significant. The longterm downward trends detected during 1913–2008 are likely related to a significant downward shift in flow that occurred around 1943, which corresponded to a 22-percent decrease in median total flow and a 23-percent decrease in median base flow between periods 1913–1943 and 1943–2008. The shift in flow was greater during the drier months.

The detected downward trends and shift reflect regionwide changes in climatic and land-cover factors, such as changes in temperature and (or) trade winds, and reforestation. Decrease in base flow is most likely related to decreases in groundwater storage and recharge and therefore has important implications for low-flow analyses in the State. Because of the shift in flow that occurred around 1943, only streamflow data from water year 1944 and beyond are used in the analyses of this study.

Types of Streamflow-Measurement Sites

Four types of streamflow-measurement sites are described in this report: (1) a continuous-record streamflowgaging station, which provides continuous record of discharge at a location in the stream; (2) a continuous-record ditch-flow gaging station, which provides continuous record of discharge at a location in the ditch; (3) a partial-record station, which commonly has 10 or more systematic streamflow measurements at a location in the stream; and (4) a miscellaneous site, which typically has less than 10 streamflow measurements that may not have been collected in a systematic manner as with a partial-record station. In this study, a long-term continuousrecord streamflow-gaging station has 10 or more complete water years of record during 1944–2013, and a short-term continuous-record station has less than 10 complete water years of record during 1944–2013. A water year is a 12-month period that extends from October 1 to September 30 of the following year and is named according to the year during which the period ends. For example, the 2013 water year is the period October 1, 2012, to September 30, 2013. A seepage-run measurement site is an example of a miscellaneous site where measurements have been made for the purposes of determining seepage gains and losses along a stream.

Natural (Unregulated) Streamflow Data

Mainly natural (unregulated) streamflow data are used in the analysis of low flows in this study. Natural flow represents streamflow that is not affected by surface-water diversions, irrigation return flows, or groundwater pumping that has been known to reduce streamflow. Surface-water diversion information from Fontaine (1995), Wilcox (1996), and CWRM diversion records are used to determine whether a measurement site monitored regulated flow. Regulated-streamflow data are only used when concurrent ditch-flow records are available that are sufficient to allow reconstruction of natural streamflow at the measurement sites. Some measurement sites monitored regulated flow for part of the record. If concurrent ditch-flow records are not available at these sites, only the period of record with natural-streamflow data is used in the analysis. Information on measurement sites used in the analysis of low flows in this study is summarized in appendix 1, and the locations of the sites are illustrated in figures 3 to 7.

Measurement sites on streams affected by the Waiāhole Ditch System in the northeastern part of O'ahu (between map areas B and C, fig. 4) are excluded from the analysis because of the complex flow diversions associated with the Waiāhole Ditch. These complex flow diversions include the following: (1) additional unknown amounts of surface water pumped into the diversion system during 1951–69, (2) flow releases from the ditch to the affected streams during 1951-69 and 1999-2004, (3) closure of surface-water diversion intakes during the mid-1980s, and (4) changes in the development tunnels for several of the affected streams (Yeung and Fontaine, 2007). On Moloka'i, only data collected prior to November 1960 were used for stations 16405500 and 16408000 on Waikolu Stream because of the unknown effects associated with diversions by the Molokai Tunnel. In east Maui, many of the streams affected by the East Maui Irrigation diversion system are included in this study because available streamflow data are from measurements sites located upstream of diversion intakes

Seepage Analyses

A seepage analysis is useful for characterizing the spatial distribution of flow along a stream. During a seepage analysis, same-day streamflow measurements are made at selected sites along the stream during stable-flow conditions to determine the magnitude of streamflow gains and losses and to document stream reaches that are either flowing or dry. Different reaches of the same stream can either gain water (groundwater discharge into stream) or lose water (stream discharge into groundwater body), depending on the position of the water table relative to the streambed. When coupled with low-flow duration discharge estimates at partial-record stations, results of a seepage analysis can provide natural water-availability information for stream reaches downstream from surface-water diversions and help determine whether the streams flow continuously from the mountain to the ocean.

Results of seepage analyses that have been conducted on Hawaiian streams are not examined as part of this study. However, an inventory of the available streamflow measurements made for a seepage analysis is provided in table 1 to identify under-represented areas that may need additional data collection to determine the surface water and groundwater interaction in these areas. Seepage analyses conducted in ditches are excluded from table 1.

Methods

Flow-Duration Characteristics

Low-flow characteristics, under natural streamflow conditions, are described using flow-duration discharges that are commonly displayed on a flow-duration curve. Flowduration curves provide an informative method of displaying the complete range of flows in a stream and have been extensively used for hydrologic planning and design (Vogel and Fennessey, 1995), especially in the field of water-resource management. A flow-duration curve is a cumulative-frequency distribution that shows the percentage of time that specified discharges at a location in a stream are equaled or exceeded over a given period of record (commonly expressed in water years). Hence, the curve shows the relation between magnitude and frequency of streamflow.

Daily mean discharges are typically used to construct the flow-duration curves because they allow for more detailed examination of the duration characteristics of a stream (Smakhtin, 2001, p. 154) compared to flow-duration curves constructed from weekly, monthly, or annual streamflow data. A flow-duration curve is constructed by first ranking the daily mean discharges for a given period of record in descending order, then computing the exceedance probability of each discharge, and finally plotting the discharges against their exceedance probabilities (Ries and Friesz, 2000, p. 8). The exceedance probabilities are computed with the Weibull formula (Loaiciga, 1989, p. 82):

$$P_k = \frac{k}{(n+1)}, k = 1, 2, 3, \dots n$$
 (1)

where P_k is the exceedance probability of a daily mean discharge with rank k,

- k is the rank of a daily mean discharge, and
- *n* is the total number of daily mean discharges for the given period of record.

The 50-percent flow-duration discharge, commonly referred to as median discharge or the Q_{50} discharge, is one of the most frequently computed flow-duration statistics. The median (Q_{50}) discharge is the flow that has been equaled or exceeded 50 percent of the time during a given period of record. Flow-duration discharges that describe low-flow conditions are generally considered to be those equal to or less than the Q_{50} discharge, and they are represented by the lower end of the flow-duration curve. The natural low-flow characteristics of this study are represented by flow-duration discharges between the Q_{50} and Q_{95} discharges in 5-percent increments— Q_{50} , Q_{55} , Q_{60} , Q_{65} , Q_{70} , Q_{75} , Q_{80} , Q_{85} , Q_{90} , and Q_{95} discharges.

Record-Augmentation Techniques

Record augmentation is used to determine selected low-flow duration discharges for long-term, short-term, and partial-record stations for a base period that is representative of long-term hydrologic conditions in the State of Hawai'i. It is an index-streamgage approach in which streamflow information from a continuously gaged basin is transferred to a basin with limited streamflow data (Eng and others, 2011). This method involves correlating concurrent streamflow data points between the measurement site of interest and a nearby long-term continuous-record streamflow-gaging station (index station) to develop a statistical relation. A sample of about 10 concurrent streamflow data points is generally needed to apply record augmentation (USGS Office of Surface Water, in Technical Memorandum no. 86.02, December 16, 1985). The statistical model built from the correlation between the data points is used to compute flow-duration discharges at the measurement site of interest from corresponding flow-duration discharges at the index station for the base period. The base period is a common period during which all index stations used in the analysis are in operation with complete water years of streamflow data for computing various flow-duration discharges. See section "Index Stations and Selection of Base Period" for explanation on the selection of index stations for each island.

The Maintenance of Variance Extension Type 1 (MOVE.1) record-augmentation technique described by Hirsch (1982) and the graphical-correlation technique described by Searcy (1959, p.14) are used to extend streamflow records for this study. Both record-augmentation techniques assume that the statistical relation between concurrent

Table 1.	Summary of seepage analyses conducted for streams on the Islands of Kaua	i, Oʻahu, Molokaʻi, Maui, and Hawaiʻi.
----------	--	--

Stream	Date of seepage analysis						
	Kaua'i						
Anahola Stream	Apr., Sept. 2011						
Hanalei River	Mar. 1979						
Hanamā'ulu Stream	Sept. 1973; June, July 1995; Oct. 1996						
Hanapēpē River	Oct. 1996						
Hulē'ia Stream	Oct. 1996						
Kapa'a Stream	Sept. 1983						
Kōke'e Stream	Aug. ¹ , Sept. ¹ 1996						
Makaleha Stream	June 1992, Dec. 1994						
North Fork Wailua River	Sept. 1982						
South Fork Wailua River	Mar. 1983						
	0'ahu						
'Āhuimanu Stream	Apr. 1960						
Hakipu'u Stream	July 1959						
He'eia Stream	June, Dec. 1963; Feb. ¹ 1981						
Hina Gulch	Mar., May 1965						
Honouliuli Stream	Feb., May 2016						
'Ihi'ihi Gulch	Apr. 1965						
Ka'a'awa Stream	Mar., May 1961						
Ka'alaea Stream	July 1959						
Kahalu'u Stream	July, Sept. 1959; Feb., Aug. 1961; Oct. ¹ , Nov. ¹ 1980						
Kahana Stream	Feb. 1958; Aug., Sept. 1960, Sept. 1961, Feb. 1962, Apr. 2009						
Kaipapa'u Stream	Sept. 1964						
Kalalula Stream	Jan., Mar., May 1955; Mar., Aug. 1956; Jan., Aug. 1957						
Kaluanui Stream	Sept. 1962; Sept. 1966, June 1982, June 1983						
Kamananui Stream	Feb. 1964						
Kamo'oali'i Stream	June 1959						
Kawa Stream	June 1959						
Kīpapa Stream	Apr., June 1957						
Kūmaipō Stream	June ¹ , Aug. ¹ , Sept. ¹ , Oct. ¹ 1981; July, Nov. ¹ 1985						
Luluku Stream	Aug. 1960; Sept. 1961; Sept., Oct., Dec. ¹ 1984						

 Table 1.
 Summary of seepage analyses conducted for streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i.

 Continued

Stream	Date of seepage analysis					
Ma'akua Stream	Aug., Sept. 1962; Oct. 1964					
Mākaha Stream	Jan. ¹ , Feb. ¹ , Mar. ¹ , Dec. ¹ 1981; Sept. ¹ , Dec. ¹ 1983; Jan. ¹ , Feb. ¹ , Mar. ¹ 1984; Aug. ¹ , Sept. ¹ 1994					
Mālaekahana Stream	July 1963					
Mānoa Stream	Jan. 1964; Sept. 1982; July ¹ , Nov. ¹ , Dec. ¹ 1985; Jan. ¹ 1986					
Maunawili Stream	July 1959					
North Hālawa Stream	July, Aug., Oct. 1989					
Punalu'u Stream	July, Aug. 1960; Feb. 1962; May, June 1981; Sept., Oct. 2004; June, Aug. 2005					
Waiāhole Stream	July 1959; July 1960; Oct. ¹ 1988; Jan. ¹ , Feb. ¹ , July ¹ , Aug. ¹ 1989; Mar., June, Sept. 1995					
Waianu Stream	July 1959; July 1960; Mar., Sept. 1961; Oct. ¹ 1988; Jan. ¹ , Feb. ¹ , Aug. ¹ 1989; May, June, Sept. 1995					
Waihe'e Stream	Feb., Mar. 1961					
Waikāne Stream	July, Oct. 1959; Feb., May 1960; Mar. 1961; Oct. ¹ 1988; Jan. ¹ , Feb. ¹ , July ¹ , Aug. ¹ 1989; Sept. 2002; May 2003					
Wailupe Gulch	Dec. ¹ 1985; Jan. ¹ 1986; Feb., July, Sept. 2008					
	Molokaʻi					
Honoulimalo'o Stream	Jan., Mar., July, Dec. 1966; Jan. 1967					
Kawela Gulch	June 2010					
Pelekunu Stream	Jan., Mar., May, July, Sept., Nov. 1956; Jan., Mar., May 1957; Oct. 1971; Jan., June 1972					
Waikolu Stream	Jan., Mar., July, Sept., Nov. 1956; Mar., May 1957; Aug. 1960; Jan., Mar., Apr., May, Aug. 1961; Feb., Mar., June, Oct. 1963; Aug., Oct. 1970					
Wailau Stream	Jan., Mar., May, July, Sept. 1956					
Maui						
Hāhālawe Gulch	May 1969					
Hanawī Stream	Oct. 1974; July 1994, Feb. 1995					
Honokahua Stream	May 2008					
Honokōhau Stream	Aug. 1968; Sept. 1995; Aug., Oct. 1997					
Honokōwai Stream	Mar. 1967, Apr. 2009, Jan. 2010, July 2012					
Honolua Stream	May 2008, Dec. 2012					
Honomanū Stream	June 1995					
Hoʻolawa Stream	Feb. 1998					
Kahakuloa Stream	Sept. 1975, Sept. 1982					
Kahoma Stream	Jan. 2010, Aug. 2012					
Kailua Stream	May 1969					
Kanahā Stream	Jan. 2013					
Kaua'ula Stream	Sept. 2008					

 Table 1.
 Summary of seepage analyses conducted for streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i.

 Continued

Stream	Date of seepage analysis
Kaupakulua Gulch	Nov. 1997
Kuʻiaha Gulch	Oct. 1997
Launiopoko Stream	Feb. 1967
Makamaka'ole Stream	Aug. 2005
Makapipi Stream	Sept. 2010
Māliko Gulch	Sept. 1993
'Ohe'o Gulch	May 1969; July 1978; June 1983
Olowalu Stream	Feb. 1967, Aug. 2008, Feb. 2013
Pale'a'ahu Gulch	Jan. 2004
Pōkāhea Gulch	Sept. 2003
Ukumehame Gulch	May, Sept. 2006; Mar. 2013
Wahikuli Gulch	Jan. 2010
Waiehu Stream	Aug. 2005; July, Oct. 2006; Mar., Aug., Dec. 2007; Mar., July, Nov. 2008
Waihe'e River	June 2004; Dec. 2006; Jan. 2007; Feb., Nov., Dec. 2008
Waikamoi Stream	Oct. 1994
Waikapū Stream	Mar., Oct. 2004; Aug., Sept., Dec. 2006; Apr., May, Aug., Nov. 2007; Apr. 2008; Jan., Mar. 2009
Wailuku River	Sept. 2004; July, Oct., Dec. 2006; Jan., Feb., Aug., Sept. 2007; Jan., Feb. 2008
Waiokamilo Stream	Aug. 1976, May 1999
West Wailuaiki Stream	Mar. 1984
	Hawaiʻi
Ālia Stream	Aug., Sept. 1982
Honoli'i Stream	Nov. 1962
Kamae'e Stream	Mar. 1983
Kapehu Stream	Sept. 1983
Pololū Stream	Oct. 1996
Waikani Gulch	Sept. 2002; Aug. 2003

Feb. 1948; Dec. 1963; Sept., Oct., Nov., Dec. 1965; Mar., Apr. 1966

Waimā StreamJuly 1962; Sept. 1965Waipi'o StreamDec. 1962; Sept. 2000, Sept. 2001

¹Seepage run conducted to evaluate the effect of pumping on streamflow

Wailuku River

records at the index and measurement site is the same for any time period (Ries, 1993, p.21). Selecting the appropriate record-augmentation technique for estimating streamflow characteristics depends on the statistical relation between data points at the measurement site and the concurrent data points at the index station. The initial procedures used prior to the application of record-augmentation techniques are as follows:

- 1. Compute the 50-, 55-, 60-, 65-, 70-, 75-, 80-, 85-, 90-, and 95-percent flow-duration discharges for the base period at selected index stations for each island.
- 2. Plot the base-10 logarithms of data points at the measurement sites (long-term and short-term continuous-record stations, and partial-record stations) and concurrent data points at each selected index station to determine which index station provides the best statistical relation by

comparing the correlation coefficients. Index stations with correlation coefficients greater than 0.70 are examined.

3. Assess for curvature in the plots developed in step 2. When little or no curvature is detected in a relation on a logarithmic plot, the MOVE.1 technique is used to estimate flow-duration discharges. When curvature is evident in the relation, the graphical-correlation technique is used.

MOVE.1 Technique

The statistical model developed with the MOVE.1 technique is based on the line of organic correlation regression method. Hirsch and Gilroy (1984) and Helsel and Hirsch (2002) showed that the line of organic correlation method is most appropriate in record augmentation compared with ordinary least squares and least normal squares regression methods. The general procedure for the MOVE.1 technique begins with the transformation of concurrent data points at the index station and measurement site to base-10 logarithms, and then computation of the means and standard deviations of the transformed values. The low-flow duration discharges for the base period at the index station are also computed and transformed to base-10 logarithms. Estimates of low-flow duration discharges at the measurement site are determined using the MOVE.1 formula (equation 2) and then converted to the original (nontransformed) units of measurement in cubic feet per second (ft³/s).

$$Y_{i} = m_{y} + \frac{s_{y}}{s_{z}} \left(X_{i} - m_{x} \right)$$
(2)

where

 Y_{i}

is the base-10 logarithm of the estimated low-flow duration discharge at the measurement site,

- X_i is the base-10 logarithm of the computed low-flow duration discharge at the index station,
- m_y is the mean of the base-10 logarithms of the data points at the measurement site,

 m_x is the mean of the base-10 logarithms of the concurrent data points at the index station,

- s_{y} is the standard deviation of the base-10 logarithms of the data points at the measurement site, and
- s_x is the standard deviation of the base-10 logarithms of the concurrent data points at the index station.

Granato (2009) developed the Streamflow Record Extension Facilitator (SREF) program to automate the MOVE.1 technique; this program is used in this study to facilitate record augmentation. The MOVE.1 results are evaluated by analyzing several regression statistics computed by the SREF program. Those statistics include the correlation coefficient (r), coefficient of determination (r^2), residual error for each data point (e_i), the leverage of each data point (h_i), the mean square error (MSE), the root mean square error (RMSE), and a modified Nash-Sutcliff coefficient of efficiency (NSE). Definitions of the regression statistics and the equations used to compute these statistics are found in Granato (2009).

Graphical-Correlation Technique

In the graphical-correlation record-augmentation technique, a curve of relation is plotted through the data points at the measurement site and concurrent data points at the index station. The data points are plotted on an arithmetic scale when drawing the curve of relation to reduce curvature in the extreme low flows and to avoid long downward extrapolations of the data (Ries, 1993, p. 21). The selected low-flow duration discharges at the measurement site are determined by reading the discharges of the measurement site from the best fit curve of relation that correspond to the low-flow duration discharges at the index station.

Index Stations and Selection of Base Period

An index station is a continuous-record streamflowgaging station that measures natural flow and has a sufficient length of record for estimating streamflow characteristics representative of long-term conditions. It is usually located along the same stream as the site of interest at which flowduration discharge estimates are needed or in a nearby stream valley that is hydrologically similar to that of the site of interest. Searcy (1959, p. 14) defines hydrologic similarity between two drainage basins as having the same probability of rainfall, not necessarily the occurrence of concurrent rainfall. Proximity is a common criterion for selecting index stations, although remote index stations as far away as 50 miles have been used to estimate streamflow characteristics (Searcy, 1959, p. 14).

Selection of a base period for adjusting streamflow records is critical to obtaining comparable low-flow estimates among the measurement sites. Flow-duration discharges may vary when computed from different time periods because the distribution of streamflow is not constant with time (Ries, 1993, p. 18). When flow-duration discharges are estimated from multiple index stations with different time periods and (or) record lengths, the time-sampling errors are generally larger than those computed with similar record periods. Therefore, streamflow records at index stations are commonly limited to a common base period to minimize time-sampling errors and to ensure that differences in flow characteristics are associated with spatial differences in climate and drainagebasin characteristics (Searcy, 1959, p. 12).

The base period should also be of sufficient length that is representative of long-term streamflow conditions. Fontaine (1995) used data from five long-term continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations on the island of O'ahu, each with more than 60 years of record, and demonstrated that estimates of streamflow characteristics are improved with increased record length (see figure 2 and table 9 in Fontaine, 1995). A minimum of 10 years of record is required to estimate certain streamflow characteristics such as the long-term median discharge. If the length of record is deemed inadequate for representing long-term conditions, record-augmentation techniques are commonly used to adjust the short-term record to a longer period (Ries, 1993, p. 18). The 30-year period 1984-2013 is selected as the base period for this study because (1) this period is representative of recent hydrologic conditions, (2) this period is of sufficient length to represent long-term hydrologic conditions, and (3) the greatest number of long-term continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations are operated within this 30-year period.

Continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations are selected as potential index stations for estimating low-flow characteristics if they monitored natural streamflow during the base period. Refer to appendix 1 for a listing of the index stations. Out of the 27 index stations, 8 are located on the leeward side of O'ahu, 2 on the leeward side of Kaua'i, and the remainder on the windward sides of the islands. Index stations on Maui are used in record augmentation for estimating lowflow duration discharges at measurement sites on Moloka'i. Several of the index stations have missing data during the 1984–2013 base period—station 16208000 on South Fork Kaukonahua Stream, O'ahu, had incomplete data during water years 2005, 2012, and 2013; station 16211600 on Mākaha Stream, O'ahu, had missing data in water year 2006; station 16614000 on Waihe'e River, Maui, had missing data in water year 1984; and station 16620000 on Honokohau Stream, Maui, had incomplete data during water years 1989 and 1990. These stations had less than 10 percent missing data during 1984-2013, and the daily mean discharges for the periods of missing records are estimated using the MOVE.1 record-augmentation technique. The procedures for MOVE.1 technique in estimating missing daily mean discharges are similar to those for estimating low-flow duration discharges at the measurement sites described in an earlier section of the report, under subheading "MOVE.1 Technique." Concurrent daily means from complete water years during 1984–2013 are used to develop the statistical model between the two stations. Instead of low-flow duration discharges, daily mean discharges at index stations without missing data are used to estimate concurrent daily mean discharges at index stations with missing data.

Analysis of Low Flows at Different Types of Measurement Sites

The data points used to develop the statistical models between the streamflow measurement site and the index station for computing low-flow duration discharges differ for different types of measurement sites, which include long-term continuous-record stations, short-term continuous-record stations, and partial-record stations. These measurement sites are defined in section "Types of Streamflow-Measurement Sites."

Long-Term Continuous-Record Stations

For long-term continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations (with 10 or more complete years of record between water years 1944 and 2013) that do not have record for the complete base period and therefore are not selected as index stations, the procedures for estimating low-flow duration discharges are as follows:

- 1. Determine the complete water years of record that are concurrent between the long-term station and the index stations.
- Compute the annual flow-duration discharges between the 50 and 95 flow-duration percentiles (annual Q₅₀, Q₅₅, Q₆₀, Q₆₅, Q₇₀, Q₇₅, Q₈₀, Q₈₅, Q₉₀, and Q₉₅ discharges) for each

complete water year of record at the long-term station and the index stations.

- 3. Using the data computed in the previous step, apply steps 2 and 3 of the initial procedures used prior to the application of record-augmentation techniques as described in section "Record-Augmentation Techniques."
- 4. Develop a model, using the appropriate record-augmentation technique (MOVE.1 or graphical) determined in the previous step, between concurrent annual flow-duration discharges at the long-term station and the index station for each low-flow duration statistic. This will result in potentially 10 statistical models per long-term station.
- 5. Using the models developed in the previous step, compute flow-duration discharges at the long-term station from corresponding flow-duration discharges at the index station for the base period.

This method is similar to the one described in Searcy (1959, p. 14–15), except this method compares annual instead of period-of-record flow-duration discharges. In using annual statistics, flow-duration discharges are estimated with a model that is developed for the specific flow-duration statistic that is to be estimated. It also allows the use of linear models to estimate the lower flow-duration statistics (for example, Q_{90} and Q_{95}) at which curvature is oftentimes detected in a single relation developed from period-of-record statistics or daily mean discharges.

To evaluate the use of this method, an exploratory analysis was performed on data from three measurement sites that cover the range of flow characteristics: station 16103000 on Hanalei River, Kaua'i, station 16229300 on Kalihi Stream, O'ahu, and station 16515000 on Waiohue Gulch, Maui. This method was applied to the data at the three measurement sites to develop statistical models for each low-flow duration statistic. Flow-duration discharges at the index station for the entire period concurrent with the measurement sites were used as input to the models to estimate flow-duration discharges for the entire period at the measurement sites. These estimates were then compared to the actual flow-duration discharges computed from the concurrent period of record at the measurement sites. The differences between the modeled and actual flow-duration discharges at the measurement sites were under 5 percent, and a majority were under 2 percent. Therefore, the use of models developed from annual statistics to estimate base-period statistics is considered reasonable.

Short-Term Continuous-Record Stations

For short-term continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations (with less than 10 complete years of record between water years 1944 and 2013), the procedures for estimating low-flow duration discharges are as follows:

14 Low-Flow Characteristics for Streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i, State of Hawa'i

- Extract daily mean discharges during stable streamflow 1 recessions from the short-term station. A streamflow recession is the period when flows return to low-flow conditions following a period of direct runoff. On a streamflow hydrograph, the recession period is represented by the falling limb of the curve following peak discharge. A stable recession refers to the relatively flat part of the recession curve, where flow variability is minimal over time. Stable recession daily mean discharges are selected using the following criteria: (1) daily mean discharges are from streamflow recessions that continue for 4 or more consecutive days; (2) daily mean discharge on a particular day during a streamflow recession is less than or equal to the daily mean discharge on the previous day; and (3) during each qualified streamflow recession, difference between the selected daily mean discharge and the daily mean discharge from the previous day is 10 percent or less.
- 2. Extract stable recession daily mean discharges from the index stations using the same criteria described in the previous step, and select the stable recession daily mean discharges that are less than the base-period Q_{40} discharge (rather than the Q_{50} discharge). This allows for the statistical relation to be defined for the full range of low-flow statistics to be estimated, particularly for cases in which stable recession daily mean discharges at Q_{50} conditions are not available at the index station but stable recession daily mean discharges at higher flow conditions are available.
- 3. Determine all of the stable recession daily mean discharges that are concurrent between the short-term station and the index stations. Concurrent stable recession daily mean discharges from the short-term and index stations must be from at least 10 independent recessions. All of the concurrent daily mean discharges from each stable recession will be used in the following steps.
- 4. Using the data determined in the previous step, apply steps 2 and 3 of the initial procedures used prior to the application of record-augmentation techniques as described in section "Record-Augmentation Techniques."
- 5. Develop a model, using the appropriate record-augmentation technique (MOVE.1 or graphical) determined in the previous step, between concurrent stable recession daily means at the short-term station and the index station.
- 6. Using the model developed in the previous step, compute flow-duration discharges at the short-term station from corresponding flow-duration discharges at the index station for the base period.

The method used for analyzing low flows at the shortterm station uses only one statistical model to estimate all the low-flow duration discharges, whereas in the long-term station method, a unique statistical model is developed to estimate each low-flow duration discharge.

This short-term method is a modification of the traditional record-augmentation method for partial-record stations in which about 10 concurrent streamflow data points, each from independent recessions, are generally needed. To evaluate the use of the short-term method, an exploratory analysis was performed on data from three measurement sites that cover a range of flow characteristics: station 16228900 on Kalihi Stream, O'ahu; station 16241600 on Mānoa Stream, O'ahu; and station 16524000 on Honomanū Stream, Maui. The traditional method was applied to the data at the three measurement sites to develop the statistical models by randomly selecting only one set of concurrent daily mean discharges from the short-term and index stations from each stable recession to be used in the low-flow analysis (instead of using all daily mean discharges from each stable recession as stated in step 3 of the short-term method procedures). Using one set of concurrent daily mean discharges from the shortterm and index stations mirrors the traditional record-augmentation method. Low-flow duration discharges were estimated with this traditional method and compared with the low-flow duration discharges estimated with the short-term method. The differences in flow-duration estimates between the traditional method and the short-term method at the measurement sites were generally less than 10 percent. Therefore, the use of models developed from the short-term method to estimate base-period statistics is considered reasonable.

Partial-Record Stations

For partial-record stations with 10 or more instantaneous streamflow measurements taken between water years 1944 and 2013, the procedures for estimating low-flow duration discharges are as follows:

- 1. Determine daily mean discharges at the index stations that are concurrent with the streamflow measurements at the partial-record stations, and select the daily mean discharges at the index stations that are less than the Q_{40} discharge. This allows for the statistical relation to be defined for the full range of low-flow statistics to be estimated, particularly for cases in which daily mean discharges at Q_{50} conditions are not available at the index station but daily mean discharges at higher flow conditions are available.
- 2. Using the data determined in the previous step, apply steps 2 and 3 of the initial procedures used prior to the application of record-augmentation techniques as described in section "Record-Augmentation Techniques."
- 3. Develop a model, using the appropriate record-augmentation technique (MOVE.1 or graphical) determined in the previous step, between streamflow measurements at the partial-record station and concurrent daily mean discharges at the index station.

4. Using the model developed in the previous step, compute flow-duration discharges at the partial-record station from corresponding flow-duration discharges at the index station for the base period.

This method is similar to the method used for analyzing low flows at the short-term station in that only one statistical model is used to estimate all the low-flow duration discharges.

Sites on Ephemeral Stream Reaches

Ephemeral stream reaches flow only in response to intense rainfall and are identified in Fontaine (1995) and by analyzing the streamflow record for absence of flow. For this study, a stream reach is ephemeral if at least 50 percent of the daily mean discharges available at the measurement site indicate zero flow. Flow-duration discharges between the 50 and 95 flow-duration percentiles for the entire period of record are computed for the measurement site, and the flow-duration discharges for the concurrent period are computed for the index stations. The concurrent flow-duration discharges at the measurement site and the index station are plotted on an arithmetic scale, and a smooth curve is drawn to connect the data points (Searcy, 1959, p. 14–15). The graphical-correlation augmentation technique is used to estimate flow-duration discharges at the measurement site that are applicable to the base period for each index station. The final flow-duration discharge estimate at the measurement site is the average of all the estimates derived from the different index stations. This method is only applied at continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations.

Evaluation of Statistical and Graphical Models

Statistical Models

The correlation coefficient measures the strength of the linear relation between concurrent data points at the index station and measurement site (Vogel and Stedinger, 1985; Helsel and Hirsch, 2002). It is used to evaluate which index stations are considered for record augmentation at the measurement sites. When data points at a measurement site are highly correlated with data points at multiple index stations, the NSE value is used to select the best statistical model to use for estimating low-flow duration discharges at the measurement site. With values ranging from minus infinity to 1, the NSE determines the accuracy to which the statistical model predicts low-flow duration discharges at the measurements sites from the lowflow duration discharges at the index station. An NSE value of zero indicates that the mean of the data points at the measurement site is as accurate for predicting flow-duration discharges as the regression model. A positive NSE value indicates that the regression model is relatively accurate for predicting flow-duration discharges compared to using the mean of the data points. A negative NSE value occurs when the mean of

data points at the measurement site is a better predictor than the regression model. The NSE is recommended for use by the American Society of Civil Engineers (1993), Moriasi and others (2007), and Sevat and Dezetter (1991) because it is more sensitive to additive and proportional differences between model predictions and measured data than the correlation coefficient and coefficient of determination. Legates and McCabe (1999) suggested using a modified NSE that is less sensitive to extreme values, and this modified NSE is used in the SREF program to evaluate MOVE.1 results for this study.

Moriasi and others (2007) developed a rating system based on the NSE for evaluating performance of watershed models. The ranges of NSE values for each rating category were determined from the model calibration and validation results of various studies. A modified performance rating is implemented in this study for evaluating the MOVE.1 results (table 2). This modified rating has an additional ranking category referred to as poor, and the results with a ranking are considered acceptable based on Motovilov and others (1999). For this study, for cases in which the data points at a measurement site correlate with the data points at multiple index stations with correlation coefficients of 0.70 and higher, the low-flow duration-discharge estimates from the statistical model with the highest NSE value are selected as the best estimates at the measurement site. However, an estimate with an NSE value less than 0.36 is not presented in the results.

Graphical Models

The graphical models are evaluated statistically based on the correlation coefficient and qualitatively by assessing how closely the curve of relation fits the data points. The curve of relation must be drawn to reduce curvature in the extreme low flows and to avoid long downward extrapolations of the data. It must also be drawn to minimize the spread of data relative to the curve.

Table 2. Performance rating for the Nash-Sutcliff coefficient ofefficiency (NSE) modified from Moriasi and others (2007).

[>.	greater than: >.	greater than	or equal	to: $< les$	s than or	equal to]
Ľ,	greater man, <u>-</u> ,	Breater than	or equal	10, -, 103	5 than of	equal toj

NSE value	Rating
>0.65 and ≤ 1.00	Good
>0.50 and ≤ 0.65	Satisfactory
≥ 0.36 and ≤ 0.50	Poor

Results and Discussion

Natural Low-Flow Characteristics

Natural low-flow characteristics for the 1984–2013 base period are quantified for 107 measurement sites and 27 index stations (tables 3–7). About 93 percent of the statistical

models have correlation coefficients 0.80 and higher and about 58 percent of them 0.90 and higher. For duration discharges estimated with the MOVE.1 technique, about 86 percent of the MOVE.1 models have NSE values greater than 0.50 and about 40 percent of them greater than 0.65, corresponding to satisfactory and good ratings. Duration discharges estimated from MOVE.1 models with NSE values below 0.36 are not presented in the study. A few of the duration discharges estimated from MOVE.1 models that have correlation coefficients between 0.74 and 0.80 are presented because the NSE values are 0.36 or higher. About 22 percent of the graphical models have correlation coefficients between 0.75 and 0.80, and the associated duration-discharge estimates are presented because the curves of relation are clearly and reasonably defined with the available data.

Kauaʻi

Low flows are characterized for 6 index stations and 13 measurement sites on Kaua'i, and a majority of the estimates are satisfactory based on the regression statistics (table 3, fig. 3, appendix 2). Excluding one measurement site—station 16130000 on Nahomalu Stream—where flow is ephemeral, the Q_{so} discharges range from 0.71 to 137 ft³/s, and the Q_{so} discharges range from 0.34 to 73 ft³/s. The highest flow estimates are at station 16103000 on Hanalei River. Four partial-record stations have nine data points concurrent with data from the index stations available for record augmentation, and despite the limited data, the MOVE.1 models for these stations yielded satisfactory low-flow duration-discharge estimates with NSE values between 0.51 and 0.70. Data at two short-term stations (16115000 and 16116000) with 9 complete water years of data are analyzed using two methods, the method described for long-term stations (comparing annual flow-duration statistics) and the method described for short-term stations (comparing stable recession daily means). The MOVE.1 models developed from the long-term station method with nine annual flowduration statistics concurrent with the index station yielded higher overall NSE values than the MOVE.1 model developed from the short-term station method. Therefore, low-flow duration statistics estimated with the MOVE.1 models developed from the long-term method are selected. Station 16130000 on Nahomalu Stream is identified to be ephemeral (Fontaine, 1995) and is dry at least 50 percent of the time.

Measurements at partial-record station 220754159371901 on a tributary of Kawaikōī Stream did not correlate well with concurrent daily mean discharges at the index stations; however, index station 16010000 on the main stream channel of Kawaikōī Stream is available to provide at least some definition of low-flow characteristics on that stream. Streamflow data at stations 16029500 on Mokihana Stream, 16117000 on Kalalau Stream, and two partial-record stations on the same stream did not correlate well with concurrent discharges at the index stations on Kaua'i; therefore, low-flow estimates for these stations are not presented in this study.

0'ahu

On O'ahu, natural low flows are characterized for 11 index stations and 31 measurement sites, and a majority of the estimates are satisfactory based on the regression statistics (table 4, fig. 4, appendix 2). Excluding the measurement sites where flow is ephemeral, the Q_{50} discharges range from 0.23 to 18 ft³/s, and the Q_{95} discharges range from 0 to 11 ft³/s. Three measurement sites-stations 16242500, 16256000, and 213726158004901-have less than 10 concurrent data points with the index stations available for record augmentation. Despite the limited data, the statistical models for these stations yielded satisfactory low-flow duration-discharge estimates with correlation coefficients between 0.88 and 0.98. Records at the measurement sites on Makaleha (16211300), North Hālawa (16226400), Moanalua (16227500, 16228000, and 16228200), Kanahā (16237600), Kaiwiko'ele (16329000), and north fork of 'Elehāhā (213801158011201) Streams indicate that these sites are dry at least 50 percent of the time.

Streamflow data at several measurement sites, mostly short-term and partial-record stations on tributary streams, did not correlate well with concurrent discharges at the available index stations on the island; however, flow-duration discharge estimates are available at long-term stations on the main stream channel of the tributaries to provide at least some definition of low-flow characteristics on those main streams. These streams with available long-term stations where low flows are characterized include Waiawa (16216000), North Hālawa (16226200), and Kaluanui (16304200) Streams; Waihe'e Stream and tributaries (16284000); and Punalu'u Stream and tributaries (16301050). The two partial-record stations-16261000 and 16263000-on Kahanaiki Stream did not have an adequate number of streamflow measurements that span the Q₅₀-Q₉₅ range of flows at the available index stations; therefore, flow-duration discharges could not be estimated for those stations. Low flows at many of the leeward partialrecord stations (see map area A, fig. 4) with streamflow data in 1947-57 could not be characterized because these stations have concurrent measurements with only 4 out of the 11 index stations that operated prior to 1957. No adequate correlations could be developed for any of these four index stations.

Moloka'i

Low flows are characterized for 1 index station and 10 measurement sites on Moloka'i, and a majority of the estimates are satisfactory based on the regression statistics of 43 models that are developed (table 5, fig. 5, appendix 2). Excluding the measurement sites where flow is ephemeral, the Q_{50} discharges range from 0.03 to 17 ft³/s, and the Q_{95} discharges range from 0.02 to 6.2 ft³/s. Long-term station 16403000 on Waiakeakua Stream has statistical models that are developed excluding one data point (appendix 2) that deviated from the relations established by the remainder of the data points. Although estimates at station 16416000 on Puna'ula Gulch are based on eight concurrent data points, the estimates are

Table 3. Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations and partial-record stations on the Island of Kaua'i for base period 1984–2013.

[ft³/s, cubic feet per second; ID, identifier; --, no estimates; >, greater than; <, less than; >, greater than or equal to; <, less than or equal to; font color of discharge value reflects the accuracy of the discharge estimate as represented by a performance rating for the Nash-Sutcliff coefficient of efficiency (NSE, values listed in appendix 2) modified from Moriasi and others (2007) and this performance rating does not apply to discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method; discharge in blue indicates an estimate rated as good with an NSE >0.65 and \leq 1; discharge in black indicates an estimate rated as satisfactory with an NSE >0.50 and \leq 0.65; discharge in red indicates an estimate rated as poor with an NSE \geq 0.36 and \leq 0.50; estimate with an NSE <0.36 is not presented and is indicated with --; discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method is italicized]

	Discharge, in ft³/s, that was equaled or exceeded for the selected percentages of time (from 50 to 95)									
Station ID -	50	55	60	65	70	75	80	85	90	95
				In	dex stations					
16010000	11	9.5	8.4	7.5	6.7	6.0	5.2	4.6	3.9	3.1
16019000	6.0	5.2	4.7	4.2	3.7	3.4	3.0	2.8	2.5	2.2
16068000	27	25	24	22	21	19	18	16	15	13
16071500	1.3	1.2	1.1	0.98	0.89	0.81	0.74	0.66	0.58	0.49
16097500	6.8	6.4	6.1	5.8	5.5	5.2	4.9	4.6	4.3	3.9
16108000	76	70	66	63	59	56	53	50	47	43
		Stations fo	r which reco	rd augmenta	tion was used	l to estimate	duration disc	harges		
16013000	2.6	2.2	2.0	1.7	1.5			0.93		
16017000	7.4	6.3	5.6	5.1	4.3	3.9	3.3	2.9	2.6	2.2
¹ 16063000	43	39	38	35	34	30	29	26	25	22
16081500	0.71	0.67	0.63	0.58	0.54	0.50	0.47	0.43	0.39	0.34
16085500	3.8	3.4	3.1	2.8	2.5	2.3	2.0	1.8	1.6	1.3
16088300	6.0	5.4	5.0	4.6	4.2	3.9	3.5	3.2	2.9	2.5
16088500	2.2	2.1	2.0	1.8	1.7	1.6	1.5	1.4	1.3	1.2
² 16097000	7.1	6.7	6.5	6.0	5.7	5.4	5.2	4.7	4.6	4.3
³ 16101003	63	58	56	52	51	46	45	41	40	37
16103000	137	127	119	113	105	98	92	88	81	73
16115000	7.4	6.8	6.2	5.9	5.6	5.4	5.3	4.9	4.5	4.1
16116000	1.5	1.4	1.2	1.1	0.97	0.89	0.80	0.73	0.65	0.56
16130000				Drv	at least 50 pe	rcent of the t	ime			

¹Natural-flow record based on combined concurrent records at stations 16061000, 16062000, and 16063000, and subtracting concurrent flow record at station 16100000.

²Natural-flow record based on combined concurrent records at stations 16095900 and 16097000, and the combined record consisted of less than 10 complete water years".

³Natural-flow record based on combined concurrent records at stations 16100000 and 16101000.

acceptable because the graphical fit is very well defined with correlation coefficient of 0.92. Stations 16411400 on Kaka'ako Gulch and 16414000 on Kaunakakai Gulch are ephemeral (Fontaine, 1995), and they are dry at least 50 percent of the time. Streamflow data at measurement sites on the tributaries of Pelekunu Stream—Kapuhi, Kawailena, Kawainui, and Pilipililau Streams (see map inset, fig. 5)—did not correlate well with concurrent discharges at the index stations. However, flow-duration estimates at station 16404000 on Pelekunu Stream reflect the combined flow contributions from these tributaries.

Maui

Maui has the greatest number of measurement sites at which flow-duration discharges are estimated. Low flows are characterized for 7 index stations and 41 measurement sites, and a majority of the estimates are rated satisfactory or good based on the regression statistics (table 6, fig. 6, appendix 2). Excluding the measurement sites where flow is ephemeral, the Q_{50} discharges range from 0.12 to 50 ft³/s, and the Q_{95} discharges range from 0 to 32 ft³/s. Flow-duration discharge estimates at partial-record stations located in the western part



Table 4. Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations and partial-record stations on the Island of O'ahu for base period 1984–2013.

[ft³/s, cubic feet per second; ID, identifier; --, no estimates; >, greater than; <, less than; \geq , greater than or equal to; <, less than or equal to; font color of discharge value reflects the accuracy of the discharge estimate as represented by a performance rating for the Nash-Sutcliff coefficient of efficiency (NSE, values listed in appendix 2) modified from Moriasi and others (2007) and this performance rating does not apply to discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method; discharge in blue indicates an estimate rated as good with an NSE >0.65 and \leq 1; discharge in black indicates an estimate rated as satisfactory with an NSE >0.50 and \leq 0.65; discharge in red indicates an estimate rated as poor with an NSE \geq 0.36 and \leq 0.50; estimate with an NSE <0.36 is not presented and is indicated with --; discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method is italicized]

Station ID	Dis	scharge, in f	t ³ /s, that was	equaled or	exceeded fo	or the select	ed percenta	ges of time (from 50 to 95)	1
	50	55	60	65	70	75	80	85	90	95
				Index s	stations					
16200000	6.3	5.5	4.9	4.3	3.7	3.2	2.7	2.2	1.7	1.0
16208000	8.2	7.1	6.2	5.4	4.6	3.9	3.2	2.5	1.8	0.95
16211600	0.23	0.15	0.08	0.03	0	0	0	0	0	0
16226200	0.26	0.16	0.10	0.06	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.01	0	0
16229000	2.4	2.1	1.9	1.7	1.5	1.3	1.2	1.0	0.88	0.70
16240500	3.1	2.9	2.7	2.6	2.4	2.2	2.1	1.9	1.7	1.5
16275000	1.7	1.6	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.4	1.4	1.3	1.3	1.2
16301050	18	18	17	16	16	15	14	14	13	11
16304200	1.3	1.1	0.95	0.82	0.69	0.56	0.45	0.34	0.24	0.13
16330000	3.4	2.9	2.4	2.0	1.6	1.2	0.87	0.53	0.20	0.04
16345000	4.2	3.7	3.1	2.7	2.3	1.9	1.6	1.3	0.93	0.54
	Stat	tions for whi	ch record au	gmentation v	was used to	estimate dui	ration discha	irges		
116201000	4.0	3.6	3.2	2.9	2.6	2.3	2.0	1.6	1.3	0.84
16206000	5.0	4.2	3.6	3.1	2.6	2.2	1.8	1.4	1.0	0.51
² 16211003	2.8	2.5	2.2	1.9	1.6	1.3	1.1	0.95	0.65	
16211300				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
16212800	2.8	2.2	1.8	1.5	1.2	0.84	0.81	0.60	0.40	0.20
16216000	2.7	2.4	2.3	2.0	1.8	1.7	1.6	1.6		
16226000	0.25	0.15	0.10	0.06	0.04	0.02	0.02	0		
16226400				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
16227500				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
16228000				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
16228200				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
16228900	0.70	0.64	0.57	0.51	0.46	0.40	0.35	0.30	0.24	0.16
16229300	3.6	3.2	2.9	2.6	2.3	2.1	1.9	1.6	1.4	1.1
16237600				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
16238500	1.9	1.6	1.4	1.2	1.1	0.90	0.74	0.59	0.44	0.24
16241600	5.4	5.1	4.9	4.6	4.4	4.1	3.8	3.5	3.2	2.6
16242500	5.8	5.0	4.7	4.4	4.0	3.8	3.4	3.2	2.9	2.4
16244000	0.70	0.62	0.56	0.52	0.49	0.45	0.42		0.26	
16256000	0.98	0.77	0.60	0.53	0.40	0.29	0.25	0.18	0.12	0.077
16265600	0.65	0.52	0.47	0.40	0.40	0.34	0.33	0.22	0.21	0.14
16278000	0.52	0.42	0.40	0.40	0.38	0.36	0.35			
16284000	7.9	7.8	7.7	7.6	7.3	7.0	6.9	6.7	6.3	5.9
16308990	0.25	0.23	0.2	0.17	0.15	0.11	0.07	0.05	0.02	0
16325000	2.9	2.6	2.3	2.0	1.7	1.5	1.2	0.95	0.60	0.21
16329000				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
212639157515901	1.8	1.7	1.7	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
									00002 [.]	7

Station ID	Di	scharge, in f	t³/s, that was	equaled or	exceeded fo	r the select	ed percentaç	jes of time (f	from 50 to 95)	
	50	55	60	65	70	75	80	85	90	95
212644157514801	4.4	4.0	3.8	3.8	3.7	3.6	3.3	2.6		
213439157545001	1.1	0.99	0.88	0.78	0.67	0.56	0.47	0.37	0.28	0.17
213503157543201	1.3	1.1	0.94	0.82	0.70	0.57	0.46	0.35	0.25	0.14
213726158004901	1.0	0.94	0.72	0.50	0.31	0.19	0.12	0.10	0.09	
213801158011201				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			

 Table 4.
 Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations and partial-record stations on the Island of O'ahu for base period 1984–2013.—Continued

Station operated as a continuous-record and partial-record station; continuous-record data were used in the low-flow analysis of this study.

²Natural-flow record based on combined concurrent records at stations 16210900 and 16211000.

of west Maui are taken from Cheng (2014) because the base period selected for that study is the same as for this study.

On east Maui, streamflow data at stations on Kukui'ula (16500800) and Hāhālawe (16502000) Gulches did not correlate well with any index stations, most likely owing to the lack of available index stations on the leeward side of the island. Although data at station 16501000 on Palikea Stream did not correlate well with the index stations on the island, its flow contribution is reflected in the flow-duration discharge estimates at station 16501200 on 'Ohe'o Gulch. On west Maui, data at partial-record stations on Waikapū (205121156321501), North Waiehu (205434156315701), and Huluhulupueo (205627156323401) Streams did not correlate well with concurrent discharges at any index stations on the island.

Hawai'i

Low-flow characteristics are characterized for 2 index stations and 12 measurement sites on Hawai'i. For 7 of the measurement sites, a majority of the estimates are satisfactory based on regression statistics from 34 models that are developed (table 7, fig. 7, appendix 2). Excluding the measurement sites where flow is ephemeral, the Q_{50} discharges range from 1.1 to 76 ft³/s, and the Q_{95} discharges range from 0.30 to 36 ft³/s. Models for long-term station 16720300 on Kawaiki Stream are developed, excluding two data points (appendix 2) that deviated from the relations established by the remainder of the data points. Streams at five of the measurement sites are dry at least 50 percent of the time—Wailuku River (16701700), Wai'aha Stream (16759600), and Hīlea (16765000), Nīnole (16767000), and Pā'au'au (16770500) Gulches.

Hawai'i has the greatest number of measurement sites at which low flows could not be characterized, most likely owing to the lack of index stations on the island. Data at measurement sites on Ālia (16717600), Waimā (200351155372801), and Waihīlau (200657155395301) Streams, and streams in the area west of Waihīlau Stream, did not correlate well with the concurrent discharges at index stations. Analysis of stations 16701750 and 16701800 on Wailuku River did not correlate

well with the index stations; however, long-term station 16704000 on Wailuku River is available to provide at least some definition of low-flow characteristics on that stream. Data at short-term station 16700600 on Waiākea Stream at Hoaka Road also did not correlate well with the index stations; however, long-term station 16700000 on the Waiākea Stream near Mountain View is available to provide at least some definition of low-flow characteristics on that stream.

Limitations of Approach

Flow-duration discharges are estimated with the MOVE.1 and graphical-correlation record-augmentation techniques. Ability of the techniques to produce accurate estimates could be limited by (1) availability of index stations on each island, (2) the strength of the correlation between concurrent data points at the index stations and measurement sites, (3) the accuracy of the streamflow record, and (4) the representativeness of the selected base period relative to long-term conditions.

Limited Index Stations

Low-flow characterization using record augmentation is dependent on the correlation of streamflow data between the measurement site and a nearby index station. Therefore, presence of index stations in proximity to measurement sites where low-flow data are available for record augmentation is critical for developing statistical or graphical models that can be used to estimate low-flow duration discharges. The presence of an adequate number of index stations that are distributed throughout various parts of the island is also important for building a broader geographic coverage of low-flow information throughout the island to be used in regional low-flow analysis.

Generally, low-flow characterization of streams on all islands can greatly benefit from additional continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations that can be used as index stations. Since Moloka'i has only one index station on the island, index stations on Maui are also used to estimate low-flow duration discharges at the Moloka'i measurement sites. Some of the





Figure 4.—Continued

000030

Table 5. Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations and partial-record stations on the Island of Moloka'i for base period 1984–2013.

[ft³/s, cubic feet per second; ID, identifier; --, no estimates; >, greater than; <, less than; >, greater than or equal to; <, less than or equal to; font color of discharge value reflects the accuracy of the discharge estimate as represented by a performance rating for the Nash-Sutcliff coefficient of efficiency (NSE, values listed in appendix 2) modified from Moriasi and others (2007) and this performance rating does not apply to discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method; discharge in blue indicates an estimate rated as good with an NSE >0.65 and \leq 1; discharge in black indicates an estimate rated as satisfactory with an NSE >0.50 and \leq 0.55; discharge in red indicates an estimate rated as poor with an NSE \geq 0.36 and \leq 0.50; estimate with an NSE <0.36 is not presented and is indicated with --; discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method is italicized]

Ctation ID		Discharge, in	ı ft³/s, that wa	as equaled or	exceeded fo	r the selecte	d percentage	s of time (fro	m 50 to 95)	
	50	55	60	65	70	75	80	85	90	95
				In	dex stations					
16400000	11	10	9.0	8.0	7.1	6.4	5.7	5.0	4.3	3.5
		Stations fo	or which reco	ord augmenta	tion was use	d to estimate	duration disc	harges		
16402000	17	16	15	13	12	10	9.1	8.3	7.2	6.2
16403000	6.3	5.9	5.6	5.3	5.1	4.9				
¹ 16404000	8.5	8.2	6.9	6.2	6.1	5.5	5.1	4.6	4.2	
16404200	0.95	0.90	0.87	0.80						
16405000	7.4	7.0	6.4	6.2	5.5	4.9				
16408000	9.2			9.0	8.6	7.4	7.4	7.2	6.5	
16411400				Dry a	t least 50 per	cent of the ti	me			
16413000	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
16414000				Dry a	t least 50 per	cent of the ti	me			
² 16416000			0.70	0.53	0.33	0.24	0.16	0.12	0.10	0.08

¹Station operated as a continuous-record and partial-record station; continuous-record data were used in the low-flow analysis of this study.

²Station operated as a continuous-record and partial-record station; partial-record data were used in the low-flow analysis of this study.

models developed with Maui index stations had correlation coefficients less than 0.80 and an NSE rating of poor. Low flows at many measurement sites on Hawai'i could not be characterized because only two index stations are available on the island. Although Maui lacks leeward index stations, low-flow duration discharges at many of the leeward partialrecord stations, especially on the west part of west Maui, are estimated using models developed from data available at windward index stations. However, the accuracy of the estimates could probably be improved by using data at leeward index stations on the island if available. On O'ahu, low flows at many of the leeward partial-record stations with streamflow data in 1947–57 could not be characterized because these stations have concurrent measurements with only 4 out of the 11 index stations that operated prior to 1957, and no adequate correlations could be developed for any of these 4 index stations. The lack of leeward index stations on southeastern Kaua'i, southwestern O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i makes it problematic to accurately characterize low flows there.

Strength of Correlations

The MOVE.1 models provide relatively accurate flowduration estimates as indicated by the occurrence of NSE values greater than 0.50 in about 86 percent of the models for all islands. The NSE values computed as part of this study also indicate that the predictive ability of the models tends to decrease from the Q_{50} to Q_{95} statistic for long-term continuousrecord stations with 10 or more complete years of record during water years 1944–2013. The same comparison could not be made at short-term and partial-record stations because only one model was developed for the entire range of low-flow statistics. Correlation coefficients of the graphical models show a similar decreasing trend. The graphical-correlation technique is mostly applied to estimate lower flow statistics (below the Q_{80} discharge), which implies that the relations for the lower flow statistics in the Q_{50} to Q_{95} range exhibit curvature and that the relations for the higher flow statistics in the Q_{50} to Q_{95} range are linear.

The statistical models used to estimate low-flow duration discharges are generally developed based on 10 or more concurrent data points at the index stations and measurement sites. Models that are developed based on eight or nine concurrent data points yielded satisfactory low-flow duration-discharge estimates with a majority of NSE values greater than 0.80. Only 4 measurement sites out of 107 have extreme outliers that are not used in record augmentation (appendix 2).

Accuracy of Streamflow Record

Regulated-streamflow data at a measurement site are used when a concurrent ditch-flow record is available to reconstruct the natural-streamflow record at the measurement



Table 6. Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations and partial-record stations on the Island of Maui for base period 1984–2013.

[ft³/s, cubic feet per second; ID, identifier; --, no estimates; >, greater than; <, less than; >, greater than or equal to; <, less than or equal to; font color of discharge value reflects the accuracy of the discharge estimate as represented by a performance rating for the Nash-Sutcliff coefficient of efficiency (NSE, values listed in appendix 2) modified from Moriasi and others (2007) and this performance rating does not apply to discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method; discharge in blue indicates an estimate rated as good with an NSE >0.65 and \leq 1; discharge in black indicates an estimate rated as good with an NSE >0.36 and \leq 0.50; estimate with an NSE <0.36 is not presented and is indicated with --; discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method is italicized]

0	Di	scharge, in f	t³/s, that was	equaled or	exceeded fo	or the select	ed percentag	es of time (fi	rom 50 to 95)	
Station ID	50	55	60	65	70	75	80	85	90	95
				Index sta	ations					
16508000	6.2	5.4	4.8	4.3	3.9	3.6	3.2	2.9	2.6	2.2
16518000	8.9	7.8	6.9	6.0	5.2	4.5	3.9	3.4	2.8	2.2
16587000	2.0	1.8	1.6	1.3	1.2	1.0	0.86	0.72	0.60	0.47
16604500	36	33	30	28	26	24	22	20	18	16
16614000	50	48	46	44	42	40	39	37	35	32
16618000	8.0	7.4	6.9	6.4	6.0	5.6	5.2	4.9	4.4	3.9
16620000	21	20	19	17	16	15	14	13	12	11
	Statio	ons for which	n record augi	mentation wa	as used to es	stimate dura	tion discharg	es		
16500100				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
16501200	5.7	4.5	3.3	2.8	2.4	1.7	1.5	1.2		
16510000	4.3	3.6	3.1	2.7	2.3	2.3	1.7	1.5	1.3	0.98
16513000	0.80	0.77	0.75	0.70	0.68	0.65	0.62	0.58	0.54	0.50
16515000	5.2	4.7	4.4	4.2	3.9	3.7	3.4	3.2	2.9	2.5
16516000	6.6	5.5	5.0	4.2	3.8	3.4	3.0	2.7	2.4	2.1
16517000	7.7	6.9	5.9	5.3	4.6	4.2	3.6	3.2	2.8	2.1
16519000	3.8	3.3	3.0	2.5	2.2	1.9	1.6	1.4	1.1	0.75
16520000	3.1	2.7	2.4	2.0	1.7	1.5	1.3	1.1	0.91	0.65
16524000	1.6	1.3	1.1	0.92	0.76	0.62	0.50	0.42	0.32	0.23
16527000	4.9	4.3	3.8	3.1	2.6	2.2	1.8	1.4	1.1	0.73
¹ 16531100	0.43					0.12		0.06		
16542000	0.41	0.32	0.29	0.27	0.25	0.24	0.22	0.21	0.19	0.16
16552600				Dry at	least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
16552800	0.12	0.09	0.07	0.06	0.05	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.02	
16557000	2.5	2.1	1.7	1.5	1.3	1.2	0.96	0.82	0.69	0.53
16565000	2.4	2.1	1.9	1.6	1.3	1.1	0.94	0.82	0.69	0.52
16566000	0.95	0.79	0.69	0.54	0.50	0.42	0.36	0.33	0.26	0.18
16569700	0.73	0.52	0.39	0.29	0.23	0.19	0.14	0.11	0.08	0.06

Station ID	Di	scharge, in f	t³/s, that was	s equaled or	exceeded fo	r the selecte	ed percentag	es of time (f	rom 50 to 95)	
Station ID	50	55	60	65	70	75	80	85	90	95
16570000	14	13	12	9.8	8.6	8.0	7.0	5.6	4.6	3.6
16576200	0.67	0.55	0.47	0.41	0.36	0.32	0.27	0.24	0.20	0.16
16577000	7.8	6.8	5.9	4.9	4.2	3.8	3.2	2.5	2.0	1.4
16585000	4.4	3.9	3.5	2.9	2.6	2.2	1.9	1.6	1.4	1.0
16586000	3.6	3.4	3.1	2.8	2.7	2.4	2.2	1.9	1.7	1.4
16596200	0.87	0.69	0.56	0.44	0.34	0.27	0.21	0.17	0.12	0.08
² 16647000	5.0	4.7	4.5	4.2	4.0	3.8	3.6	3.4	3.2	3.0
16660000				Dry at	t least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
² 205000156355801	6.1	5.6	5.2	4.8	4.5	4.2	4.0	3.7	3.4	3.1
² 205117156365201	0.47	0.45	0.44	0.42	0.41	0.39	0.38	0.37	0.35	0.34
² 205239156372101	9.5	8.6	8.1	7.6	7.1	6.6	6.2	5.7	5.2	4.8
² 205334156382201	4.9	4.8	4.7	4.6	4.5	4.4	4.3	4.2	4.1	4.0
² 205404156372401	5.8	5.7	5.6	5.6	5.4	5.2	4.9	4.3	2.9	2.0
205426156313601	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.4	2.4	2.4	2.3	2.1	2.0
² 205455156394301				Dry at	t least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
² 205511156393401				Dry at	t least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
³ 205545156371601 +205554156370701	5.4	5.1	4.9	4.7	4.5	4.2	4.0	3.8	3.6	3.4
² 205740156385601				Dry at	t least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
² 205844156380501				Dry at	t least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
² 205856156370801	3.8	2.8	2.3	1.7	1.2	0.75	0.40	0	0	0
² 205921156370101				Dry at	t least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			
² 205938156382201				Dry at	t least 50 per	cent of the t	ime			

 Table 6.
 Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations and partial-record stations on the

 Island of Maui for base period 1984–2013.—Continued

¹Natural-flow record based on combined concurrent records at stations 16531000 and 16531100.

²Discharge estimates from Cheng (2014).

³Discharge estimates apply to the confluence of Amalu and Kapaloa Streams.



28 Low-Flow Characteristics for Streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i, State of Hawa'i

 Table 7.
 Selected natural low-flow duration estimates at continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations and partial-record stations on the Island of Hawai'i for base period 1984–2013.

[ft³/s, cubic feet per second; ID, identifier; --, no estimates; >, greater than; <, less than; >, greater than or equal to; <, less than or equal to; font color of discharge value reflects the accuracy of the discharge estimate as represented by a performance rating for the Nash-Sutcliff coefficient of efficiency (NSE, values listed in appendix 2) modified from Moriasi and others (2007) and this performance rating does not apply to discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method; discharge in blue indicates an estimate rated as good with an NSE >0.65 and \leq 1; discharge in black indicates an estimate rated as satisfactory with an NSE >0.50 and \leq 0.55; discharge in red indicates an estimate rated as poor with an NSE \geq 0.36 and \leq 0.50; estimate with an NSE <0.36 is not presented and is indicated with --; discharge estimated using the graphical-correlation record-augmentation method is italicized]

0	Di	ischarge, in f	ft³/s, that wa	s equaled or	exceeded fo	or the select	ed percentaç	ges of time (f	rom 50 to 95)
Station ID –	50	55	60	65	70	75	80	85	90	95
				Index	stations					
16717000	40	35	30	26	22	19	16	14	11	8.5
16720000	4.2	3.2	2.5	2.0	1.6	1.2	0.97	0.71	0.51	0.30
	Sta	ations for whi	ich record au	ugmentation	was used to	estimate dur	ration discha	irges		
16700000	8.4	7.1	6.0	5.4	4.5	3.5	2.8	2.5		
16701700				Dry a	t least 50 per	rcent of the t	ime			
16704000	76	63	49	38	30	23	17	14	9.0	
16717800	8.6	7.4	6.0	5.1	4.0					
16720300	1.1	0.90	0.68	0.60	0.50	0.40				
16725000	2.2	1.7	1.3	1.2						
16737500	72	49	44	44	43	42	42	41	39	36
16759600				Dry a	t least 50 per	rcent of the t	ime			
16765000				Dry a	t least 50 per	rcent of the t	ime			
16767000				Dry a	t least 50 per	rcent of the t	ime			
16770500				Dry a	t least 50 per	rcent of the t	ime			
200505155383801	34	32	29	26	24	22	20	18	16	13

site. This technique is applicable only for cases in which the ditch-flow record reflects diverted flow at the diversion intake. Documented averages of diverted flow published in other studies are not used in this study to avoid additional errors in the reconstructed record that could affect the accuracy of the flow-duration discharge estimates. Streamflow records for five continuous-record stations reflect regulated flow-stations 16063000, 16097000, and 16101003 on Kaua'i, station 16211003 on O'ahu, and station 16531100 on Maui. The natural-streamflow records at these stations are reconstructed by combining with the concurrent daily means from ditchflow stations. Flow-duration estimates at stations 16063000, 16101003, and 16211003 are satisfactory with most of the NSE values greater than 0.50. However, the flow-duration estimates at stations 16097000 and 16531100 are poor because the reconstructed natural-flow records may not accurately reflect the actual natural flows in the streams. This could occur when the ditch-flow record is not representative of the actual amount of flow diverted, which could result from (1) unreported pumpage of water from another stream that was added to the ditch or (2) ditch flow released downstream from the gaged location.

Continuous records of discharge at gaging stations are determined by applying a stage-discharge relation to records of stage (height of water surface). A stage-discharge relation is a plot of periodic streamflow measurements and concurrent stage measurements. Streamflow measurements should cover the interested range of stage to avoid extrapolation of the data. Two important attributes of a gaging-station control—permanence and sensitivity—govern the stage-discharge relation and consequently affect the accuracy of the streamflow record. A stable control is one that is structurally permanent and does not alter during changing flow conditions. If a control is unstable, the stage-discharge relation is subject to change, and frequent measurements of streamflow and stage are needed to continually recalibrate the stage-discharge relation, which may affect the accuracy of the streamflow record.

Factors that could contribute to streamflow-measurement errors include, but are not limited to, the condition of the measuring instrument and instrument error, characteristics of the measurement cross section, spacing and number of observation verticals in a cross section, changing stage during the measurement, flow depth and velocity, and environment (Rantz and others, 1982, p. 179–180). A rating of excellent, good, fair, or poor is assigned to each discharge measurement by the field technician based on these factors that could potentially affect the accuracy of the measurement. Some of the historic streamflow measurements used in this study are not rated because the rating system was not yet developed. For streamflow measurements that are rated and are used in this study, they were generally rated good or fair.



Representation of Long-Term Flow Conditions

Flow-duration statistics at the index station and the measurement sites are applicable to the base period, 30-year period 1984–2013, over which they have been computed. To assess whether flow-duration statistics at the index stations provide estimates of streamflow characteristics at the measurement sites that are representative of long-term flow conditions, the Q_{50} to Q_{95} discharges for the base period are compared to those calculated using all the data available during the period 1944–2013 (table 8). This comparison could not be done using data from index stations 16226200, 16604500, and 16614000 because a longer period of record was not available. Duration discharges at all except the index stations on He'eia Stream (16275000) and Mākaha Stream (16211600), O'ahu, averaged less than 10-percent difference for the Q_{50} to Q_{95} discharges between the 30-year base period and the long term periods, and duration discharges at 15 of the stations averaged less than 5-percent difference. Duration discharges at the following seven index stations averaged between 5- and 10-percent difference: stations 16010000, 16019000, and 16071500 on Kaua'i; stations 16240500 and 16330000 on O'ahu; station 16400000 on Moloka'i: and station 16618000 on Maui. Whether the statistics at the index stations with differences averaging over 5 percent provide estimates of streamflow characteristics at the measurement sites that are representative of long-term streamflow conditions is less certain. Extrapolation of flow-duration statistics to future conditions assumes that the hydrologic condition that occurred during the base period will be representative of those in the future.

Additional Data Collection

Streamflow data are scarce in the leeward areas for all five islands probably because many leeward streams are dry or have minimal flow. Additional measurements are needed to determine which streams in these leeward areas are ephemeral; the data can be used in conjunction with logistic regression methods (Helsel and Hirsch, 2002) to determine the probability that these streams are dry during low-flow periods. Additional streamflow measurements at miscellaneous sites with less than 10 streamflow measurements, located in southeastern Kaua'i, in streams affected by the Waiahole Ditch, and in northeastern Hawai'i, would allow for record augmentation to be applied at these sites for estimating flow-duration discharges. Other under-represented areas include central O'ahu, central Maui, and southeastern Maui. Both Moloka'i and Hawai'i would greatly benefit from additional partialrecord stations and continuous-record stations for monitoring natural streamflow. Low-flow characterization of streams on all islands can also greatly benefit from additional continuousrecord streamflow-gaging stations that can be used as index stations.

Summary

Land-use and water-diversion changes have significantly altered the hydrology of the Hawaiian Islands. Over the 20th century, surface-water use in the State of Hawai'i has generally shifted from providing irrigation water for large-scale agricultural operations to supporting diversified agriculture, urban developments, and other uses. Today, the use of stream water for agriculture, protection of traditional and customary Hawaiian rights, maintenance of ecologic balance, aesthetic qualities of streams, and recreational use of the streams are factors that play a role in planning and management decisions by many agencies. During low-flow conditions, the amount of surface water available may be insufficient to support all these different surface-water uses. Therefore, documentation of water availability during low-flow conditions is important for identifying critical areas that affect both mankind and aquatic species, and for developing plans to mitigate negative impacts to the resource.

The purposes of this study are to (1) characterize natural streamflow under low-flow conditions for streams with existing streamflow data at gaged sites and (2) to identify streams in under-represented geographical areas for additional data collection. As part of this study, estimates of low-flow duration discharges will be incorporated into StreamStats. Statistical and graphical models are developed to estimate natural streamflow under low-flow conditions for streams with existing streamflow data at measurement sites on the main Hawaiian Islands. Measurement sites include continuousrecord gaging stations with 10 or more complete years of data during water years 1944–2013, continuous-record gaging stations with less than 10 complete years of data during water years 1944–2013, and partial-record stations with streamflow measurement data during water years 1944-2013. Streamflow statistics used to describe low flows are flow-duration discharges that are equaled or exceeded between 50 and 95 percent of the time (between Q50 and Q95 discharges) during a 30-year base period 1984–2013. Two record-augmentation techniques, MOVE.1 and graphical-correlation techniques, are used to develop statistical and graphical models between concurrent streamflow data at the measurement sites and nearby long-term continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations that were in operation during essentially all the study period (index station). Existing data, subsequent low-flow analyses of the available data, as well as an inventory of the available seepage analyses help to identify streams in under-represented geographic areas and hydrogeologic settings that will be considered for additional data collection.

Low-flow duration discharges are estimated for 107 measurement sites and 27 index stations. The numbers of measurement sites with duration-discharge estimates for each island are Kaua'i, 13; O'ahu, 31; Moloka'i, 10; Maui, 41; and Hawai'i, 12. A majority of the flow-duration estimates are satisfactory based on correlation coefficients and modified

	_
- 2	_
	=
	so.
	5
	<
	\leq
	σ
	<u> </u>
	<u> </u>
	÷
	0
	-
	d b
	ч.
	-
	σ
	تن
	5
	"
	~~
	0,
	-
	-
	0
	-
	B
	÷Ť.
	10
	~
	~
	~
	CD
	≝.
	0
	Ē
	<u> </u>
•	_
	-
	Ξ
	. u
	3
	0
	Ξ.
	0
	-
	<u> </u>
	d D
	<u>ب</u>
	0
	_
	0
	Ξ.
	e
	Ē
	ċ٦
	~
	e
	_
	d D
	~
	õ
	š
	Ľ S
	or se
	for se
,	tor se
	s tor se
	is for Se
	es tor se
	jes tor se
	ges tor se
	rges tor se
•	arges tor se
	narges tor se
	harges tor se
	charges tor se
	icharges for se
	scharges tor se
	ischarges for se
	discharges for se
	discharges for se
	l discharges for se
	In discharges for se
	on discharges for se
	ion discharges for se
	tion discharges for se
	ation discharges for se
	ation discharges for se
	iration discharges for se
	uration discharges for se
	luration discharges for se
	duration discharges for se
	-duration discharges for set
	v-duration discharges for se
	w-duration discharges for se
	ow-duration discharges for se
	ow-duration discharges for se
	flow-duration discharges for se
	flow-duration discharges for se
	1 flow-duration discharges for set
	d flow-duration discharges for se
	ed flow-duration discharges for se
	ted flow-duration discharges for se
	sted flow-duration discharges for se
	cted flow-duration discharges for se
	ected flow-duration discharges for se
	ected flow-duration discharges for se
	elected flow-duration discharges for se
	elected flow-duration discharges for se
	selected flow-duration discharges for se
	Selected flow-duration discharges for se
	Selected flow-duration discharges for se
	Selected flow-duration discharges for se
	Selected flow-duration discharges for se
	 Selected flow-duration discharges for set
	 Selected flow-duration discharges for set
	 Selected flow-duration discharges for set
	e 8. Selected flow-duration discharges for se
	le 8. Selected flow-duration discharges for se
	ile 8. Selected flow-duration discharges for set
	ble 8. Selected flow-duration discharges for se
	able 8. Selected flow-duration discharges for se
	able 8. Selected flow-duration discharges for se

[ft³/s, cubic feet per second; abv, above; alt, altutide; E, East; EB, East Branch; ft, feet; N, North; NF, North Fork; nr, near; RB, Right Bank; SF, South Fork; Str, Stream; a water year is a 12-month period that extends from October 1 to September 30 of the following year and is named according to the year during which the period ends; database limitations preclude the use of

Hawahan diachncai marks in USUS	station names										
Water years used to com-	Length of record		Discharge, in	ft³/s, that we	as equaled o	' exceeded 1	or the select	ted percentaç	ges of time (f	rom 50 to 95)	
pute selecteu now-uuration discharges	in years	20	55	60	65	70	75	80	85	06	95
			16010000	Kawaikoi Str	eam nr Wair	nea, Kauai, F	=				
1944-2013	70	12	11	9.3	8.2	7.3	6.5	5.6	4.9	4.1	3.2
1984–2013	30	11	9.5	8.4	7.5	6.7	6.0	5.2	4.6	3.9	3.1
			16019000 Wa	alae Str at a	lt 3,820 ft nr \	Vaimea, Kau	ai, HI				
1953-2013	61	6.5	5.8	5.1	4.5	4.0	3.6	3.3	2.9	2.6	2.2
1984–2013	30	6.0	5.2	4.7	4.2	3.7	3.4	3.0	2.8	2.5	2.2
			16068000 E	B of NF Wai	lua River nr L	ihue, Kauai,	E				
1944–2013	70	29	27	25	23	22	20	18	17	15	13
1984–2013	30	27	25	24	22	21	19	18	16	15	13
			16071500 Le	ft Branch Op	aekaa Str nr	Kapaa, Kaua	ii, HI				
1961–2013	53	1.6	1.4	1.3	1.1	1.0	0.88	0.79	0.70	09.0	0.49
1984–2013	30	1.3	1.2	1.1	0.98	0.89	0.81	0.74	0.66	0.58	0.49
			16097500 Ha	aulani Str at	alt 400 ft nr ŀ	cilauea, Kau	ai, HI				
1959–2013	51	7.1	6.7	6.4	6.0	5.7	5.4	5.1	4.8	4.4	4.0
1984–2013	30	6.8	6.4	6.1	5.8	5.5	5.2	4.9	4.6	4.3	3.9
			1610800	0 Wainiha Ri	iver nr Hanal	ei, Kauai, HI					
1953-55, 1959-2013	51	77	72	68	64	60	57	54	51	48	44
1984–2013	30	76	70	99	63	59	56	53	50	47	43
		16	200000 NF Ka	ukonahua S	tr abv RB, nr	Wahiawa, 0	ahu, HI				
1944-52, 1961-2013	62	6.3	5.5	4.8	4.2	3.6	3.1	2.6	2.1	1.6	0.92
1984–2013	30	6.3	5.5	4.9	4.3	3.7	3.2	2.7	2.2	1.7	1.0
		162	08000 SF Kau	konahua Str	at E pump, n	r Wahiawa,	Oahu, HI				
1958-62, 1965-2013 ¹	45	8.4	7.3	6.3	5.5	4.7	4.0	3.3	2.6	1.9	1.1
1984–2013 ¹	30	8.2	7.1	6.2	5.4	4.6	3.9	3.2	2.5	1.8	0.95
			162116	00 Makaha S	Str nr Makah	a, Oahu, HI					
1960-2013	54	0.40	0.31	0.24	0.18	0.12	0.06	0.02	0	0	0
1984–2013	30	0.23	0.15	0.08	0.03	0	0	0	0	0	0
			1622620	0 N. Halawa	Str nr Honolı	ılu, Oahu, HI					
1984–2013	30	0.26	0.16	0.10	0.06	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.01	0	0

ပ	
awai'i.–	
of Ha	
State (
stations,	
index	
ls at	
perioc	
cted	
sele	
for	
rges	
ische	
ion d	
durat	
low-(
ted f	
Selec	
Table 8.	

Water years used to com-	Length of		Discharge, in	ft³/s, that wa	s equaled or	exceeded fo	or the select	ed percenta	ges of time (f	rom 50 to 95)	
pute selecteu now-auration discharges	recoru, — in years	20	55	60	65	70	75	80	85	06	95
			16229	000 Kalihi Str	nr Honolulu	Oahu, HI					
1944-2013	70	2.4	2.2	1.9	1.7	1.5	1.3	1.2	1.0	0.82	0.60
1984–2013	30	2.4	2.1	1.9	1.7	1.5	1.3	1.2	1.0	0.88	0.70
			16240500	Waiakeakua	Str at Honol	ulu, Oahu, HI					
1944-2013	70	3.3	3.1	2.9	2.8	2.6	2.4	2.2	2.0	1.8	1.5
1984–2013	30	3.1	2.9	2.7	2.6	2.4	2.2	2.1	1.9	1.7	1.5
		162	275000 Heeia	Stream at Ha	iiku Valley nr	Kaneohe, O	ahu, HI				
1944–77, 1983–2013	69	1.6	1.5	1.4	1.4	1.3	1.3	1.2	1.1	0.99	0.67
1984–2013	30	1.7	1.6	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.4	1.4	1.3	1.3	1.2
		-	6301050 Pun	aluu Str abv F	unaluu Ditc	n Intake, Oah	u, HI				
1954-2013	59	19	18	18	17	16	15	15	14	13	12
1984–2013	30	18	18	17	16	16	15	14	14	13	11
			16304200	Kaluanui Str	eam nr Puna	luu, Oahu, HI					
1968-2013	46	1.3	1.1	0.96	0.83	0.69	0.57	0.45	0.35	0.25	0.13
1984–2013	30	1.3	1.1	0.95	0.82	0.69	0.56	0.45	0.34	0.24	0.13
			16330000	Kamananui S	itr at Mauna	vai, Oahu, H					
1959–2013	55	3.6	3.0	2.5	2.1	1.6	1.3	0.91	0.58	0.25	0.040
1984–2013	30	3.4	2.9	2.4	2.0	1.6	1.2	0.87	0.53	0.20	0.040
			1634500	00 Opaeula St	r nr Wahiaw	a, Oahu, HI					
1960-2013	54	4.3	3.7	3.2	2.7	2.3	1.9	1.6	1.3	0.92	0.55
1984–2013	30	4.2	3.7	3.1	2.7	2.3	1.9	1.6	1.3	0.93	0.54
			16400000 H	alawa Strear	n near Halav	va, Molokai,	H				
1944–2013	70	12	11	9.6	8.6	7.7	6.8	6.1	5.3	4.4	3.5
1984–2013	30	11	10	9.0	8.0	7.1	6.4	5.7	5.0	4.3	3.5
			16508000	Hanawi Stre	am near Nah	iku, Maui, H					
1944–2013	70	6.2	5.5	5.0	4.4	4.0	3.7	3.3	2.9	2.6	2.2
1984–2013	30	6.2	5.4	4.8	4.3	3.9	3.6	3.2	2.9	2.6	2.2
			16518000 We	st Wailuaiki S	tream near	<еапае, Маı	i, HI				
1944–2013	70	9.0	8.0	7.1	6.3	5.6	4.9	4.2	3.6	3.0	2.3
1984–2013	30	8.9	7.8	6.9	6.0	5.2	4.5	3.9	3.4	2.8	2.2
			16587000	Honopou Str	eam near Hu	elo, Maui, H					
1944–2013	70	2.1	1.9	1.6	1.4	1.2	1.1	06.0	0.74	0.63	0.47
1984-2013	30	2.0	1.8	1.6	1.3	1.2	1.0	0.86	0.72	0.60	0.47

Water years used to com-	Length of		Discharge, ir	I ft³/s, that we	as equaled c	r exceeded	for the selec	ted percenta	ges of time (f	rom 50 to 95)	
pute selecteu now-uuration discharges	in years	20	55	09	65	70	75	80	85	90	95
		166	04500 Wailuk	u River at Ke	paniwai Par	k nr Wailuku,	Maui, HI				
1984-2013	30	36	33	30	28	26	24	22	20	18	16
		-	6614000 Wail	nee River at [Jam near W	aihee, Maui,	Hawaii				
1984–2013 ¹	30	50	48	46	44	42	40	39	37	35	32
			16618000 Ka	hakuloa Stre	am near Hor	nokohau, Ma	ui, HI				
1948-70, 1976-2013	61	8.4	7.8	7.3	6.8	6.4	6.0	5.7	5.3	4.8	4.2
1984–2013	30	8.0	7.4	6.9	6.4	6.0	5.6	5.2	4.9	4.4	3.9
			16620000 Ho	nokohau Stre	eam near Ho	nokohau, Ma	ui, HI				
1944–2013 ¹	70	21	20	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	11
1984–20131	30	21	20	19	17	16	15	14	13	12	11
			1671	7000 Honolii S	Stream nr Pa	paikou, HI					
1968-2013	46	39	34	30	26	22	19	16	13	11	8.0
1984–2013	30	40	35	30	26	22	19	16	14	11	8.5
			16720	000 Kawainui	i Stream nr k	(amuela, HI					
1965–2013	49	4.2	3.2	2.5	2.0	1.6	1.2	0.96	0.71	0.50	0.30
1984–2013	30	4.2	3.2	2.5	2.0	1.6	1.2	0.97	0.71	0.51	0.30
¹ Selected flow-duration discharge	es computed fro	m index sta	tion streamflow	w records that]	have been ext	ended.					

ontinu
ت
vai'i.
f Ha∖
tate c
ons, S
static
index
ls at
erioc
cted p
sele
es for
harge
disc
ration
w-du
olf be
Selecte
able 8.

Nash-Sutcliff coefficients of efficiency used to evaluate the statistical models. About 93 percent of the models have correlation coefficients 0.80 and higher and about 58 percent of them 0.90 and higher.

Low-flow characterization of streams on all islands can greatly benefit from additional continuous-record streamflow-gaging stations that can be used as index stations. The Islands of Moloka'i and Hawai'i have the fewest number of measurement sites (that are not located on ephemeral stream reaches) at which flow-duration discharges are estimated, which is probably related to the limited number of index stations available on these islands. Low flows at many of the leeward partial-record stations on O'ahu with streamflow data during 1947-57 could not be characterized because these stations have concurrent measurements with only 4 out of the 11 index stations that operated prior to 1957 and no adequate correlations could be developed for any of these 4 index stations. Index stations are scarce in the leeward areas for all five islands and this presents a difficulty in applying record-augmentation for characterizing low flows for nonephemeral streams in the leeward areas when more streamflow data become available. Other under-represented areas include central O'ahu, central Maui, and southeastern Maui.

References Cited

- American Society of Civil Engineers, 1993, Criteria for evaluation of watershed models: Journal of Irrigation Drainage Engineering, v. 119, no. 3, p. 429–442.
- Bassiouni, M., and Oki, D.S., 2013, Trends and shifts in streamflow in Hawai'i, 1913–2008: Hydrologic Processes, v. 27, no. 10, p. 1484–1500.
- Blumenstock, D.I., and Price, Saul, 1967, Climates of the States-Hawaii: U.S. Department of Commerce, Climatography of the United States, no. 60–51, 27 p.
- Cheng, C.L, 2014, Low-flow characteristics of streams in the Lahaina District, West Maui, Hawai'i: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2014–5087, 58 p., http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20145087.
- Cheng, C.L., and Wolff, R.H., 2012, Availability and distribution of low flow in Anahola Stream, Kaua'i, Hawai'i:
 U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2012–5264, 32 p.
- Curran, C.A., Eng, Ken, and Konrad, C.P., 2012, Analysis of low flows and selected methods for estimating low-flow characteristics at partial-record and ungaged stream sites in western Washington: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2012–5078, 46 p.

- Eng, K., Kiang, J.E., Chen, Y.-Y., Carlisle, D.M., and Granato, G.E., 2011, Causes of systematic over- or underestimation of low streamflows by use of index-streamgage approaches in the United States: Hydrological Processes, v. 25, no. 14, p. 2211–2220.
- Fontaine, R.A., 1995, Evaluation of the surface-water quantity, surface-water quality, and rainfall data-collection programs in Hawaii, 1994: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 05–4212, 125 p.
- Fontaine, R.A., 2003, Availability and distribution of base flow in lower Honokohau Stream, island of Maui, Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 03–4060, 37 p.
- Fontaine, R.A., 2012, Low-flow characteristics of streams under natural and diversion conditions, Waipi'o Valley, Island of Hawai'i, Hawai'i: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2011–5118, 80 p.
- Fontaine, R.A., Wong, M.F., and Matsuoka, Iwao, 1992, Estimation of median streamflows at perennial stream sites in Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 92–4009, 37 p.
- Giambelluca, T.W., Chen, Q., Frazier, A.G., Price, J.P., Chen, Y.-L., Chu, P.-S., Eischeid, J., and Delparte, D., 2013, Online rainfall atlas of Hawai'i: Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, v. 94, p. 313–316, doi:10.1175/ BAMS-D-11-00228.1.
- Giambelluca, T.W., and Schroeder, T.A., 1998, Climate, *in* Juvik, S.P., and Juvik, J.O., eds., Atlas of Hawai'i (3d ed.): Honolulu, University of Hawai'i Press, p. 49–59.
- Gingerich, S.B., 2005, Median and low-flow characteristics for streams under natural and diverted conditions, northeast Maui, Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2004–5262, 72 p.
- Gingerich, S.B., and Wolff, R.H., 2005, Effects of surfacewater diversions on habitat availability for native macrofauna, northeast Maui, Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2005–5213, 93 p.
- Granato, G.E., 2009, Computer programs for obtaining and analyzing daily mean streamflow data from the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Information System Web Site: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2008–1362, 123 p.
- Hawaii Cooperative Park Service Unit, 1990, Hawaii stream assessment; a preliminary appraisal of Hawaii's stream resources: State of Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources, Commission on Water Resource Management, Report R84, 294 p.

- Helsel, D.R., and Hirsch, R.M., 2002, Statistical methods in water resources—Hydrologic analysis and interpretation: Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations of the U.S. Geological Survey, chap. A3, book 4, 510 p.
- Hirsch, R.M., 1982, A comparison of four streamflow record extension techniques: Water Resources Research, v. 18, no. 4, p. 1081–1088.
- Hirsch, R.M., and Gilroy, E.J., 1984, Methods of fitting a straight line to data—examples in water resources: Water Resources Bulletin, v. 20, no. 5, p. 705–711.
- Juvik, S., and Juvik, J., 1998, Atlas of Hawai'i (3d ed.): Honolulu, University of Hawai'i Press, 333 p.
- Langenheim, V.A.M., and Clague, D.A., 1987, The Hawaiian Emperor volcanic chain; Part II, Stratigraphic framework of volcanic rocks of the Hawaiian Islands, *in* Decker, R.W., Wright, T.L., and Stauffer, P.H., eds., Volcanism in Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1350, v. 1, p. 55–84.
- Legates, D.R., and McCabe, G.J., 1999, Evaluating the use of "goodness-of-fit" measures in hydrologic and hydroclimatic model validation: Water Resources Research, v. 35, no.1, p. 233–241.
- Loaiciga, H.A., 1989, Variability of empirical flow quantiles: Journal of Hydraulic Engineering, American Society of Civil Engineers, v. 115, no. 1, p. 82–100.
- Miike, L.H., 2004, Water and the law in Hawai'i: Honolulu, University of Hawai'i Press, 264 p.
- Moriasi, D.N., Arnold, J.G., Van Liew, M.W., Bingner, R.L., Harmel, R.D., and Vieth, T.L., 2007, Model evaluation guidelines for systematic quantification of accuracy in watershed simulations: American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, v. 50, no. 3, p. 885–900.
- Motovilov, Y.G., Gottschalk, L., England, K., and Rodhe, A., 1999, Validation of distributed hydrological model against spatial observations: Agricultural Forest Meteorology, v. 98–99, p. 257–277.
- Oki, D.S., Wolff, R.H., and Perreault, J.A., 2006, Effects of surface-water diversion and ground-water withdrawal on streamflow and habitat, Punaluu Stream, Oahu, Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey, Scientific Investigations Report 2006–5153, 104 p.
- Oki, D.S., Rosa, S.N., and Yeung, C.W., 2010a, Flood-frequency estimates for streams on Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i, State of Hawai'i: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2010–5035, 121 p.

- Oki, D.S., Wolff, R.H., and Perreault, J.A., 2010b, Effects of surface-water diversion on streamflow, recharge, physical habitat, and temperature, Nā Wai 'Ehā, Maui, Hawai'i: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2010–5011, 154 p.
- Rantz, S.E., and others, 1982, Measurement and computation of streamflow, volumes 1 and 2: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2175, 631 p.
- Ries, K.G., III, 1993, Estimation of low-flow duration discharges in Massachusetts: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 93–38, 59 p.
- Ries, K.G., III, and Friesz, P.J., 2000, Methods for estimating low-flow statistics for Massachusetts streams: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 00–4135, 81 p.
- Ries, K.G, III, Steeves, P.A, Coles, J.D., Rea, A.H., and Stewart, D.W., 2005, StreamStats—A U.S. Geological Survey web application for stream information: U.S. Geological Survey Fact Sheet 2004–3115, 4 p.
- Rosa, S.N., and Oki, D.S., 2010, Hawaii StreamStats; a web application for defining drainage-basin characteristics and estimating peak-streamflow statistics: U.S. Geological Survey Fact Sheet 2010–3052, 4 p.
- Schroeder, T.A., 1993, Climate controls, *in* Sanderson, M., ed., Prevailing trade winds, weather and climate in Hawai'i: Honolulu, University of Hawai'i Press, p. 12–36.
- Searcy, J.K., 1959, Flow-duration curves, manual of hydrology—part 2; Low-flow techniques: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1542–A, 33 p.
- Sevat, E., and Dezetter, A., 1991, Selection of calibration objective functions in the context of rainfall-runoff modeling in a Sudanese savannah area: Hydrological Sciences Journal, v. 36, no. 4, p. 307–330.
- Smakhtin, V.U., 2001, Low flow hydrology, a review: Journal of Hydrology, v. 240, no. 3–4, p. 147–186.
- State of Hawai'i, 2000, The State of Hawaii data book 2000, a statistical abstract: State of Hawai'i, Department of Business, Economic Development, and Tourism, accessed January 12, 2015, at http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/economic/databook/db2000/.
- State of Hawai'i, 2001, Petitions to Amend the Interim Instream Flow Standard for 27 Streams in East Maui: Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources, Commission on Water Resource Management, accessed September 5, 2012, at http://hawaii.gov/dlnr/cwrm/act_ Petition27EastMaui.htm.

36 Low-Flow Characteristics for Streams on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i, State of Hawa'i

- State of Hawai'i, 2004, Petitions to amend the interim instream flow standard for Waihee, North and South Waiehu, Iao, and Waikapu Streams and their tributaries: Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources, Commission on Water Resource Management, accessed September 5, 2012, at http://hawaii.gov/dlnr/cwrm/act_ PetitionNaWaiEha.htm.
- State of Hawai'i, 2007, Report to the Twenty-Fourth Legislature 2008 Regular Session on identification of rivers and streams worthy of protection: Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources, Commission on Water Resource Management, 13 p.
- State of Hawai'i, 2014, The State of Hawaii data book 2013, a statistical abstract: State of Hawai'i, Department of Business, Economic Development, and Tourism, accessed January 9, 2015 at http://files.hawaii.gov/dbedt/economic/ databook/db2013/db2013.pdf.
- Stearns, H.T., and Macdonald, G.A., 1942, Geology and ground-water resources of the island of Maui, Hawaii: Hawai'i Division of Hydrology Bulletin 7, 344 p.

- Strauch, A.M., MacKenzie, R.A., Giardina, C.P., and Bruland, G.L., 2015, Climate driven changes to rainfall and streamflow patterns in a model tropical island hydrological system: Journal of Hydrology, v. 523, p. 160–169.
- Vogel, R.M., and Stedinger, J.R., 1985, Minimum variance streamflow record augmentation procedures: Water Resources Research, v. 21, no. 5, p. 715–723.
- Vogel, R.M., and Fennessey, N.M., 1995, Flow duration curves II; A review of applications in water resources planning: Water Resources Bulletin, v. 31, no. 6, p. 1029–1039.
- Wilcox, C., 1996, Sugar water; Hawaii's plantation ditches: Honolulu, University of Hawai'i Press, 191 p.
- Yamanaga, George, 1972, Evaluation of the streamflow-data program in Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 72–453, 37 p.
- Yeung, C.W., and Fontaine, R.A., 2007, Natural and diverted low-flow duration discharges for streams affected by the Waiāhole Ditch System, windward Oʻahu, Hawaiʻi: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2006– 5285, 75 p.

Menlo Park Publishing Service Center, California Manuscript approval date July 19, 2016 Edited by Jessica Dyke Design and layout by Vivian Nguyen

000045

ISSN 2328-0328 (online) http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20165103

000046

Appendix 1. Station Numbers, Names, Station Type, Period of Record, and Record Length of Measurement Sites Used in this Study, State of Hawai'i.

[Index stations are in green font; ab, above; abv, above; alt, altitude; Bdry, Boundary; bl, below; blw, below; Br, Branch; conf, confluence; confl, confluence; div, diversion; Dr, Drive; DS, downstream; E, East; EB, East Branch; fr, from; ft, feet; HI, Hawai'i; ID, identification; L, left; L., Lower; LB, Left Branch; mi, mile; Mil, Military; N, North; na, not applicable; NF, North Fork; No, number; nr, near; P, present (2013); PL, pipeline; Quar, Quarantine; R, Right; RB, Right Branch; Rd, Road; SF, South Fork; stn, station; Str, Stream; Trib, Tributary; tun, tunnel; US, upstream; w, with; W, West; WF, West Fork; CT-A, continuous-record streamflow-gaging station in operation during 2013; CT-I, discontinued continuous-record streamflow-gaging station; Ditch, discontinued ditch-flow gaging station; PR, partial-record station; Period of record includes all calendar years with discharge data in the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Information System database, regardless of completeness of record during each of those calendar years; Years of record is the number of water years of complete continuous record as of the end of 2013 water year; database limitations preclude the use of Hawaiian diacritical marks in USGS station names]

Station ID	Station name	Station	Aspect	Period of record Years of		Flow classification	
		type			record		
		Kaua	i				
16010000	Kawaikoi Stream nr Waimea, Kauai, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1909–16, 1919–P	96	Natural	
16013000	Mohihi Stream at alt 3420 ft nr Waimea, Kauai, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1920–26, 1936–71	40	Regulated since 7/1970	
16017000	Koaie Stream at alt 3770 ft near Waimea, Kauai, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1919–32, 1954–68	26	Natural	
16019000	Waialae Str at alt 3,820 ft nr Waimea, Kauai, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1920–32, 1952–P	72	Natural	
16029500	Mokihana Stream nr Waimea, Kauai, HI	PR	Leeward	1962, 1964–67, 1969–83	na	Natural	
16061000	North Wailua Ditch nr Lihue, Kauai, HI	Ditch	Windward	1932–85	53	Regulated	
16062000	Stable Storm Ditch nr Lihue, Kauai, HI	Ditch	Windward	1937–2002	65	Regulated	
¹ 16063000	NF Wailua River at alt 650 ft nr Lihue, Kauai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1914–85	69	Regulated	
16068000	EB of NF Wailua River nr Lihue, Kauai, HI	CT-A	Windward	1912–P	98	Natural	
16071500	Left Branch Opaekaa Str nr Kapaa, Kauai, HI	CT-A	Windward	1960–P	53	Natural	
16081500	Unnamed Tributary abv Kaneha Reservoir, Kauai, HI	PR	Windward	2011-12	na	Natural	
16085500	Anahola Str abv upper ditch intake, Kauai, HI	PR	Windward	2011-12	na	Natural	
16088300	Anahola Str nr Keaoopu Trib confl., Kauai, HI	PR	Windward	2011-12	na	Natural	
16088500	Keaoopu Trib nr Anahola Str conf., Kauai, HI	PR	Windward	2011-12	na	Natural	
16095900	Kalihiwai Ditch ab wasteway, nr Kilauea, Kauai, HI	Ditch	Windward	1960–68	8	Regulated	
² 16097000	Pohakuhonu Stream nr Kilauea, Kauai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1957–72	14	Regulated	
16097500	Halaulani Str at alt 400 ft nr Kilauea, Kauai, HI	CT-A	Windward	1957–P	55	Natural	
16100000	Hanalei Tunnel outlet nr Lihue, Kauai, HI	Ditch	Windward	1932–85	53	Regulated	
16101000	Hanalei River at alt 625 ft nr Hanalei, Kauai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1914–55	39	Regulated	
16101003	Sum of stations 16100000 and 16101000	CT-I	Windward	1932–55	21	Natural	
16103000	Hanalei River nr Hanalei, Kauai, HI	CT-A	Windward	1912–19, 1963–P	57	Regulated prior to 1995	
16108000	Wainiha River nr Hanalei, Kauai, HI	CT-A	Windward	1952–P	58	Natural	
16115000	Hanakapiai Stream near Hanalei, Kauai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1932–52	20	Natural	
16116000	Hanakoa Stream near Hanalei, Kauai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1932–52	20	Natural	
16117000	Kalalau Stream near Hanalei, Kauai, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1931–55	22	Natural	
16130000	Nahomalu Valley nr Mana, Kauai, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1963–71	8	Natural	
220754159371901	Kawaikoi Str Trib nr Kawaikoi camp, Kauai, HI	PR	Leeward	1963, 1965–68	na	Natural	
221004159382201	RB Kalalau Str blw Twin Falls at conf, Kauai, HI	PR	Leeward	1944–48, 1954–55	na	Natural	

221029159384801	L Trib Kalalau .45mi fr mouth, at conf, Kauai, HI	PR	Leeward	1946–48, 1956–62	na	Natural
		Oʻa	hu			
16200000	NF Kaukonahua Str abv RB, nr Wahiawa, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1913–53, 1960–P	90	Natural
³ 16201000	RB of NF Kaukonahua Str nr Wahiawa, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1913–53	35	Natural
³ 16201000	RB of NF Kaukonahua Str nr Wahiawa, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1960–62, 1966, 1968–86	na	Natural
16206000	S F Kaukonahua Stream near Wahiawa, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1911, 1913–17, 1944–57	14	Natural
16208000	SF Kaukonahua Str at E pump, nr Wahiawa, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1957–2011, P	51	Natural
16208500	R Br of S F Kaukonahua Str nr Wahiawa, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1957–72	15	Regulated prior to 9/1971
16211003	Combined records of stations 16210900, 16211000	CT-I	Leeward	1958–74	15	Natural
16211300	Makaleha Str nr Waialua, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1964	0	Natural
16211600	Makaha Str nr Makaha, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1959–Р	53	Natural
16212800	Kipapa Str nr Wahiawa, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1957-2004, 2007-2011	51	Natural
16216000	Waiawa Stream nr Pearl City, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1952–2004	52	Natural
16216100	Waiawa Stream below H-1 near Pearl City, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1967–70, 1972–2012	na	Natural
16225800	N. Halawa Str nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1991–99	8	Natural
16225900	N. Halawa Str at Bridge 8 nr Halawa, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	2009	0	Natural
16226000	N. Halawa Str nr Aiea, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1929–33, 1953–2006	56	Natural
16226200	N. Halawa Str nr Honolulu, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1983–Р	30	Natural
16226400	N. Halawa Str nr Quar. Stn. at Halawa, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	2001–03, 2005–P	10	Natural
16227000	Halawa Stream at Aiea, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1953–62	8	Natural
16227100	Halawa Stream below H-1, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1990–94, 2001–07	na	Natural
16227500	Moanalua Stream nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1968–78, P	9	Natural
16227700	Moanalua Stream Trib nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1968–78	9	Natural
16228000	Moanalua Str nr Honolulu, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1926–78	52	Natural
16228200	Moanalua Str nr Aiea, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1968–77	9	Natural
16228900	Kalihi Str nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1966–71	4	Natural
16229000	Kalihi Str nr Honolulu, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1913–Р	99	Natural
16229300	Kalihi Str at Kalihi, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1962–2005	42	Natural
16237600	Kanaha Str at Tantalus Drive nr Honolulu, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	2011–P	1	Natural
16238500	Waihi Stream at Honolulu, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1913–20, 1925–83, 2011–P	67	Regulated prior to 1983
16240500	Waiakeakua Str at Honolulu, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1913–20, 1925–P	95	Natural
16241600	Manoa Stream at Woodlawn Drive, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	2011–P	2	Natural
16242500	Manoa Str at Kanewai Field, Honolulu, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1999–2005, 2007–P	11	Natural
16244000	Pukele Stream near Honolulu, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1926–82, 2002–05, 2010–P	62	Natural
16247450	Wailupe Gulch at debris dam, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1985–86, 2008–10	na	Natural
16247550	Wailupe Gulch at E. Hind Dr. Bridge, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	2008–10	2	Natural
16247900	Kuliouou Valley at Kuliouou, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	2009–10	1	Natural
16256000	Kamakalepo Stream nr Kailua, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1956–57, 1959–61, 1988–90	na	Natural
16261000	North Br Kahanaiki Stream nr Kailua, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1956–57, 1959, 1988–90	na	Natural

16263000	Kahanaiki Stream nr Kailua, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1956–57, 1959, 1988–90	na	Natural
16265600	RB of Kamooalii Str nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1983–97	14	Natural
16265700	Kamooalii Str at alt 200 ft nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1959, 1983, 1985–98, 2006	na	Natural
16266000	Kamooalii Stream nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1980–81	1	Natural
16266500	Hooleinaiwa Str at alt 220 ft nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1983–84, 1988–97	na	Natural
16267500	Hooleinaiwa Str abv conf w Kamooalii Str, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1983–86, 1988–98	na	Natural
16269500	Kuou Str at alt 220 ft nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1959, 1983–86, 1988–98	na	Natural
16270500	Kamooalii Stream bl Kuou Str nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1967–70, 1972–76	7	Natural
16273950	SF Kapunahala Str at Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1987–98	10	Natural
16274500	Keaahala Stream at Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1953–55	na	Natural
16275000	Heeia Stream at Haiku Valley nr Kaneohe, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Windward	1914–19, 1939–77, 1982–P	74	Natural
16278000	Iolekaa Stream mauka near Heeia, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1940–70	28	Regulat
16283000	Kahaluu Stream near Heeia, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1935–71	35	Regulat
16284000	Waihee Stream nr Heeia, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1936–82	46	Regulat
16294400	NF Waikane Stream at alt 220 ft, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1988–90, 2002–03	na	Natural
16297000	Kawa Stream near Kahana, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1914–16, 1958, 1960–61, 1966, 1971–72, 1974–81, 1983–85,	na	Natural
16301050	Punaluu Str aby Punaluu Ditch Intake, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Windward	1988–90, 2002–05 1953–P	60	Natural
16304200	Kaluanui Stream nr Punaluu, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Windward	1967–P	46	Natural
16308990	Malaekahana Stream nr Laie, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1963–71	8	Natural
16325000	Kamananui Str at Pupukea Mil Rd, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1963–2001	38	Natural
16329000	Kaiwikoele Stream Trib nr Maunawai, Oahu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1967–71	2	Natural
16330000	Kamananui Str at Maunawai, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1958–Р	55	Natural
16345000	Opaeula Str nr Wahiawa, Oahu, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1959–P	54	Natural
212317158003701	Kapakahi Stream above Farrington Highway, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1967–70, 1972–2012	na	Natural
212504157490001	NB Heeia Str at Hololio St nr Iolekaa, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1959–63, 1981	na	Natural
212633157520201	SF Waihee Stream 75 ft blw upper falls, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1955–57, 1959, 1961–62	na	Natural
212635157520701	NF Waihee Stream nr upper falls, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1955–57, 1959, 1961	na	Natural
212639157515901	SF Waihee Str at alt 500 ft, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1955, 1961–64, 1967	na	Natural
212641157520001	NF Waihee Str .1 mi US SF conf, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1954–55, 1961–64, 1967	na	Natural
212642157514801	Right trib Waihee Str at alt 350ft, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1955–57, 1959, 1961	na	Natural
212642157515301	Waihee Str 100 ft blw upper fork, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1961–64	na	Natural
212643157514801	Right trib Waihee Str at alt 330 ft, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1954, 1961–63, 1967	na	Natural
212643157514901	Waihee Str 540 ft DS upper fork, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1961–64	na	Natural
212644157514801	Waihee Str 640 ft blw fork and trib, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1961–62	na	Natural
212647157514601	Upper LB Waihee 300 ft abv conf, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1955–57, 1959, 1961	na	Natural
212847158091401	Hiu Str abv flume outlet fr Kumaipo Str, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1947–57	na	Natural
212851158092501	Kumaipo Str US div to Hiu Str, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1947–57	na	Natural
212854158093101	Punanaula Str .2 mi blw Tunnel 17, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1948–57	na	Natural

na	Natural
1	Natural
na	Natural
na	Natural
na	Natural
7	Natural
10	Natural
na	Natural
74	Natural
28	Regulated since 7/1966
35	Regulated since 1947
46	Regulated since 2/1955
na	Natural
na	Natural
60	Natural
46	Natural
8	Natural
38	Natural
2	Natural
55	Natural
54	Natural
na	Natural
	000049

212904158092601	Kumaipo Stream below tunnel 16, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1948–57, 1981	na	Natural
212906158083101	Kanewai Str abv flume entrance, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1947–57	na	Natural
212906158092601	Kumaipo Stream above tunnel 16, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1981, 1985	na	Natural
212913158084701	East Fork Kalalalu .2mi US fork, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1948–57	na	Natural
212914158084901	WF Kalalula .15mi US fork blw Tun15, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1947–57	na	Natural
212926158084701	LB of WF Kalalula abv conf, blw Tun11, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1948–57	na	Natural
212926158084801	RB of WF Kalalula Stream abv fork, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1947–57	na	Natural
212931158084601	RB of WF Kalalula Stream abv Tunnel 14, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1947–57	na	Natural
213302157535401	Punaluu Str 300 ft abv spring inflow, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1960, 1988–90	na	Natural
213303157535501	Waihoi Str 80 ft US Punaluu Str, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1988–90	na	Natural
213331157540101	RB of left trib Punaluu Str blw ditch, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1958–60, 1998	na	Natural
213332157535601	Punaluu Stream at altitude 140 feet, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	2004–05	na	Regulated
213332157540201	LB of left trib Punaluu Str blw ditch, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1958–62	na	Natural
213344157535301	Punaluu Stream at altitude 100 feet, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	2004–05	na	Regulated
213402157533701	Punaluu Stream at altitude 35 feet, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1960, 1962, 2004–05	na	Regulated
213425157531701	Punaluu Stream at altitude 10 feet, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	2004–05	na	Regulated
213439157545001	Kaluanui Str 100 ft blw Sacred Falls, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1958–59, 1961–62, 1965,	na	Natural
			**** 1 1	1988–90		
213503157543201	Kaluanui Str at lower trail crossing, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1965, 1983, 1988–90	na	Natural
213517157542101	Kaluanui Str. 2mi DS stn16304200, Oahu, HI	PR	Windward	1958–61	na	Natural
213/26158004901	NF Kamananui Str on Pupukea Mil Rd, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1945, 1965–66	na	Natural
213/55158011601	SF Elehaha Stream at Pupukea Mil Road, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1965–66	na	Natural
213801158011201	NF Elehaha Str at Pupukea Mil Rd, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1965–66	na	Natural
213846157594401	Oio Str at Drum Rd lower crossing, Oahu, HI	PR	Leeward	1945, 1965–66	na	Natural
1 < 100000		Molok		1015 00 1005 0		
16400000	Halawa Stream near Halawa, Molokai, HI	CT-A	Windward	1917–32, 1937–Р	88	Natural
16402000	Pulena Stream near Wailau, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1919–28, 1937–57	27	Natural
16403000	Waiakeakua Stream nr Wailau, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1919–29, 1937–57	27	Natural
16403400	Kapuhi Str at alt 1000 ft nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1968–95	na	Natural
16403500	Kawailena Stream nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1968–95	na	Natural
16403600	Kapuhi Stream nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1968–70	2	Natural
16403700	Kawainui Str at alt 1000 ft nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1968–95	na	Natural
16403800	Kawaipaka Stream nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1968–95	na	Natural
⁴ 16403900	Kawainui Stream nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1968–79, 1994–96	13	Natural
⁴ 16403900	Kawainui Stream nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1970–71, 1980–96	na	Natural
³ 16404000	Pelekunu Stream nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1919–28, 1937–57, 1971–82	36	Natural
³ 16404000	Pelekunu Stream nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1956–57, 1968–71	na	Natural
16404200	Pilipililau Stream nr Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1968–97	28	Natural
16405000	Lanipuni Stream near Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1919–29, 1937–57	27	Natural

⁵ 16405500	Waikolu Str at alt 900 ft nr Kalaupapa, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Windward	1956–2003	46	Regulated since 11/1960
⁵ 16408000	Waikolu Str bl pipe cross nr Kalaupapa, Molokai	CT-I	Windward	1919–32, 1937–96	68	Regulated since 11/1960
16411400	Kakaako Gulch near Mauna Loa, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1963–72	9	Natural
16413000	Kapuna Stream nr Kalae, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1940–49	9	Natural
16414000	Kaunakakai Gulch at Kaunakakai, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1950–98	48	Natural
⁴ 16416000	Punaula Gulch nr Pukoo, Molokai, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1947–72	25	Natural
⁴ 16416000	Punaula Gulch nr Pukoo, Molokai, HI	PR	Leeward	1970–72	na	Natural
210759156525801	LB Pilipililau Str .6 mi US Pelekunu, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1968–73	na	Natural
210822156550401	Waikolu Str .1 mi US Molokai Tun, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1956–57, 1960–63	na	Regulated since 11/1960
210914156523701	Pelekunu Str .25 mi US Kawaiiki Str, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1956–57	na	Natural
211008156554901	Waikolu Stream near mouth, Molokai, HI	PR	Windward	1956–58, 1960, 1963	na	Regulated since 11/1960
		Mau	i			
16500100	Kepuni Gulch near Kahikinui House, Maui, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1963–72	9	Natural
16500800	Kukuiula Gulch near Kipahulu, Maui, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1963–68	2	Natural
16501000	Palikea Stream bl div dam nr Kipahulu, Maui, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1927–29, 1932–83	48	Natural
16501200	Oheo Gulch at dam near Kipahulu, Maui, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1988–97, 2002–11, P	18	Natural
³ 16502000	Hahalawe Gulch near Kipahulu, Maui, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1927–69	39	Natural
³ 16502000	Hahalawe Gulch near Kipahulu, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	1969–77	na	Natural
16508000	Hanawi Stream near Nahiku, Maui, HI	CT-A	Windward	1914–15, 1921–P	91	Natural
16510000	Kapaula Gulch near Nahiku, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1921–62	40	Natural
16513000	Waiaka Stream near Nahiku, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1932–47	14	Natural
16515000	Waiohue Gulch near Nahiku, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1921–63	40	Natural
16516000	Kopiliula Stream near Keanae, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1914–17, 1921–57	36	Natural
16517000	East Wailuaiki Stream near Keanae, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1914–17, 1922–57	37	Natural
16518000	West Wailuaiki Stream near Keanae, Maui, HI	CT-A	Windward	1914–17, 1921–P	93	Natural
16519000	West Wailuanui Stream near Keanae, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1914–17, 1922–57	37	Natural
16520000	East Wailuanui Stream near Keanae, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1914–17, 1921–57	38	Natural
16524000	Honomanu Str at Haiku-uka Bdry nr Kailiili, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1919–27, 1932–34, 1962–68	14	Regulated since 9/1968
16527000	Honomanu Stream near Keanae, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1913–63	49	Natural
16531000	Kula div from Haipuaena Str nr Olinda, Maui, HI	Ditch	Windward	1945–85	40	Regulated
⁶ 16531100	Haipuaena Str at Kula PL intake nr Olinda, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1946–68	22	Regulated
16542000	E B Puohokamoa Str at Haiku-uka Brdy nr Kailiili, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	1963–68	na	Natural
16552600	Waikamoi Stream at Puu Luau nr Olinda, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1949–66	15	Natural
16552800	Waikamoi Str abv Kula PL intake nr Olinda, Maui,HI	CT-A	Windward	1953–68, 2009–P	19	Natural
16557000	Alo Stream near Huelo, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1911–57	46	Natural
16565000	Kaaiea Gulch near Huelo, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1922–62	39	Natural
16566000	Oopuola Stream near Huelo, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1930–57	27	Natural
16569100	Nailiilihaele Stream nr Kailiili, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	1963–68	na	Natural
16569700	W Br Nailiilihaele Stream near Kailiili, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	1965–69	na	Natural

16570000	Nailiihaele Stream nr Huelo, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1911, 1913–75	55	Regulated prior to 1922
16576200	E Br Kailua Stream nr Kailiili, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	1963–69	na	Natural
16577000	Kailua Stream near Huelo, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1913–58	40	Natural
16585000	Hoolawanui Stream nr Huelo, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1911–71	60	Natural
16586000	Hoolawaliilii Stream near Huelo, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1912–57	45	Natural
16587000	Honopou Stream near Huelo, Maui, HI	CT-A	Windward	1911–P	102	Natural
16596200	Halehaku Gulch near Kailiili, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1965–71	6	Natural
16604500	Wailuku River at Kepaniwai Park nr Wailuku, Maui, HI	CT-A	Windward	1983–P	30	Natural
16614000	Waihee River at Dam near Waihee, Maui, HI	CT-A	Windward	1983–P	29	Natural
16618000	Kahakuloa Stream near Honokohau, Maui, HI	CT-A	Windward	1939–43, 1947–70, 1974–P	64	Natural
16620000	Honokohau Stream near Honokohau, Maui, HI	CT-A	Windward	1913–20, 1922–88, 1990–P	95	Natural
⁴ 16647000	Ukumehame Gulch nr Olowalu, Maui, HI	CT-I	Windward	1911–19	3	Natural
⁴ 16647000	Ukumehame Gulch nr Olowalu, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	1920, 2006, 2012–P	na	Natural
16660000	Kulanihakoi Gulch near Kihei, Maui, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1962–70	7	Natural
205000156355801	Olowalu Stream 800 ft abv intake, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2012–P	na	Natural
205117156365201	Launiupoko Stream 100 ft abv intake, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2008, 2012–P	na	Natural
205121156321501	Waikapu Stream near alt 1,160 ft, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	2006–08	na	Natural
205122156320101	Unnamed Trib to Waikapu Str at 1060 ft, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	2004, 2007–08	na	natural
205239156372101	Kauaula Stream US of upper intake, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2012–P	na	Natural
205257156321002	Trib to Wailuku River at Kepaniwai Park, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	2004, 2006–08	na	Natural
205302156305601	Wailuku River near alt 395 ft, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	2006, 2008	na	Regulated
205303156314701	Wailuku River near alt 595 ft, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	2006–08	na	Regulated
205334156382201	Kanaha Stream .2 mi abv intake, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2012–P	na	Natural
205404156372401	Kahoma Stream US of upper intake, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2012–P	na	Natural
205426156313601	South Waiehu Stream near alt 670 ft, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	2007–08	na	Natural
205434156315701	North Waiehu Stream near alt 920 ft, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	2006–08	na	Natural
205455156394301	Hahakea Gulch 500 ft abv Honokohau Ditch, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2011-12	na	Natural
205511156393401	Wahikuli Gulch .2 mi abv Honokohau Ditch, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2011-12	na	Natural
205545156371601	Kapaloa Str 50 ft abv intake, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2012–P	na	Natural
205554156370701	Amalu Str 100 ft abv intake, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	1911, 1967, 2012–P	na	Natural
205627156323401	Huluhulupueo Stream at Waihee River, Maui, HI	PR	Windward	2004, 2006–08	na	Natural
205740156385601	Kahana Str at Honokohau siphon, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2011-12	na	Natural
205844156380501	Honokahua Str 500 ft abv Honokohau Ditch, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2011-12	na	Natural
205856156370801	Honolua Stream 40 ft abv intake, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	1920–21, 1967, 2008, 2012–P	na	Natural
205921156370101	Papua Gulch .5 mi bl Honokohau Ditch, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2011-12	na	Natural
205938156382201	Mokupea Gulch at alt. 280 ft, Maui, HI	PR	Leeward	2012	na	Natural
		Hawa	ai'i			
16700000	Waiakea Stream nr Mountain View, HI	CT-I	Windward	1930–95	65	Natural
16700600	Waiakea Stream at Hoaka Road, HI	CT-I	Windward	2003–05	2	Natural

16701700	Wailuku River near Pua Akala, HI	CT-I	Windward	1964–65	1	Natural
16701750	Wailuku River nr Humuula, HI	CT-I	Windward	1965–72	7	Natural
16701800	Wailuku River nr Kaumana, HI	CT-I	Windward	1966–82	16	Natural
16704000	Wailuku River nr Piihonua, HI	CT-A	Windward	1928–P	82	Regulated prior to 1968 and after 5/1993
16717000	Honolii Stream nr Papaikou, HI	CT-A	Windward	1911–13, 1967–P	47	Natural
16717600	Alia Stream near Hilo, HI	CT-I	Windward	1962–72	9	Natural
16717800	Pohakupuka Stream near Papaaloa, HI	CT-I	Windward	1962–79	17	Natural
16720000	Kawainui Stream nr Kamuela, HI	CT-A	Windward	1964–P	49	Natural
16720300	Kawaiki Stream near Kamuela, HI	CT-I	Windward	1968–99	31	Natural
16725000	Alakahi Stream near Kamuela, HI	CT-A	Windward	1964–P	49	Regulated prior to 1997
16737000	Waiilikahi Stream near Waimanu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1939–59	20	Natural
16737500	Waimanu Stream near Kamuela, HI	PR	Windward	1992–94	na	Natural
16738000	Kaimu Stream near Waimanu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1939–47, 1950–52	8	Natural
16739000	Punaluu Stream near Waimanu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1939–52	12	Natural
16740000	Waiaalala Stream near Waimanu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1939–52	12	Natural
16741000	Paopao Stream near Waimanu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1939–52	13	Natural
16742000	Kukui Stream near Waimanu, HI	CT-I	Windward	1939–52, 1959–66	19	Natural
16757000	Waikoloa Stream nr Kamuela, HI	CT-I	Windward	1947–71	24	Natural
16759200	R Br Waiaha Stream near Holualoa, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1960-82	22	Natural
16759600	Waiaha Stream at Holualoa, HI	CT-I	Leeward	2002–03	0	Natural
16759800	Kiilae Stream near Honaunau, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1958–82	24	Natural
16764000	Hilea Gulch tributary near Honuapo, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1966–91	25	Natural
16765000	Hilea Gulch Trib No 2 near Honuapo	CT-I	Leeward	1966–82	16	Natural
16767000	Ninole Gulch near Punaluu, HI	CT-I	Leeward	1966–82	16	Natural
16770500	Paauau Gulch at Pahala, HI	CT-A	Leeward	1962–79, 2001–P	28	Natural
194258155163301	Wailuku River trib Site B1 nr conf, HI	PR	Windward	1965–66	na	Natural
200351155372801	Waima Stream above L. Hamakua Ditch near Waipio,HI	PR	Windward	2000-01, 2003-05	na	Natural
200505155383801	Kawainui Str above L. Hamakua Ditch nr Waipio, HI	PR	Windward	2000-01, 2003-05	na	Natural
200657155395301	Waihilau Str 2 mi US Kakaauki conf, HI	PR	Windward	1939–52	na	Natural

¹Natural-flow record based on combined concurrent records at stations 16061000, 16062000, and 16063000, and subtracting concurrent flow record at station 16100000.

²Natural-flow record based on combined concurrent records at stations 16095900 and 16097000, and the combined record consisted of less than 10 complete water years.

³Station operated as a continuous-record and partial-record station; continuous-record data were used in the low-flow analysis of this study.

⁴Station operated as a continuous-record and partial-record station; partial-record data were used in the low-flow analysis of this study.

⁵Only data collected prior to November 1960 were used on Waikolu Stream because of the unknown effects associated with diversions by the Molokai Tunnel.

⁶Natural-flow record based on combined concurrent records at stations 16531000 and 16531100.

Appendix 2. Summary of Record-Augmentation Technique, Regression Equations, and Associated Select Regression Statistics for Natural Low-Flow Duration Estimates at Continuous-Record Streamflow-Gaging Stations and Partial-Record Stations on the Islands of Kaua'i, O'ahu, Moloka'i, Maui, and Hawai'i for Base Period 1984–2013.

[--, not applicable; ft³/s, cubic feet per second; Graphical, graphical-correlation record-extension technique; ID, identifier; MOVE.1, Maintenance of Variance Extension Type 1; NSE, Nash-Sutcliff coefficient of efficiency; r, correlation coefficient; r², coefficient of determination; RMSE, root mean square error; Qxx, selected percentages of time (from 50–95 percent) a discharge was equaled or exceeded; SREF, Streamflow Record Extension Facilitator; X_i, base-10 logarithm of the computed low-flow duration discharge at the index station; Y_i, base-10 logarithm of the estimated low-flow duration discharge at the partial-record station]

Station ID	ion ID Q _{xx} station		Record- augmentation	Record- Number of Range of flows at gmentation concurrent index station, in		MOVE.1 regression	Regression stat generated from			stics SREF	
		ID	technique	data values	ft³/s	equation	r	r ²	RMSE	NSE	
				I	Kaua'i						
16013000	50	16010000	MOVE.1	26	5.6–22	$Y_i = 0.48 + 1.18 (X_i - 1.10)$	0.92	0.84	0.070	0.57	
	55	16010000	MOVE.1	26	4.8–20	$Y_i = 0.42 + 1.16 (X_i - 1.04)$	0.88	0.78	0.083	0.49	
	60	16010000	MOVE.1	26	4.3–18	$Y_i = 0.37 + 1.11 (X_i - 1.00)$	0.87	0.76	0.080	0.44	
	65	16010000	MOVE.1	26	3.9–16	$Y_i = 0.32 + 1.16 (X_i - 0.95)$	0.84	0.70	0.093	0.39	
	70	16010000	MOVE.1	26	3.6–14	$Y_i = 0.26 + 1.13 (X_i - 0.90)$	0.82	0.68	0.094	0.36	
	75										
	80										
	85	16019000	MOVE.1	17	2.6-11	$Y_i = 0.10 + 2.28 (X_i - 0.51)$	0.77	0.60	0.14	0.38	
	90										
	95										
16017000	50	16108000	MOVE.1	10	70–99	$Y_i = 0.93 + 1.76 (X_i - 1.92)$	0.93	0.86	0.034	0.59	
	55	16108000	MOVE.1	10	65-88	$Y_i = 0.86 + 1.79 (X_i - 1.88)$	0.90	0.81	0.038	0.54	
	60	16108000	MOVE.1	10	60-82	$Y_i = 0.81 + 1.90 (X_i - 1.85)$	0.93	0.87	0.033	0.66	
	65	16108000	MOVE.1	10	56–79	$Y_i = 0.75 + 2.09 (X_i - 1.82)$	0.96	0.92	0.028	0.66	
	70	16108000	MOVE.1	13	53–75	$Y_i = 0.69 + 1.01 (X_i - 0.63)$	0.94	0.88	0.032	0.58	
	75	16108000	MOVE.1	13	51-69	$Y_i = 0.64 + 0.97 (X_i - 0.58)$	0.93	0.87	0.032	0.50	
	80	16108000	MOVE.1	13	51-66	$Y_i = 0.58 + 1.08 (X_i - 0.54)$	0.84	0.71	0.052	0.38	
	85	16108000	MOVE.1	13	48-62	$Y_i = 0.52 + 1.17 (X_i - 0.50)$	0.85	0.72	0.055	0.40	
	90	16108000	MOVE.1	13	45–59	$Y_i = 0.45 + 1.11 (X_i - 0.44)$	0.78	0.61	0.069	0.39	
	95	16108000	MOVE.1	13	41–55	$Y_i = 0.37 + 1.31 (X_i - 0.36)$	0.86	0.74	0.063	0.56	
16063000	50	16068000	MOVE.1	41	16–51	$Y_i = 1.66 + 0.91 (X_i - 1.46)$	0.92	0.85	0.037	0.59	
	55	16068000	MOVE.1	41	15-47	$Y_i = 1.63 + 0.90 (X_i - 1.43)$	0.91	0.82	0.040	0.55	
	60	16068000	MOVE.1	41	14-44	$Y_i = 1.60 + 0.87 (X_i - 1.40)$	0.88	0.77	0.046	0.50	
	65	16068000	MOVE.1	41	14-41	$Y_i = 1.57 + 0.90 (X_i - 1.37)$	0.88	0.77	0.045	0.54	
	70	16068000	MOVE.1	41	13–40	$Y_i = 1.54 + 0.84 (X_i - 1.34)$	0.87	0.76	0.045	0.53	
	75	16068000	MOVE.1	41	12–38	$Y_i = 1.52 + 0.84 (X_i - 1.32)$	0.88	0.77	0.043	0.52	
	80	16068000	MOVE.1	41	12–36	$Y_i = 1.49 + 0.79 (X_i - 1.29)$	0.87	0.76	0.042	0.53	

	85	16068000	MOVE.1	41	11–33	$Y_i = 1.46 + 0.72 (X_i - 1.26)$	0.89	0.79	0.037	0.56
	90	16068000	MOVE.1	41	10–29	$Y_i = 1.43 + 0.68 (X_i - 1.22)$	0.86	0.74	0.040	0.50
	95	16068000	Graphical	41	9.4–25		0.82			
16081500	50-95	16071500	MOVE.1	9	0.54-3.3	$Y_i = -0.12 + 0.75 (X_i - 0.14)$	0.95	0.91	0.077	0.69
16085500	50-95	16097500	MOVE.1	9	4.0-8.8	$Y_i = 0.44 + 1.85 (X_i - 0.76)$	0.89	0.79	0.090	0.51
16088300	50-95	16097500	MOVE.1	9	4.0-8.8	$Y_i = 0.66 + 1.59 (X_i - 0.76)$	0.91	0.83	0.078	0.52
16088500	50-95	16071500	MOVE.1	9	0.54-3.0	$Y_i = 0.37 + 0.66 (X_i - 0.16)$	0.96	0.92	0.054	0.70
16097000	50-95	16068000	Graphical	107	9.7–32		0.79			
16101003	50	16068000	MOVE.1	10	20–39	$Y_i = 1.80 + 0.70 (X_i - 1.43)$	0.95	0.91	0.021	0.67
	55	16068000	MOVE.1	10	18–39	$Y_i = 1.77 + 0.62 (X_i - 1.40)$	0.95	0.90	0.022	0.63
	60	16068000	MOVE.1	10	17–36	$Y_i = 1.75 + 0.62 (X_i - 1.38)$	0.95	0.90	0.020	0.65
	65	16068000	MOVE.1	10	16–34	$Y_i = 1.73 + 0.67 (X_i - 1.35)$	0.96	0.93	0.017	0.72
	70	16068000	MOVE.1	10	16–32	$Y_i = 1.71 + 0.66 (X_i - 1.32)$	0.95	0.91	0.018	0.66
	75	16068000	MOVE.1	10	15-30	$Y_i = 1.69 + 0.69 (X_i - 1.31)$	0.95	0.91	0.019	0.70
	80	16068000	MOVE.1	10	14–28	$Y_i = 1.67 + 0.66 (X_i - 1.28)$	0.95	0.89	0.020	0.68
	85	16068000	MOVE.1	10	14–27	$Y_i = 1.65 + 0.66 (X_i - 1.25)$	0.96	0.91	0.017	0.74
	90	16068000	MOVE.1	10	13–24	$Y_i = 1.63 + 0.60 (X_i - 1.22)$	0.94	0.89	0.020	0.67
	95	16068000	MOVE.1	10	11–22	$Y_i = 1.60 + 0.54 (X_i - 1.17)$	0.97	0.93	0.014	0.74
16103000	50	16097500	MOVE.1	17	5.0-8.1	$Y_i = 2.08 + 1.23 (X_i - 0.79)$	0.90	0.81	0.037	0.59
	55	16097500	MOVE.1	17	4.8–7.7	$Y_i = 2.06 + 1.22 \ (X_i - 0.77)$	0.90	0.81	0.036	0.60
	60	16097500	MOVE.1	17	4.6-7.2	$Y_i = 2.04 + 1.21 (X_i - 0.75)$	0.92	0.85	0.031	0.64
	65	16097500	MOVE.1	17	4.4-6.7	$Y_i = 2.01 + 1.20 (X_i - 0.73)$	0.91	0.83	0.032	0.61
	70	16097500	MOVE.1	17	4.1-6.4	$Y_i = 1.99 + 1.15 (X_i - 0.72)$	0.92	0.85	0.029	0.62
	75	16097500	MOVE.1	17	3.9-6.1	$Y_i = 1.97 + 1.21 (X_i - 0.70)$	0.91	0.83	0.031	0.59
	80	16097500	MOVE.1	17	3.6-6.0	$Y_i = 1.95 + 1.16 (X_i - 0.68)$	0.89	0.79	0.034	0.54
	85	16097500	MOVE.1	17	3.4–5.7	$Y_i = 1.93 + 1.19 (X_i - 0.65)$	0.89	0.80	0.033	0.52
	90	16097500	MOVE.1	17	3.1–5.4	$Y_i = 1.91 + 1.19 (X_i - 0.63)$	0.88	0.78	0.036	0.52
	95	16097500	MOVE.1	17	2.9-5.1	$Y_i = 1.88 + 1.08 (X_i - 0.60)$	0.85	0.72	0.037	0.41
16115000	50	16010000	MOVE.1	9	5.6-16	$Y_i = 0.87 + 0.91 \ (X_i - 1.04)$	0.91	0.83	0.065	0.53
	55	16010000	MOVE.1	9	4.8-15	$Y_i = 0.84 + 0.84 \ (X_i - 0.98)$	0.93	0.87	0.053	0.60
	60	16010000	MOVE.1	9	4.3–13	$Y_i = 0.81 + 0.83 (X_i - 0.95)$	0.94	0.89	0.049	0.65
	65	16010000	MOVE.1	9	3.9–11	$Y_i = 0.79 + 0.88 (X_i - 0.89)$	0.94	0.88	0.051	0.65
	70	16010000	MOVE.1	9	3.6-9.8	$Y_i = 0.77 + 0.90 (X_i - 0.84)$	0.91	0.84	0.060	0.58
	75	16010000	MOVE.1	9	3.4-8.7	$Y_i = 0.74 + 0.91 (X_i - 0.79)$	0.91	0.82	0.059	0.57
	80	16010000	MOVE.1	9	3.1-7.6	$Y_i = 0.72 + 0.85 (X_i - 0.73)$	0.83	0.69	0.072	0.47
	85	16010000	MOVE.1	9	2.8-6.7	$Y_i = 0.70 + 0.86 (X_i - 0.67)$	0.79	0.63	0.077	0.50
	90	16010000	MOVE.1	9	2.5-5.9	$Y_i = 0.67 + 0.92 (X_i - 0.61)$	0.74	0.55	0.086	0.42
	95	16010000	MOVE.1	9	2.2–5.3	$Y_i = 0.63 + 0.92 (X_i - 0.51)$	0.83	0.69	0.073	0.50
16116000	50	16010000	MOVE.1	9	5.6-16	$Y_i = 0.19 + 0.87 (X_i - 1.04)$	0.95	0.90	0.047	0.72

	55	16010000	MOVE 1	9	4 8-15	$Y_{-} = 0.14 \pm 0.85 (X_{-} = 0.98)$	0.97	0.95	0.034	0.75
	60	16010000	MOVE 1	9	4.3-13	$Y_{i} = 0.09 \pm 0.84 (X_{i} = 0.95)$	0.98	0.95	0.034	0.75
	65	16010000	MOVE 1	9	3.9–11	$Y_{i} = 0.05 + 0.85 (X_{i} - 0.89)$	0.95	0.90	0.033	0.70
	70	16010000	MOVE 1	9	3.6-9.8	$Y_{i} = 0.00 + 0.73 (X_{i} - 0.84)$	0.95	0.95	0.027	0.07
	75	16010000	MOVE 1	9	3 4-8 7	$Y_{\perp} = -0.04 + 0.69 (X_{\perp} - 0.79)$	0.96	0.92	0.030	0.72
	80	16010000	MOVE 1	9	3 1-7 6	$Y_{i} = -0.09 + 0.66 (X_{i} - 0.73)$	0.90	0.92	0.035	0.72
	85	16010000	MOVE.1	9	2.8-6.7	$Y_{i} = -0.13 + 0.60 (X_{i} - 0.67)$	0.90	0.80	0.039	0.58
	90	16010000	MOVE.1	9	2.5-5.9	$Y_i = -0.17 + 0.65 (X_i - 0.61)$	0.86	0.74	0.045	0.46
	95	16010000	MOVE.1	9	2.2–5.3	$Y_i = -0.23 + 0.55 (X_i - 0.51)$	0.85	0.72	0.041	0.39
16130000	50-95	All ²	Graphical							
			1		Oʻahu					
16201000	50-95	16200000	MOVE.1	344	0.29-8.2	$Y_i = 0.19 + 0.85 (X_i - 0.32)$	0.95	0.91	0.087	0.71
16206000	50–95	16200000	MOVE.1	251	0.34-8.2	$Y_i = -0.09 + 1.24 (X_i - 0.31)$	0.94	0.89	0.135	0.68
16211003	50	16330000	Graphical	15	2.0-7.1		0.88			
	55	16330000	MOVE.1	15	1.6-6.0	$Y_i = 0.41 + 0.83 (X_i - 0.47)$	0.91	0.84	0.060	0.58
	60	16330000	MOVE.1	15	1.3–5.3	$Y_i = 0.34 + 0.79 (X_i - 0.39)$	0.93	0.86	0.055	0.63
	65	16330000	MOVE.1	15	0.89-4.3	$Y_i = 0.27 + 0.78 (X_i - 0.30)$	0.95	0.91	0.050	0.70
	70	16345000	MOVE.1	14	1.2-3.0	$Y_i = 0.21 + 1.50 (X_i - 0.36)$	0.91	0.83	0.073	0.59
	75	16345000	MOVE.1	14	1.0-2.5	$Y_i = 0.14 + 1.54 (X_i - 0.28)$	0.88	0.78	0.096	0.54
	80	16345000	MOVE.1	14	0.80-2.2	$Y_i = 0.06 + 1.66 (X_i - 0.21)$	0.91	0.83	0.093	0.64
	85	16345000	MOVE.1	14	0.57 - 1.8	$Y_i = -0.03 + 1.69 (X_i - 0.11)$	0.88	0.78	0.117	0.52
	90	16345000	MOVE.1	14	0.30-1.5	$Y_i = -0.15 + 1.72 (X_i + 0.01)$	0.85	0.73	0.151	0.42
	95									
16211300	50-95	All^2	Graphical							
16212800	50	16226200	MOVE.1	25	0.010-2.0	$Y_i = 0.43 + 0.32 (X_i + 0.63)$	0.89	0.80	0.103	0.57
	55	16226200	MOVE.1	24	0-1.7	$Y_i = 0.36 + 0.34 \left(X_i + 0.75 \right)$	0.91	0.83	0.097	0.61
	60	16345000	MOVE.1	49	1.4–7.3	$Y_i = 0.27 + 1.48 (X_i - 0.50)$	0.91	0.83	0.090	0.59
	65	16226200	MOVE.1	25	0-0.90	$Y_i = 0.23 + 0.34 \left(X_i + 1.03 \right)$	0.90	0.81	0.10	0.62
	70	16226200	MOVE.1	22	0-0.65	$Y_i = 0.18 + 0.34 (X_i + 1.14)$	0.91	0.82	0.092	0.60
	75	16226200	MOVE.1	20	0-0.46	$Y_i = 0.10 + 0.39 \left(X_i + 1.25 \right)$	0.90	0.82	0.102	0.64
	80	16226200	MOVE.1	20	0-0.33	$Y_i = 0.03 + 0.41 \ (X_i + 1.40)$	0.94	0.89	0.078	0.70
	85	16345000	Graphical	49	0.50-3.6		0.86			
	90	16345000	Graphical	49	0.24-3.0		0.80			
	95	16345000	Graphical	49	0.034-2.2		0.81			
16216000	50	16226200	Graphical	³ 20	0.020-2.0		0.91			
	55	16226200	Graphical	³ 20	0.010-1.7		0.87			
	60	16226200	Graphical	³ 20	0-1.2		0.84			
	65	16226200	Graphical	³ 20	0-0.90		0.83			
	70	16226200	Graphical	³ 20	0-0.65		0.91			

	75	16226200	Graphical	³ 20	0-0.46		0.80			
	80	16226200	Graphical	21	0-0.33		0.86			
	85	16226200	Graphical	21	0-0.18		0.81			
	90									
	95									
16226000	50	16226200	MOVE.1	23	0.020-2.0	$Y_i = -0.52 + 0.99 (X_i + 0.51)$	0.97	0.95	0.147	0.77
	55	16226200	MOVE.1	23	0.010-1.7	$Y_i = -0.73 + 1.07 \left(X_i + 0.71 \right)$	0.96	0.93	0.192	0.74
	60	16226200	MOVE.1	22	0-1.2	$Y_i = -0.84 + 1.01 (X_i + 0.85)$	0.95	0.90	0.210	0.74
	65	16226200	MOVE.1	20	0-0.90	$Y_i = -0.96 + 1.01 (X_i + 0.94)$	0.95	0.90	0.210	0.71
	70	16226200	MOVE.1	18	0-0.65	$Y_i = -1.05 + 1.00 \left(X_i + 1.00 \right)$	0.95	0.91	0.179	0.77
	75	16226200	MOVE.1	16	0-0.46	$Y_i = -1.16 + 1.01 (X_i + 1.10)$	0.88	0.77	0.267	0.68
	80	16226200	MOVE.1	14	0-0.33	$Y_i = -1.30 + 1.07 \left(X_i + 1.21 \right)$	0.93	0.86	0.189	0.65
	85	16226200	MOVE.1	10	0-0.18	$Y_i = -1.43 + 1.24 \left(X_i + 1.23 \right)$	0.79	0.62	0.273	0.37
	90									
	95									
16226400	50–95	All^2	Graphical							
16227500	50-95	All^2	Graphical							
16228000	50–95	All^2	Graphical							
16228200	50–95	All^2	Graphical							
16228900	50–95	16345000	MOVE.1	87	0.10-4.7	$Y_i = -0.51 + 0.73 (X_i - 0.12)$	0.88	0.77	0.156	0.54
16229300	50	16229000	MOVE.1	42	0.78-5.0	$Y_i = 0.56 + 0.91 \ (X_i - 0.37)$	0.97	0.94	0.044	0.76
	55	16229000	MOVE.1	42	0.73-4.3	$Y_i = 0.51 + 0.88 (X_i - 0.33)$	0.95	0.90	0.054	0.68
	60	16229000	MOVE.1	42	0.68-4.0	$Y_i = 0.46 + 0.90 (X_i - 0.28)$	0.95	0.91	0.055	0.68
	65	16229000	MOVE.1	42	0.62-3.6	$Y_i = 0.41 + 0.90 (X_i - 0.23)$	0.95	0.90	0.058	0.66
	70	16229000	MOVE.1	42	0.50-3.4	$Y_i = 0.37 + 0.88 (X_i - 0.18)$	0.94	0.88	0.063	0.64
	75	16229000	MOVE.1	42	0.50-30	$Y_i = 0.33 + 0.88 (X_i - 0.13)$	0.93	0.86	0.069	0.65
	80	16229000	MOVE.1	42	0.40-2.6	$Y_i = 0.27 + 0.88 (X_i - 0.07)$	0.88	0.78	0.091	0.57
	85	16229000	MOVE.1	³ 41	0.35-2.3	$Y_i = 0.21 + 0.84 (X_i - 0.02)$	0.92	0.85	0.073	0.61
	90	16229000	MOVE.1	³ 41	0.31-1.9	$Y_i = 0.14 + 0.81 (X_i + 0.06)$	0.89	0.79	0.088	0.52
	95	16229000	MOVE.1	³ 41	0.22-1.8	$Y_i = 0.06 + 0.81 (X_i + 0.16)$	0.90	0.80	0.087	0.56
16237600	50–95	All^2	Graphical							
16238500	50–95	16200000	MOVE.1	78	0.47-6.1	$Y_i = -0.23 + 1.12 \left(X_i + 0.34 \right)$	0.91	0.83	0.140	0.59
16241600	50–95	16200000	MOVE.1	97	0.47-6.1	$Y_i = 0.55 + 0.41 (X_i - 0.35)$	0.86	0.73	0.065	0.46
16242500	50	16345000	MOVE.1	11	2.0-5.7	$Y_i = 0.71 + 1.04 (X_i - 0.57)$	0.92	0.84	0.054	0.57
	55	16208000	MOVE.1	8	3.6-12	$Y_i = 0.68 + 0.80 (X_i - 0.82)$	0.95	0.90	0.043	0.60
	60	16208000	MOVE.1	8	2.9–11	$Y_i = 0.65 + 0.74 (X_i - 0.77)$	0.96	0.93	0.037	0.69
	65	16208000	MOVE.1	8	2.4–9.5	$Y_i = 0.62 + 0.74 (X_i - 0.71)$	0.98	0.95	0.031	0.74
	70	16208000	MOVE.1	8	1.8-8.6	$Y_i = 0.60 + 0.63 (X_i - 0.65)$	0.98	0.96	0.029	0.79
	75	16208000	MOVE.1	8	1.4-7.6	$Y_i = 0.57 + 0.58 (X_i - 0.58)$	0.97	0.95	0.031	0.75

	80	16208000	MOVE.1	8	1.1-6.8	$Y_i = 0.54 + 0.50 (X_i - 0.51)$	0.94	0.89	0.044	0.63
	85	16229000	MOVE.1	11	0.44-1.8	$Y_i = 0.51 + 0.71 (X_i - 0.07)$	0.89	0.79	0.060	0.49
	90	16229000	MOVE.1	11	0.37-1.4	$Y_i = 0.46 + 0.81 (X_i + 0.05)$	0.90	0.81	0.063	0.51
	95	16240500	MOVE.1	11	0.91-2.7	$Y_i = 0.39 + 1.19 (X_i - 0.20)$	0.91	0.83	0.061	0.55
16244000	50	16229000	MOVE.1	45	0.78-5.0	$Y_i = -0.16 + 0.98 (X_i - 0.37)$	0.91	0.82	0.077	0.56
	55	16229000	MOVE.1	45	0.73-4.3	$Y_i = -0.20 + 0.90 (X_i - 0.33)$	0.89	0.79	0.079	0.53
	60	16330000	MOVE.1	30	0.59-11	$Y_i = -0.24 + 0.66 (X_i - 0.40)$	0.90	0.81	0.076	0.52
	65	16330000	MOVE.1	30	0.34-10	$Y_i = -0.28 + 0.54 (X_i - 0.29)$	0.92	0.85	0.064	0.61
	70	16330000	MOVE.1	30	0.14-9.0	$Y_i = -0.32 + 0.45 (X_i - 0.18)$	0.92	0.84	0.066	0.60
	75	16330000	MOVE.1	30	0.070-7.0	$Y_i = -0.35 + 0.38 (X_i - 0.06)$	0.89	0.80	0.076	0.54
	80	16345000	MOVE.1	29	0.79-4.1	$Y_i = -0.39 + 0.85 (X_i - 0.20)$	0.86	0.74	0.082	0.48
	85									
	90	16240500	MOVE.1	45	0.98-4.0	$Y_i = -0.49 + 1.11 (X_i - 0.31)$	0.79	0.62	0.107	0.38
	95									
16256000	50–95	16240500	MOVE.1	8	2.1-3.4	$Y_i = -0.16 + 3.49 (X_i - 0.45)$	0.98	0.96	0.062	0.81
16265600	50	16275000	Graphical	14	1.3–2.3		0.86			
	55	16275000	Graphical	14	1.3-2.2		0.87			
	60	16275000	Graphical	14	1.2-2.1		0.84			
	65	16275000	Graphical	14	1.2-2.1		0.84			
	70	16275000	Graphical	14	1.1-2.0		0.85			
	75	16275000	Graphical	14	1.1 - 2.0		0.90			
	80	16275000	Graphical	14	1.1-2.0		0.89			
	85	16275000	Graphical	14	1.1–1.9		0.83			
	90	16275000	Graphical	14	1.1 - 1.8		0.84			
	95	16275000	Graphical	14	1.0-1.7		0.80			
16278000	50	16301050	Graphical	11	16–28		0.86			
	55	16240500	Graphical	22	1.4–5.3		0.85			
	60	16240500	Graphical	22	1.4-5.0		0.86			
	65	16240500	Graphical	22	1.4-4.9		0.87			
	70	16240500	Graphical	22	1.3-4.7		0.85			
	75	16240500	Graphical	22	1.2-4.6		0.86			
	80	16240500	Graphical	22	1.1-4.4		0.81			
	85									
	90									
	95									
16284000	50	16240500	Graphical	11	1.6–3.9		0.81			
	55	16240500	Graphical	11	1.4–3.9		0.84			
	60	16240500	MOVE.1	11	1.4–3.7	$Y_i = 0.87 + 0.60 (X_i - 0.41)$	0.89	0.79	0.039	0.58
	65	16240500	MOVE.1	11	1.4-3.6	$Y_i = 0.86 + 0.58 (X_i - 0.39)$	0.95	0.90	0.025	0.71

	70	16240500	MOVE.1	11	1.3-3.5	$Y_i = 0.85 + 0.56 (X_i - 0.37)$	0.96	0.91	0.023	0.73
	75	16240500	MOVE.1	11	1.2-3.3	$Y_i = 0.85 + 0.52 (X_i - 0.34)$	0.97	0.94	0.019	0.75
	80	16240500	MOVE.1	11	1.1–3.3	$Y_i = 0.84 + 0.47 (X_i - 0.33)$	0.98	0.96	0.014	0.83
	85	16240500	MOVE.1	11	1.1-3.1	$Y_i = 0.83 + 0.49 (X_i - 0.30)$	0.97	0.94	0.018	0.82
	90	16240500	MOVE.1	11	1.0-2.9	$Y_i = 0.82 + 0.49 (X_i - 0.27)$	0.92	0.85	0.028	0.66
	95	16240500	MOVE.1	11	1.0-2.8	$Y_i = 0.81 + 0.53 (X_i - 0.24)$	0.90	0.82	0.033	0.58
16308990	50–95	16330000	Graphical	195	0-4.9		0.81			
16325000	50	16330000	MOVE.1	38	1.3–14	$Y_i = 0.51 + 0.75 (X_i - 0.59)$	0.98	0.97	0.033	0.80
	55	16330000	MOVE.1	38	1.0-12	$Y_i = 0.46 + 0.74 (X_i - 0.51)$	0.98	0.96	0.038	0.79
	60	16330000	MOVE.1	38	0.84-11	$Y_i = 0.39 + 0.73 (X_i - 0.42)$	0.98	0.96	0.039	0.80
	65	16330000	MOVE.1	38	0.68-10	$Y_i = 0.32 + 0.70 (X_i - 0.33)$	0.97	0.94	0.050	0.74
	70	16330000	MOVE.1	38	0.30-9.0	$Y_i = 0.25 + 0.67 (X_i - 0.23)$	0.96	0.92	0.063	0.72
	75	16330000	MOVE.1	38	0.12-7.0	$Y_i = 0.17 + 0.61 (X_i - 0.10)$	0.95	0.89	0.082	0.68
	80	16330000	MOVE.1	38	0.040-5.3	$Y_i = 0.09 + 0.53 (X_i + 0.06)$	0.93	0.87	0.103	0.65
	85	16330000	MOVE.1	38	0.010-4.4	$Y_i = -0.02 + 0.51 (X_i + 0.29)$	0.90	0.80	0.159	0.60
	90	16330000	Graphical	38	0-3.1		0.85			
	95	16330000	Graphical	38	0-1.7		0.83			
16329000	50–95	All^2	Graphical							
212639157515901	50–95	16200000	Graphical	13	0.48-6.7		0.79			
212644157514801	50-85	16200000	Graphical	10	2.2-6.3		0.85			
213439157545001	50–95	16304200	MOVE.1	10	0.18-1.6	$Y_i = -0.18 + 0.83 (X_i + 0.17)$	0.99	0.97	0.040	0.79
213503157543201	50–95	16304200	MOVE.1	11	0.18-1.6	$Y_i = -0.15 + 0.95 (X_i + 0.15)$	0.99	0.98	0.038	0.86
213726158004901	50–90	16330000	Graphical	9	0.12-4.0		0.88			
213801158011201	50–95	All^2	Graphical							
				M	olokaʻi					
16402000	50	16518000	MOVE.1	13	5.8–13	$Y_i = 1.27 + 0.78 (X_i - 0.99)$	0.90	0.81	0.038	0.52
	55	16518000	MOVE.1	13	5.0-102	$Y_i = 1.23 + 0.79 (X_i - 0.93)$	0.90	0.81	0.040	0.48
	60	16518000	MOVE.1	13	4.6–10	$Y_i = 1.19 + 0.82 (X_i - 0.87)$	0.91	0.82	0.038	0.54
	65	16518000	MOVE.1	13	4.1–9.6	$Y_i = 1.15 + 0.82 (X_i - 0.83)$	0.90	0.80	0.042	0.47
	70	16518000	MOVE.1	13	3.8-8.7	$Y_i = 1.12 + 0.78 (X_i - 0.79)$	0.87	0.75	0.044	0.54
	75	16518000	MOVE.1	13	3.4-8.0	$Y_i = 1.07 + 0.81 (X_i - 0.74)$	0.85	0.72	0.050	0.49
	80	16518000	MOVE.1	13	3.0-7.1	$Y_i = 1.03 + 0.78 (X_i - 0.68)$	0.80	0.64	0.058	0.50
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	13	2.6-6.5	$Y_i = 0.99 + 0.82 (X_i - 0.62)$	0.85	0.73	0.054	0.51
	90	16518000	MOVE.1	13	2.2-6.0	$Y_i = 0.95 + 0.79 (X_i - 0.56)$	0.90	0.81	0.047	0.61
	95	16518000	MOVE.1	13	1.6-5.1	$Y_i = 0.88 + 0.68 (X_i - 0.47)$	0.83	0.69	0.058	0.36
16403000	50	16400000	MOVE.1	⁴ 12	9.3–16	$Y_i = 0.84 + 0.56 (X_i - 1.12)$	0.93	0.86	0.018	0.62
	55	16400000	MOVE.1	⁴ 12	8.4–14	$Y_i = 0.81 + 0.57 (X_i - 1.07)$	0.92	0.85	0.018	0.57
	60	16400000	MOVE.1	⁴ 12	7.6–13	$Y_i = 0.79 + 0.46 (X_i - 1.03)$	0.93	0.86	0.015	0.61
	65	16400000	MOVE.1	⁴ 12	6.8-12	$Y_i = 0.76 + 0.40 (X_i - 0.99)$	0.88	0.77	0.018	0.52

	70	16400000	MOVE.1	⁴ 12	6.0–11	$Y_i = 0.73 + 0.33 (X_i - 0.94)$	0.92	0.84	0.012	0.52
	75	16620000	Graphical	⁴ 12	12–23		0.84			
	80									
	85									
	90									
	95									
16404000	50	16587000	Graphical	22	0.96-3.4		0.78			
	55	16620000	Graphical	22	13–34		0.79			
	60	16400000	Graphical	22	5.5-14		0.76			
	65	16400000	Graphical	22	5.0-13		0.77			
	70	16508000	Graphical	22	2.2-6.3		0.75			
	75	16400000	Graphical	22	4.0-10		0.77			
	80	16400000	Graphical	22	3.3-9.1		0.76			
	85	16400000	Graphical	22	2.9-8.2		0.77			
	90	16400000	Graphical	22	2.6-8.0		0.77			
	95									
16404200	50	16620000	Graphical	26	14–37		0.83			
	55	16620000	Graphical	25	13–34		0.83			
	60	16620000	Graphical	25	13-31		0.82			
	65	16620000	Graphical	25	12–28		0.78			
	70									
	75									
	80									
	85									
	90									
	95									
16405000	50	16620000	Graphical	13	14–29		0.85			
	55	16620000	Graphical	13	13–27		0.86			
	60	16508000	Graphical	13	3.8-7.9		0.84			
	65	16587000	Graphical	13	1.0-2.3		0.81			
	70	16508000	Graphical	13	3.2-6.3		0.78			
	75	16508000	Graphical	13	2.6-5.6		0.75			
	80									
	85									
	90									
	95									
16408000	50	16618000	MOVE.1	12		$Y_i = 1.07 + 1.82 (X_i - 0.96)$	0.76	0.57	0.087	0.39
	55									
	60									

	65	16620000	MOVE.1	16		$Y_i = 0.99 + 1.05 (X_i - 1.26)$	0.82	0.68	0.070	0.43
	70	16620000	MOVE.1	16		$Y_i = 0.97 + 1.05 (X_i - 1.24)$	0.83	0.69	0.067	0.45
	75	16620000	MOVE.1	16		$Y_i = 0.96 + 1.11 (X_i - 1.22)$	0.88	0.78	0.056	0.51
	80	16620000	MOVE.1	16		$Y_i = 0.94 + 1.09 (X_i - 1.21)$	0.88	0.77	0.053	0.55
	85	16620000	MOVE.1	16		$Y_i = 0.92 + 1.01 (X_i - 1.18)$	0.85	0.73	0.057	0.49
	90	16620000	MOVE.1	16		$Y_i = 0.89 + 0.96 (X_i - 1.16)$	0.81	0.66	0.056	0.36
	95									
16411400	50-95	All ²	Graphical							
16413000	50–95	All ²	Graphical							
16414000	50-95	All ²	Graphical							
16416000	60–95	16400000	Graphical	8	0.98-8.5		0.92			
					Maui					
16500100	50–95	All^2	Graphical							
16501200	50	16518000	Graphical	18	5.3–15		0.78			
	55	16604500	Graphical	18	25–58		0.83			
	60	16604500	Graphical	18	22–52		0.84			
	65	16587000	Graphical	18	0.79-2.8		0.86			
	70	16587000	Graphical	18	0.66-2.5		0.84			
	75	16508000	Graphical	18	2.5-6.9		0.82			
	80	16508000	Graphical	18	2.2-6.5		0.81			
	85	16508000	Graphical	18	1.9–6.1		0.81			
	90									
	95									
16510000	50	16508000	MOVE.1	19	4.1–9.9	$Y_i = 0.66 + 1.11 (X_i - 0.82)$	0.96	0.92	0.036	0.74
	55	16508000	MOVE.1	19	3.8-8.7	$Y_i = 0.59 + 1.19 (X_i - 0.77)$	0.95	0.91	0.040	0.70
	60	16508000	MOVE.1	19	3.5-7.9	$Y_i = 0.54 + 1.21 \ (X_i - 0.72)$	0.95	0.90	0.042	0.67
	65	16508000	MOVE.1	19	3.3-7.0	$Y_i = 0.49 + 1.26 (X_i - 0.68)$	0.94	0.88	0.047	0.63
	70	16508000	MOVE.1	19	3.0-6.3	$Y_i = 0.44 + 1.30 \left(X_i - 0.65 \right)$	0.92	0.85	0.053	0.66
	75	16508000	MOVE.1	19	2.6-5.6	$Y_i = 0.38 + 1.31 (X_i - 0.61)$	0.90	0.81	0.061	0.61
	80	16508000	MOVE.1	19	2.5-5.1	$Y_i = 0.32 + 1.39 \left(X_i - 0.57 \right)$	0.87	0.76	0.068	0.54
	85	16508000	MOVE.1	19	2.3–4.6	$Y_i = 0.26 + 1.37 \left(X_i - 0.53 \right)$	0.89	0.78	0.062	0.59
	90	16587000	MOVE.1	19	0.46–1.4	$Y_i = 0.20 + 0.87 \left(X_i + 0.12 \right)$	0.86	0.73	0.076	0.45
	95	16587000	MOVE.1	19	0.31-1.2	$Y_i = 0.11 + 0.91 \left(X_i + 0.19 \right)$	0.93	0.86	0.054	0.62
16513000	50–95	16587000	Graphical	350	0.46-2.7		0.75			
16515000	50	16508000	MOVE.1	19	4.1–9.9	$Y_i = 0.73 + 0.60 (X_i - 0.82)$	0.96	0.91	0.021	0.75
	55	16508000	MOVE.1	19	3.8-8.7	$Y_i = 0.70 + 0.60 (X_i - 0.77)$	0.97	0.94	0.017	0.79
	60	16508000	MOVE.1	19	3.5-7.9	$Y_i = 0.67 + 0.56 (X_i - 0.72)$	0.97	0.95	0.014	0.80
	65	16508000	MOVE.1	19	3.3–7.0	$Y_i = 0.65 + 0.54 (X_i - 0.68)$	0.96	0.93	0.015	0.76
	70	16508000	MOVE.1	19	3.0-6.3	$Y_i = 0.62 + 0.55 (X_i - 0.65)$	0.96	0.93	0.016	0.73

	75	16508000	MOVE.1	19	2.6-5.6	$Y_i = 0.60 + 0.58 (X_i - 0.61)$	0.96	0.91	0.017	0.71
	80	16508000	MOVE.1	19	2.5-5.1	$Y_i = 0.58 + 0.63 (X_i - 0.57)$	0.93	0.87	0.022	0.65
	85	16508000	MOVE.1	19	2.3-4.6	$Y_i = 0.55 + 0.69 (X_i - 0.53)$	0.94	0.88	0.023	0.66
	90	16508000	MOVE.1	19	2.2-4.2	$Y_i = 0.52 + 0.72 (X_i - 0.49)$	0.93	0.87	0.025	0.65
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	19	2.0-3.7	$Y_i = 0.49 + 0.86 (X_i - 0.45)$	0.92	0.84	0.030	0.58
16516000	50	16518000	MOVE.1	14	5.8-13	$Y_i = 0.85 + 0.95 (X_i - 0.99)$	0.92	0.85	0.039	0.61
	55	16508000	MOVE.1	14	4.2-8.7	$Y_i = 0.79 + 1.01 (X_i - 0.78)$	0.92	0.84	0.042	0.56
	60	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.8-7.9	$Y_i = 0.74 + 0.89 (X_i - 0.73)$	0.88	0.78	0.043	0.52
	65	16518000	Graphical	14	4.1–9.6		0.86			
	70	16518000	Graphical	14	3.8-8.7		0.84			
	75	16518000	Graphical	14	3.4-8.0		0.85			
	80	16518000	Graphical	14	3.0-7.1		0.85			
	85	16508000	Graphical	14	2.3-4.6		0.82			
	90	16518000	Graphical	14	2.2-6.0		0.79			
	95	16587000	Graphical	14	0.31-1.2		0.83			
16517000	50	16518000	MOVE.1	14	5.8-13	$Y_i = 0.92 + 1.04 (X_i - 0.99)$	0.95	0.91	0.034	0.69
	55	16518000	MOVE.1	14	5.0-12	$Y_i = 0.87 + 0.98 \ (X_i - 0.93)$	0.96	0.92	0.030	0.73
	60	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.8-7.9	$Y_i = 0.82 + 1.01 (X_i - 0.73)$	0.96	0.92	0.029	0.73
	65	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.4-7.0	$Y_i = 0.78 + 1.03 \ (X_i - 0.69)$	0.97	0.95	0.024	0.78
	70	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.2-6.3	$Y_i = 0.73 + 1.07 (X_i - 0.65)$	0.98	0.96	0.022	0.79
	75	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.6-5.6	$Y_i = 0.69 + 1.06 (X_i - 0.61)$	0.97	0.95	0.026	0.77
	80	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.5-5.1	$Y_i = 0.64 + 1.15 (X_i - 0.58)$	0.95	0.90	0.035	0.69
	85	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.3-4.6	$Y_i = 0.60 + 1.16 (X_i - 0.54)$	0.98	0.95	0.025	0.78
	90	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.2-4.2	$Y_i = 0.54 + 1.24 (X_i - 0.50)$	0.95	0.89	0.038	0.67
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.0-3.7	$Y_i = 0.47 + 1.36 (X_i - 0.45)$	0.91	0.83	0.048	0.53
16519000	50	16518000	MOVE.1	14	5.8-13	$Y_i = 0.62 + 1.02 (X_i - 0.99)$	0.96	0.92	0.030	0.74
	55	16518000	MOVE.1	14	5.0-12	$Y_i = 0.56 + 0.95 (X_i - 0.93)$	0.92	0.84	0.042	0.62
	60	16518000	MOVE.1	14	4.6-10	$Y_i = 0.50 + 1.05 (X_i - 0.87)$	0.93	0.87	0.040	0.63
	65	16518000	MOVE.1	14	4.1–9.6	$Y_i = 0.45 + 1.00 (X_i - 0.83)$	0.93	0.86	0.042	0.59
	70	16518000	MOVE.1	14	3.8-8.7	$Y_i = 0.41 + 1.03 \ (X_i - 0.78)$	0.96	0.92	0.031	0.69
	75	16518000	MOVE.1	14	3.4-8.0	$Y_i = 0.36 + 0.97 (X_i - 0.74)$	0.96	0.92	0.031	0.68
	80	16518000	MOVE.1	14	3.0-7.1	$Y_i = 0.30 + 1.01 \ (X_i - 0.68)$	0.96	0.93	0.030	0.68
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	14	2.6-6.5	$Y_i = 0.25 + 1.12 (X_i - 0.63)$	0.96	0.91	0.039	0.70
	90	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.2-4.2	$Y_i = 0.18 + 1.60 (X_i - 0.50)$	0.92	0.84	0.061	0.59
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.0-3.7	$Y_i = 0.08 + 2.03 \ (X_i - 0.45)$	0.92	0.85	0.066	0.64
16520000	50	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.3–3.4	$Y_i = 0.51 + 0.64 (X_i - 0.33)$	0.94	0.89	0.032	0.71
	55	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.2–3.0	$Y_i = 0.45 + 0.61 (X_i - 0.29)$	0.94	0.88	0.031	0.65
	60	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.2–2.7	$Y_i = 0.41 + 0.67 (X_i - 0.24)$	0.94	0.88	0.033	0.68
	65	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.4-7.0	$Y_i = 0.35 + 0.89 (X_i - 0.69)$	0.93	0.87	0.032	0.62

	70	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.2-6.3	$Y_i = 0.30 + 0.97 (X_i - 0.65)$	0.94	0.89	0.032	0.66
	75	16518000	MOVE.1	14	3.4-8.0	$Y_i = 0.26 + 0.91 (X_i - 0.74)$	0.93	0.87	0.036	0.66
	80	16518000	MOVE.1	14	3.0-7.1	$Y_i = 0.26 + 0.91 (X_i - 0.74)$	0.93	0.87	0.036	0.66
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	14	2.6-6.5	$Y_i = 0.14 + 1.08 (X_i - 0.63)$	0.95	0.91	0.039	0.73
	90	16518000	MOVE.1	14	2.2-6.0	$Y_i = 0.08 + 1.01 (X_i - 0.56)$	0.92	0.85	0.052	0.64
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.0-3.7	$Y_i = -0.02 + 1.65 (X_i - 0.45)$	0.90	0.82	0.059	0.56
16524000	50–95	16518000	MOVE.1	152	1.6-12	$Y_i = -0.20 + 1.40 (X_i - 0.65)$	0.86	0.74	0.151	0.49
16527000	50	16518000	MOVE.1	20	5.8-13	$Y_i = 0.72 + 1.08 (X_i - 0.97)$	0.92	0.85	0.047	0.64
	55	16518000	MOVE.1	20	5.0-12	$Y_i = 0.66 + 1.09 (X_i - 0.92)$	0.93	0.86	0.045	0.67
	60	16518000	MOVE.1	20	4.6-10	$Y_i = 0.61 + 1.18 (X_i - 0.86)$	0.91	0.84	0.051	0.59
	65	16518000	MOVE.1	20	4.1–9.6	$Y_i = 0.55 + 1.14 (X_i - 0.82)$	0.93	0.87	0.045	0.66
	70	16518000	MOVE.1	20	3.8-8.7	$Y_i = 0.50 + 1.23 (X_i - 0.78)$	0.94	0.89	0.043	0.66
	75	16518000	MOVE.1	20	3.4-8.0	$Y_i = 0.43 + 1.14 (X_i - 0.74)$	0.94	0.88	0.043	0.66
	80	16518000	MOVE.1	20	3.0-7.1	$Y_i = 0.37 + 1.28 (X_i - 0.68)$	0.95	0.90	0.045	0.70
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	20	2.6-6.5	$Y_i = 0.30 + 1.47 (X_i - 0.63)$	0.93	0.86	0.065	0.60
	90	16518000	MOVE.1	20	2.2-6.0	$Y_i = 0.20 + 1.49 (X_i - 0.56)$	0.92	0.85	0.072	0.65
	95	16518000	MOVE.1	20	1.6-5.1	$Y_i = 0.08 + 1.58 (X_i - 0.48)$	0.89	0.79	0.104	0.53
16531100	50	16518000	MOVE.1	21	6.5-13	$Y_i = -0.31 + 1.09 (X_i - 0.99)$	0.83	0.69	0.060	0.40
	55									
	60									
	65									
	70									
	75	16518000	MOVE.1	21	4.0-8.0	$Y_i = -0.72 + 1.85 (X_i - 0.77)$	0.81	0.65	0.101	0.36
	80									
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	21	3.1-6.5	$Y_i = -0.96 + 2.11 (X_i - 0.66)$	0.86	0.74	0.107	0.47
	90									
	95									
16542000	50-95	16508000	Graphical	21	1.9–7.7		0.78			
16552600	50-95	All ²	Graphical							
16552800	50	16518000	MOVE.1	19	5.0-13	$Y_i = -0.94 + 1.67 (X_i - 0.95)$	0.90	0.81	0.092	0.52
	55	16518000	MOVE.1	19	4.6-11	$Y_i = -1.03 + 1.59 (X_i - 0.89)$	0.91	0.83	0.077	0.60
	60	16518000	MOVE.1	19	4.2–9.8	$Y_i = -1.12 + 1.64 (X_i - 0.84)$	0.90	0.80	0.087	0.51
	65	16518000	MOVE.1	19	3.7-8.8	$Y_i = -1.18 + 1.42 (X_i - 0.81)$	0.87	0.76	0.084	0.49
	70	16518000	Graphical	19	3.4-8.0		0.85			
	75	16518000	MOVE.1	19	3.0-7.6	$Y_i = -1.31 + 1.50 (X_i - 0.72)$	0.90	0.80	0.077	0.50
	80	16518000	MOVE.1	19	2.6-6.8	$Y_i = -1.39 + 1.53 (X_i - 0.67)$	0.87	0.76	0.089	0.53
	85	16518000	Graphical	19	2.2-6.0		0.81			
	90	16518000	MOVE.1	19	1.9–5.3	$Y_i = -1.55 + 1.93 (X_i - 0.54)$	0.83	0.69	0.134	0.44
	95									

16557000	50	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.3-3.4	$Y_i = 0.42 + 0.77 (X_i - 0.33)$	0.93	0.86	0.043	0.67
	55	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.2-3.0	$Y_i = 0.35 + 0.82 (X_i - 0.29)$	0.94	0.88	0.041	0.67
	60	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.8-7.9	$Y_i = 0.29 + 1.30 (X_i - 0.73)$	0.92	0.84	0.053	0.63
	65	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.4-7.0	$Y_i = 0.24 + 1.22 (X_i - 0.69)$	0.93	0.86	0.046	0.64
	70	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.2-6.3	$Y_i = 0.19 + 1.25 (X_i - 0.65)$	0.91	0.83	0.051	0.62
	75	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.6-5.6	$Y_i = 0.14 + 1.16 (X_i - 0.61)$	0.92	0.85	0.048	0.65
	80	16518000	MOVE.1	14	3.0-7.1	$Y_i = 0.08 + 1.11 (X_i - 0.68)$	0.90	0.81	0.056	0.54
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	14	2.6-6.5	$Y_i = 0.02 + 1.10 (X_i - 0.63)$	0.88	0.78	0.063	0.58
	90	16518000	MOVE.1	14	2.2-6.0	$Y_i = -0.04 + 1.03 (X_i - 0.56)$	0.84	0.71	0.073	0.53
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.0-3.7	$Y_i = -0.11 + 1.54 (X_i - 0.45)$	0.88	0.77	0.063	0.55
16565000	50	16587000	MOVE.1	18	1.3-3.4	$Y_i = 0.41 + 0.75 (X_i - 0.34)$	0.95	0.91	0.034	0.72
	55	16587000	MOVE.1	18	1.2-3.0	$Y_i = 0.35 + 0.73 (X_i - 0.30)$	0.95	0.90	0.034	0.72
	60	16587000	MOVE.1	18	1.1-2.7	$Y_i = 0.30 + 0.75 (X_i - 0.25)$	0.93	0.87	0.040	0.69
	65	16587000	MOVE.1	18	0.93-2.4	$Y_i = 0.25 + 0.71 (X_i - 0.19)$	0.94	0.88	0.039	0.65
	70	16518000	MOVE.1	18	3.8-8.7	$Y_i = 0.20 + 1.16 (X_i - 0.79)$	0.93	0.87	0.044	0.64
	75	16518000	MOVE.1	18	3.4-8.0	$Y_i = 0.16 + 1.08 (X_i - 0.75)$	0.93	0.86	0.043	0.61
	80	16518000	MOVE.1	18	3.0-7.1	$Y_i = 0.09 + 1.11 (X_i - 0.70)$	0.94	0.89	0.040	0.67
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	18	2.6-6.5	$Y_i = 0.04 + 1.11 (X_i - 0.64)$	0.90	0.81	0.056	0.54
	90	16518000	MOVE.1	18	2.2-6.0	$Y_i = -0.03 + 1.02 (X_i - 0.58)$	0.88	0.78	0.060	0.53
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	18	2.0-3.7	$Y_i = -0.10 + 1.56 (X_i - 0.45)$	0.84	0.71	0.072	0.46
16566000	50	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.3–3.4	$Y_i = 0.00 + 0.82 (X_i - 0.33)$	0.92	0.84	0.049	0.63
	55	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.2-3.0	$Y_i = -0.07 + 0.92 (X_i - 0.29)$	0.94	0.89	0.044	0.70
	60	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.2–2.7	$Y_i = -0.12 + 0.98 (X_i - 0.24)$	0.93	0.86	0.053	0.62
	65	16508000	MOVE.1	14	3.4-7.0	$Y_i = -0.18 + 1.45 (X_i - 0.69)$	0.91	0.83	0.060	0.64
	70	16587000	MOVE.1	14	0.87 - 2.0	$Y_i = -0.24 + 1.01 (X_i - 0.13)$	0.93	0.87	0.055	0.67
	75	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.6-5.6	$Y_i = -0.30 + 1.26 (X_i - 0.61)$	0.93	0.87	0.049	0.66
	80	16587000	MOVE.1	14	0.70 - 1.7	$Y_i = -0.36 + 0.81 (X_i - 0.03)$	0.93	0.87	0.044	0.60
	85	16587000	Graphical	14	0.62-1.5		0.84			
	90	16508000	Graphical	14	2.2–4.2		0.85			
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.0-3.7	$Y_i = -0.56 + 1.76 (X_i - 0.45)$	0.89	0.79	0.069	0.60
16569700	50–95	16508000	MOVE.1	11	2.0-6.5	$Y_i = -0.69 + 2.50 (X_i - 0.57)$	0.88	0.77	0.250	0.54
16570000	50	16587000	MOVE.1	31	1.2-4.6	$Y_i = 1.17 + 0.68 (X_i - 0.32)$	0.94	0.89	0.035	0.68
	55	16587000	MOVE.1	31	1.1-4.2	$Y_i = 1.12 + 0.66 (X_i - 0.27)$	0.95	0.91	0.031	0.70
	60	16587000	MOVE.1	31	0.91-3.6	$Y_i = 1.08 + 0.67 (X_i - 0.22)$	0.94	0.89	0.036	0.68
	65	16587000	MOVE.1	31	0.72-3.2	$Y_i = 1.03 + 0.65 (X_i - 0.17)$	0.93	0.87	0.039	0.67
	70	16518000	MOVE.1	31	3.3-8.7	$Y_i = 0.98 + 0.95 (X_i - 0.77)$	0.92	0.85	0.041	0.65
	75	16587000	MOVE.1	31	0.55-2.2	$Y_i = 0.94 + 0.65 (X_i - 0.06)$	0.93	0.86	0.042	0.63
	80	16587000	MOVE.1	31	0.47 - 1.8	$Y_i = 0.89 + 0.65 (X_i + 0.01)$	0.92	0.85	0.042	0.63
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	31	2.1-6.5	$Y_i = 0.83 + 0.94 (X_i - 0.61)$	0.90	0.81	0.050	0.59

	90	16518000	MOVE.1	31	1.7-6.0	$Y_i = 0.75 + 0.96 (X_i - 0.54)$	0.90	0.81	0.054	0.60
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	31	1.8-3.8	$Y_i = 0.67 + 1.39 (X_i - 0.42)$	0.87	0.76	0.066	0.50
16576200	50-95	16508000	MOVE.1	18	2.0-7.6	$Y_i = -0.40 + 1.36 (X_i - 0.62)$	0.93	0.87	0.095	0.69
16577000	50	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.3–3.4	$Y_i = 0.92 + 0.87 (X_i - 0.33)$	0.96	0.92	0.036	0.72
	55	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.2-3.0	$Y_i = 0.86 + 0.93 (X_i - 0.29)$	0.97	0.93	0.035	0.77
	60	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.2-2.7	$Y_i = 0.81 + 0.92 (X_i - 0.24)$	0.95	0.90	0.041	0.74
	65	16518000	MOVE.1	14	4.1-9.6	$Y_i = 0.75 + 1.16 (X_i - 0.83)$	0.96	0.92	0.037	0.73
	70	16518000	MOVE.1	14	3.8-8.7	$Y_i = 0.71 + 1.20 (X_i - 0.78)$	0.95	0.91	0.038	0.69
	75	16587000	MOVE.1	14	0.77-1.8	$Y_i = 0.65 + 0.83 (X_i - 0.08)$	0.96	0.93	0.034	0.74
	80	16587000	MOVE.1	14	0.70-1.7	$Y_i = 0.59 + 0.91 (X_i - 0.03)$	0.95	0.90	0.044	0.73
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	14	2.6-6.5	$Y_i = 0.52 + 1.19 (X_i - 0.63)$	0.94	0.89	0.046	0.68
	90	16518000	MOVE.1	14	2.2-6.0	$Y_i = 0.44 + 1.27 (X_i - 0.56)$	0.93	0.86	0.061	0.66
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.0-3.7	$Y_i = 0.35 + 1.95 (X_i - 0.45)$	0.93	0.86	0.061	0.64
16585000	50	16587000	MOVE.1	28	1.2-4.6	$Y_i = 0.68 + 0.95 (X_i - 0.34)$	0.97	0.94	0.036	0.73
	55	16587000	MOVE.1	28	1.1-4.2	$Y_i = 0.63 + 0.99 (X_i - 0.29)$	0.97	0.93	0.038	0.75
	60	16587000	MOVE.1	28	0.93-3.6	$Y_i = 0.58 + 0.97 (X_i - 0.24)$	0.98	0.96	0.031	0.81
	65	16587000	MOVE.1	28	0.84-3.2	$Y_i = 0.53 + 0.97 (X_i - 0.19)$	0.97	0.94	0.035	0.77
	70	16587000	MOVE.1	28	0.74-2.7	$Y_i = 0.48 + 0.94 (X_i - 0.14)$	0.97	0.94	0.037	0.77
	75	16587000	MOVE.1	28	0.65-2.2	$Y_i = 0.42 + 0.96 (X_i - 0.08)$	0.97	0.94	0.038	0.76
	80	16587000	MOVE.1	28	0.56-1.8	$Y_i = 0.37 + 0.96 (X_i - 0.02)$	0.97	0.94	0.038	0.75
	85	16587000	MOVE.1	28	0.46-1.6	$Y_i = 0.29 + 0.97 \left(X_i + 0.06 \right)$	0.97	0.93	0.038	0.77
	90	16587000	MOVE.1	28	0.23-1.4	$Y_i = 0.21 + 0.92 \left(X_i + 0.15 \right)$	0.96	0.92	0.049	0.75
	95	16587000	MOVE.1	28	0.23-1.2	$Y_i = 0.11 + 1.00 (X_i + 0.23)$	0.93	0.86	0.068	0.68
16586000	50	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.3–3.4	$Y_i = 0.58 + 0.58 (X_i - 0.33)$	0.96	0.92	0.024	0.76
	55	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.2-3.0	$Y_i = 0.55 + 0.59 (X_i - 0.29)$	0.97	0.95	0.020	0.80
	60	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.2–2.7	$Y_i = 0.51 + 0.56 (X_i - 0.24)$	0.96	0.93	0.021	0.74
	65	16587000	MOVE.1	14	1.0–2.3	$Y_i = 0.48 + 0.54 (X_i - 0.18)$	0.96	0.93	0.021	0.73
	70	16587000	MOVE.1	14	0.87 - 2.0	$Y_i = 0.45 + 0.57 (X_i - 0.13)$	0.95	0.89	0.027	0.69
	75	16587000	MOVE.1	14	0.77 - 1.8	$Y_i = 0.43 + 0.55 (X_i - 0.08)$	0.95	0.91	0.026	0.70
	80	16587000	MOVE.1	14	0.70 - 1.7	$Y_i = 0.39 + 0.55 (X_i - 0.03)$	0.95	0.90	0.027	0.71
	85	16518000	MOVE.1	14	2.6-6.5	$Y_i = 0.36 + 0.73 (X_i - 0.63)$	0.94	0.88	0.030	0.66
	90	16518000	MOVE.1	14	2.2-6.0	$Y_i = 0.31 + 0.68 (X_i - 0.56)$	0.93	0.87	0.032	0.63
	95	16508000	MOVE.1	14	2.0-3.7	$Y_i = 0.25 + 1.13 (X_i - 0.45)$	0.95	0.90	0.030	0.67
16596200	50–95	16518000	MOVE.1	311	1.7–12	$Y_i = -0.57 + 1.72 (X_i - 0.65)$	0.89	0.79	0.160	0.58
16647000	50–95	16604500	MOVE.1	15	13–95	$Y_i = 0.65 + 0.64 (X_i - 1.48)$	0.94	0.88	0.066	0.67
16660000	50–95	All^2	Graphical							
205000156355801	50–95	16604500	MOVE.1	9	12–53	$Y_i = 0.66 + 0.85 (X_i - 1.41)$	0.96	0.91	0.049	0.69
205117156365201	50–95	16647000	MOVE.1	10	3.8–10	$Y_i = -0.29 + 0.65 (X_i - 0.74)$	0.90	0.81	0.060	0.55
205239156372101	50-95	16620000	MOVE.1	11	11–24	$Y_i = 0.84 + 1.07 (X_i - 1.19)$	0.85	0.72	0.069	0.38

205334156382201	50-95	16400000	MOVE.1	8	3.4–15	$Y_i = 0.65 + 0.17 (X_i - 0.81)$	0.90	0.81	0.020	0.52
205404156372401	50-95	16620000	Graphical	10	11–27		0.80			
205426156313601	50-95	16620000	Graphical	9	9.3–24		0.75			
205455156394301	50-95	All^2	Graphical							
205511156393401	50–95	All ²	Graphical							
205545156371601 + 205554156370701	50–95	16620000	MOVE.1	10	12–23	$Y_i = 0.64 + 0.73 (X_i - 1.20)$	0.88	0.77	0.035	0.42
205740156385601	50–95	All ²	Graphical							
205844156380501	50–95	All ²	Graphical							
205856156370801	50–95	16620000	Graphical	11	13–25		0.84			
205921156370101	50–95	All ²	Graphical							
205938156382201	50–95	All ²	Graphical							
				Ha	awaiʻi					
16700000	50	16717000	Graphical	28	15-86		0.85			
	55	16717000	Graphical	28	13–75		0.86			
	60	16717000	Graphical	28	11–68		0.84			
	65	16717000	Graphical	28	9.3–60		0.84			
	70	16717000	Graphical	28	7.8–50		0.85			
	75	16717000	Graphical	28	6.5–46		0.84			
	80	16717000	Graphical	28	6.0–39		0.82			
	85	16717000	Graphical	28	5.6-34		0.79			
	90									
	95									
16701700	50-95	All^2	Graphical							
16704000	50	16717000	MOVE.1	24	15-86	$Y_i = 1.89 + 1.49 (X_i - 1.61)$	0.91	0.82	0.110	0.54
	55	16717000	MOVE.1	24	13-75	$Y_i = 1.80 + 1.47 (X_i - 1.55)$	0.92	0.85	0.103	0.59
	60	16717000	MOVE.1	24	11-68	$Y_i = 1.71 + 1.48 (X_i - 1.49)$	0.93	0.87	0.098	0.63
	65	16717000	MOVE.1	24	9.3-60	$Y_i = 1.61 + 1.52 (X_i - 1.43)$	0.93	0.86	0.107	0.60
	70	16717000	MOVE.1	24	7.8–50	$Y_i = 1.51 + 1.62 (X_i - 1.37)$	0.93	0.86	0.115	0.62
	75	16717000	MOVE.1	24	6.5–46	$Y_i = 1.40 + 1.66 (X_i - 1.30)$	0.93	0.86	0.120	0.62
	80	16717000	MOVE.1	24	6.0–39	$Y_i = 1.27 + 1.88 (X_i - 1.23)$	0.90	0.81	0.157	0.57
	85	16717000	Graphical	24	5.6-34		0.82			
	90	16717000	Graphical	24	4.7–25		0.81			
	95									
16717800	50	16717000	MOVE.1	⁵ 11	30-47	$Y_i = 0.87 + 1.63 (X_i - 1.57)$	0.91	0.83	0.044	0.53
	55	16717000	MOVE.1	⁵ 11	27-41	$Y_i = 0.81 + 1.78 (X_i - 1.51)$	0.91	0.83	0.048	0.55
	60	16717000	MOVE.1	⁵ 11	25-36	$Y_i = 0.75 + 2.14 (X_i - 1.47)$	0.92	0.85	0.050	0.56
	65	16717000	MOVE.1	⁵ 11	22-32	$Y_i = 0.69 + 2.16 (X_i - 1.41)$	0.90	0.82	0.056	0.54
	70	16717000	MOVE.1	⁵ 11	19–30	$Y_i = 0.64 + 2.21 (X_i - 1.36)$	0.88	0.77	0.068	0.47

	75									
	80									
	85									
	90									
	95									
16720300	50	16720000	Graphical	⁶ 29	1.3–11		0.86			
	55	16720000	Graphical	⁶ 29	1.1-8.9		0.85			
	60	16720000	Graphical	⁶ 29	0.91-6.9		0.89			
	65	16720000	Graphical	⁶ 29	0.67-5.2		0.83			
	70	16720000	Graphical	⁶ 29	0.50-4.5		0.79			
	75	16720000	Graphical	⁶ 29	0.34-3.7		0.76			
	80									
	85									
	90									
	95									
16725000	50	16720000	Graphical	16	1.8-9.1		0.88			
	55	16720000	Graphical	16	1.5-6.8		0.84			
	60	16720000	Graphical	16	1.2-4.9		0.82			
	65	16720000	Graphical	16	1.0-3.8		0.79			
	70									
	75									
	80									
	85									
	90									
	95									
16737500	50–95	16720000	Graphical	11	0.13-4.5		0.89			
16759600	50-95	All^2	Graphical							
16765000	50-95	All^2	Graphical							
16767000	50-95	All^2	Graphical							
16770500	50–95	All ²	Graphical							
200505155383801	50-95	16717000	MOVE.1	9	7.6–49	$Y_i = 1.36 + 0.61 (X_i - 1.32)$	0.95	0.90	0.059	0.65

¹Coefficients of the MOVE.1 equations presented in the appendix are rounded for simplicity. Flow-duration discharges estimated with MOVE.1 equations, presented in tables 3-7 of the report, are computed using coefficients that have not been rounded. Therefore, discrepancy between the discharge computed directly with the equation presented in this appendix and the discharge presented in tables 3-7 of the report is due to rounding of the coefficients of the MOVE.1 equation and rounding of the estimated discharge.

²Measurement site on ephemeral stream reach that uses all index stations on the same island for low-flow analysis. Index stations by island are listed below: Kaua'i: stations 16010000, 16019000, 16068000, 16071500, 16097500, 16108000;

O'ahu: stations 16200000, 16208000, 16211600, 16226200, 16229000, 16240500, 16275000, 16301050, 16304200, 16330000, 16345000;

Moloka'i and Maui: 16400000, 16508000, 16518000, 16587000, 16604500, 16614000, 16618000, 16620000; and

Hawai'i: 16717000, 16720000.

³Number of concurrent measurements used to estimate flow-duration discharges excludes 1 outlier: annual flow-duration statistic for water year 1994.

⁴Number of concurrent measurements used to estimate flow-duration discharges excludes 1 outlier: annual flow-duration statistic for water year 1948.

⁵Number of concurrent measurements used to estimate flow-duration discharges excludes 1 outlier: annual flow-duration statistic for water year 1972.

⁶Number of concurrent measurements used to estimate flow-duration discharges excludes 2 outliers: annual flow-duration statistic for water years 1990 and 1991.